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SDL enables global businesses to enrich 
their customers’ experience through the 

entire customer journey. SDL’s technology 
and services help brands to predict what 

their customers want and engage with 
them across multiple languages, cultures, 

channels and devices. 
 

SDL has over 1,500 enterprise customers, 
400 partners and a global infrastructure of 
70 offices in 38 countries. 42 out of the top 

50 brands work with SDL.
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OUR VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

OUR VISION
SDL believes everyone 
should be able to engage 
with the information they 
require in the way that 
they want.

OUR MISSION
We enable global 
businesses to engage 
with their customers in the 
language, the media and at 
the moment they choose.
We help businesses 
manage their brands and 
drive global revenues, 
providing enterprise-ready 
innovative solutions for 
managing the end-to-end 
customer experience.
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TIMELINE OF INNOVATION

2012 Acquired Alterian plc. Launched Customer 
Experience Management division

Acquired Calamares
Launched Intelligent Machine Translation 2011

2010 Acquired Language Weaver and Xopus
Launched SDL BeGlobal

Acquired XyEnterprise and Fredhopper 
Launched SDL Trados Studio 2009

2008 Acquired Idiom 
Launched SDL Automated Translation Solutions

Acquired Tridion, Pass Engineering and Trisoft 2007

2006 Launched Global Authoring technology

Acquired Trados 2005

2004 Launched SDL Knowledge-based 
Translation System

£64m annual turnover, 1200 staff 
and offices in 25 countries 2003

2002 Acquired Machine Translation technology

Acquired Alpnet and ITP 
Opened offshore facilities in China and Thailand 2001

2000 Launched cloud-based translation 
management system

Company floats on London Stock Exchange, 
company grows to 280 staff 1999

1998 £10m annual turnover

Expanded into Asia, 
Europe and the US 1997

1996 First VC funding 

First acquisition – translation memory technology 1995

1994 £2m annual turnover, company grows to 50 staff

Company grows to 12 staff 1993

1992 Company founded in Maidenhead, UK, 
by Mark Lancaster
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue
Profit Before Tax 
and Amortisation

Operating Margins 
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Cash Flow
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January March May

February April
SDL launched Real-Time Chat 
Translation for LivePerson, 
enabling businesses to have 
real-time conversations with 
users in their native language.

SDL SM2 cited as a “strong 
performer” in the 2012 Forrester 
Wave, Enterprise Listening Platforms.

SDL launched a new user 
interface for the SDL Tridion 
product which enables 
full control over the digital 
ecosystem, spanning content 
creation, targeting, multi-
channel, translation, social media 
interaction and site analytics.

SDL completed the acquisition 
of Alterian, adding marketing 
analytics, social media 
monitoring and campaign 
management solutions.

SDL Social Intelligence won 2012 
Great Minds for Innovation Award, 
given by the Advertising Research 
Foundation, for their ground 
breaking work to create predictive 
measures using social data.

TAUS awarded SDL an 
Excellence Award for an 
outstanding use case on 
the deployment of machine 
translation on Cisco technical 
documentation.

June
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Revenue
Profit Before Tax 
and Amortisation

Fully Adjusted Diluted 
Earnings Per Share

Operating  
Cash Flow

£269.3m
+17.6%

£35.5m
-10%

33.77p
-9%

£17.5m
-46%

July September November

August October December
SDL SM2 placed 2nd out 
of 100 vendors in the 2012 
Hypatia Galaxy Report on Social 
Analytics & Intelligence.
SDL named in KM World’s Hall of 
Distinction for both Innovation & 
Thought Leadership.

SDL launches SDL LiveContent, 
a new family of software 
products which streamlines 
product content creation and 
delivery.
SDL Studio GroupShare™ wins 
at the 2012 American Business 
Awards.

SDL honoured with a 2012 
Commendation of Merit 
by the Society for New 
Communications Research.

SDL launched Fredhopper 
7.2 which helps electronic 
retailers increase sales and 
customer satisfaction through 
delivering the most relevant 
and compelling content to 
every visitor.

SDL named a “Leader” in 
Magic Quadrant for Web 
Content Management for fifth 
consecutive year.
SDL Studio GroupShare™ wins 
People’s Choice Stevie Award for 
Favourite New Product.

SDL BeGlobal wins a Travolution 
award in the Best Technological 
Innovation category.
SDL BeGlobal wins in the Golden 
Bridge Cloud Computing/SaaS 
Innovations Awards.
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Dear Shareholder,
Summary performance 
SDL reports another year of solid organic revenue growth for 
the Group, and good progress on the integration of the Alterian 
acquisition. As a result of under investment in sales, marketing 
and infrastructure in 2011 and 2012 SDL’s performance in 
the technology segment was disappointing (as announced 
in November 2012). Nevertheless revenue for the year was 
£269.3 million (2011: £229.0 million). Profit before taxation and 
amortisation of intangible assets (“PBTA”) was £35.5 million 
(2011: £39.7 million). Gross cash in the business at the year 
end was £28.5 million whilst net cash amounted to £6.3 million 
(2011: £70.4 million), following the £70 million acquisition of 
Alterian in January 2012.

Headline revenue growth of 17.6% can be attributed to 
underlying organic growth of 6.7%, 12.4% growth from 
acquisitions and a 1.5% decrease arising from foreign 
exchange effects. Geographically, growth in Asia was 46%, 
North America was 12%, with Europe (including the UK) 
increasing by 17%. The cash generated from operations for 
the Group was £25.8 million, including one-off outflows and 
working capital movements of £5.7 million relating to the 
acquisition of Alterian that was completed in the first half of 
2012. Operating cash flows returned to SDL’s normal, strong 
levels with PBTA conversion of 125% in the second half, or 
£18.8 million in absolute terms (excluding capital expenditure).

Segmentally, we were pleased with our Language Services 
organic revenue growth of 12.4% due primarily to operational, 
sales and marketing execution. Services PBTA contribution 
was £23.2 million, down from last year due to investment 
in growth and some large US contracts with lower margins. 
Excluding acquisitions, we were disappointed with our 
technology revenues that declined 1.6% organically and 
contributed £10.7 million to Group PBTA in the year. This was 
primarily due to inadequate investment and execution into 
sales and marketing in 2011 and 2012 coupled with difficult 
economic conditions, nevertheless technology bookings and 
revenue increased significantly in the last quarter. 
 
Alterian Acquisition
The Alterian acquisition has outperformed initial expectations 
with a revenue and PBTA of £28.4 million and £2.3 million 
respectively. This outperformance is attributable to a 
combination of high levels of customer renewals, integration 
savings, and strong new business sales of our marketing 
analytics suite. Investment into research and development was 
significantly increased in 2012 and will continue through 2013. 
A swift operational integration of Alterian delivered stability 
to Alterian’s clients, partners and staff. Whilst Alterian’s Web 
Content business integrated into SDL’s Content Management 
Technologies segment, Alterian’s Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social Intelligence businesses have been 
combined in a new reporting segment. We are very pleased 
with the cultural fit of Alterian staff, who have integrated well 
into the combined organisation.

CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S STATEMENT

Mark Lancaster
Executive Chairman
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Market Opportunity
We offer our customers a compelling solution to meet the 
present and future challenges of customer engagement. This is 
known by our industry as Customer Experience Management 
or Digital Experience Marketing. Essentially SDL believes that 
for companies to succeed and prosper in this digital world they 
need to have an integrated technology stack that allows them 
to engage with their customers. It has been, for the past ten 
years, our vision to provide integrated technology solutions 
and services to meet this challenge. We have methodically 
invested both organically and by acquisition to create an 
integrated technology stack to deliver the fundamentals a 
business needs to enhance revenue growth and manage 
customer engagement. The key components required to 
engage effectively with customers are:
• Analytics and Social Intelligence – to listen to what 

customers are saying and doing.
• Web Content Management – to create and manage content 

that customers consume.
• Structured Content Management – to deliver information 

online about products they use. 

All this content needs to be available on multiple devices – 
mobile phones, laptops, tablets and personal computers in the 
right format for that device. It needs to be the right format and 
in the right media and customers need to be targeted with the 
right information. Hence we have also invested in Targeting 
technology, Media Management and Mobile technology.  Most 
importantly a company’s sales universe is the world. The 
world communicates in multiple languages, SDL’s heritage 
is language, we are the only company that can truly deliver 
Global Customer Experience Management solutions.

We are delighted to have expanded our business, entering 
strategic new relationships with global enterprises including 
Nordea Bank, Migros, Abercrombie & Fitch and Estée Lauder, 
and growing our account presence at Bose Corporation, Ford 
Motor Company and Toys R Us Inc with multiple solution 
cross-sales. The combination of SDL’s leading technology, 
an outstanding customer base and improving distribution 
capabilities means we are confident of our future success.

Vision and Strategy 
With the acquisition and successful integration of Alterian’s 
leading Marketing, Analytics and Social Intelligence software 
into SDL’s Global Information Management technology stack, 
the Group continues to realize its vision and strategy as a 
leading player in Customer Experience Management.

Investment in the future remains a key feature of the business.  
In November 2012, SDL announced that it would be increasing 
its expenditure on sales and marketing by approximately £3 
million to £4 million. Following further analysis of the market we 
have concluded it is important to invest a further £4 million to 
£5 million into infrastructure and research and development to 
take full advantage of the market opportunity. The total amount 
that will be expensed in 2013 for these investments will be 
around £8 million to £9 million. These investments will be in:
• Creating an SDL Consulting division focused on selling 

integrated Customer Experience Solutions.
• Enhanced structure in our Language Technology division to 

launch our new Software as a Service platform, Language 
Gateway, and enhance our Machine Translation sales.

• Sales and marketing infrastructure in our Content 
Management division. 

• Sales and marketing infrastructure and research and 
development into our Business Analytics and Social 
Intelligence divisions. 

• Internal and external Group marketing across the business.

We believe it is necessary to make the above investments to 
fully realise the potential of our technology stack and services 
offerings. SDL is considered by both Forester and Gartner 
to be a leader and innovator in our field with our Global 
Information Management technology stack. 

Dividend
The Board remains confident in the operational cash 
generation of the business and is recommending a final 
dividend to the Annual General Meeting of 6.1 pence per 
ordinary share, a 5.2% increase over the dividend paid in the 
preceding year.

Management change 
As previously announced in November 2012, Mark Lancaster, 
Executive Chairman, stepped into the role of Chief Executive 
Officer following John Hunter’s decision to leave SDL to 
pursue other interests.

Outlook
Although the macro economic situation in Europe remains 
challenging, demand in key northern European economies 
is expected to remain stable in 2013. Slow recovery in North 
America is expected to continue at the macro-economic level, 
and the prospects in developing and emerging markets in Asia 
and South America are strong.

We remain confident in our outlook for sales in 2013 and 
we will make significant discretionary marketing, sales 
and R&D investments of £8 million to £9 million in 2013 to 
return SDL to strong technology growth. This will enhance 
technology revenue growth in 2013 but will reduce profits for 
2013, particularly in the first half of the financial year. These 
investments will take SDL to a new level, creating a solid 
platform to deliver significant sustained revenue growth and 
profitability to 2014 and beyond. 

SDL remains well positioned for growth and stability selling 
into multiple geographies and across a variety of sectors. SDL 
has increased its presence in Asia and North America in 2013, 
partly due to the addition of Alterian and partly due to organic 
investment.

We enter 2013 with a compelling set of products and solutions 
and a great vision that has proven delivery over the years. Our 
pipleine is strong and gives us confidence through 2013 and 
beyond. The Board remains confident in the Group’s strategy 
and execution capability. The balance sheet is strong, enabling 
both organic and acquisition growth opportunities to be 
pursued as they are identified. 

As we look forward the Board is confident in the Group’s 
growth prospects and long term potential to deliver future 
profitable growth and shareholder returns.
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
SDL measures, monitors, evaluates and reports key performance indicators (KPIs) in order to externally report 
our global performance. We do this through a combination of data collection and verification, internal audits 
and management reviews that span the site, functional and corporate levels.

KPI Highlights - At A Glance
See the Operating and Financial Review on page 11 and the Directors’ Report on page 49 for more details on 
our performance.

Key Performance Indicator Implementation Highlights

PARTNER WITH CUSTOMERS

New Business acquisition. Examples of new customers in 2012 include: Bose, Migros, 
Estee Lauder, Ford, Toys R Us, European Commission, 
Abercrombie & Fitch and Land Rover.

Develop channel sales via partner organisations and cross 
selling opportunities to broaden sales reach and customer 
base.

New channel partners include Hansa Marketing, Tahzoo, & 
DOTZ.

THOUGHT LEADERSHIP

Achieve development roadmap goals through a targeted 
innovation investment programme.

Investment in development has increased by 48% to £21.8 
million and achieved increased efficiencies via low cost, 
high skill nearshore and offshore centres.

Deliver planned product launches. See the Performance By Segment section of the OFR for 
information on product releases in 2012.

Engage with our customers to align our product vision. We communicate with our customers through SDL Innovate 
conferences across North America, Europe and Asia, 
industry trade shows, webinars, newsletters and direct 
customer research.

ONE GLOBAL ORGANISATION

Geographic and cultural diversity. Expansion of operations in Australia, China and the USA.

Implement global quality processes.
Achieve relevant standards across the group.

ISO certifications, in particular ISO 27001 / ISO 9001 / ISO 
13485, have been extended throughout the Group. See the 
Directors’ Report on page 49 for more information.
 

CULTURE, COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT

The Knowledge Series develops and harmonises staff 
communication standards across the group.
 

SDL carried out 15 Knowledge Series sessions in 2012 for 
employees worldwide with attendance figures of up to 450 
people for foundation-level training sessions. 

Development training for operational management and 
succession planning.

The Management Development Training Plan implemented 
in 2011 and rolled out in Europe and North America has 
been extended in 2012.  A total of 150 employees from 12 
SDL locations worldwide have taken part.

RESPONSIBLE AND ETHICAL  

Contribute towards the SDL Foundation. SDL has pledged over £1m since the inception of the 
Foundation. In 2012, the fourth anniversary of the 
Foundation, £204,000 was donated to more than 20 
charities worldwide and employees worldwide donated 
their time and skills. See page 10 for more detail.  

Carbon emission In 2012 the scope for carbon reporting was expanded 
to include our offices in Ireland. ISO 14001 processes 
improved data collection.
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Ensuring a Good Night’s Sleep for 5 Million  
International Customers
SDL partner RAPP implemented SDL’s database marketing 
technology at Best Western to analyse data and segment 
customers. With increasing data volumes, RAPP next 
integrated SDL Email Manager to enable them to execute 
campaigns in an efficient and flexible manner, whilst 
maintaining data in one system.
Having previously invested in SDL Translation Management 
System, to enable international customers to make 
reservations in their native language, Best Western had 
already started their journey to provide a personalized 
approach to customer communications. To reach the next 
level, Best Western needed to enhance engagement in 
their loyalty programme. SDL Customer Analytics enabled 
RAPP to discover behavioural patterns of Best Western’s 
customers and create customized emails which were 
triggered at each stage of the customer journey, providing a 
truly personalized customer experience.
• 40% increase in email click-throughs
• 540% rise in the amount of loyalty points claimed
• 30% increase in return on investment
“SDL Campaign Management & Analytics helps simplify 
and automate a high volume of campaigns, freeing us up to 
focus on strategy and new ideas.” says Tim Wade, Marketing 
Director at Best Western.

CASE STUDIES

Specialty Fashion Group increases customer 
engagement to drive loyalty and sales 
Specialty Fashion Group (SFG) is Australia’s largest women’s 
apparel group. It has over 7 million loyalty members 
and operates 6 brands in 893 stores and 7 transactional 
websites. They wanted to leverage and expand their 7+ 
million strong membership to increase engagement and 
drive customer loyalty. 
By implementing the SDL Intelligent Marketing Suite, 
SFG was able to drastically reduce production times for 
electronic direct marketing from 24 hours to less than two. 
The company leveraged this improved efficiency to use the 
data captured through customer interactions in new ways. 
SFG was able to gain a single-view of their customers and 
deliver personalized, targeted communications based on the 
behaviour of individual customers. 
• ROI of 2,200% on most recent electronic direct marketing 

campaign
• Increase in email member contribution to sales up 13%
“Data is a critical component of our business, but too much 
data or the wrong data can be detrimental. Working with 
SDL, we are able to better understand our customer data 
and as a result, deliver promotions and information through 
the right channel at the right time,” said Alison Henriksen, 
CFO of SFG.

SDL helps TomTom reach 45 million customers  
in 35 languages 
TomTom, the world’s leading supplier of in-car location and 
navigation products has rapidly expanded into new markets 
in the last few years. Communicating with their customers in 
a consistent way across 60 countries became increasingly 
important at TomTom. With internal departments working 
independently, translated content was not stored in a central 
location nor reused. It was essential for TomTom to find a 
more efficient way to manage the localization of customer 
documentation, marketing material and software. 
In partnership with SDL, TomTom restructured its localization 
management process and created a streamlined system with 
maximum transparency, empowering TomTom to increase 
customer engagement and competitive advantage. 
The SDL solution significantly reduced the time and 
cost associated with creating global communication 
and improved the quality and consistency of information 
published to their customers in 60 countries and in 35 
languages.
• 80% saved on translation costs in 2011
• Higher translation quality through automated processes
• Brand consistency through terminology management and 

translation memory

Belgacom extends CXM strategy
Utilizing SDL SM2, Belgacom is extending their CXM 
strategy by analyzing online customer conversations to 
enhance outbound communications.
With customers voicing their opinions across several online 
channels, Belgacom needed to locate these customers to 
continue meeting their needs. With SDL SM2, Belgacom was 
able to:
• Proactively search and respond to customer queries 

online in one platform, saving time and ensuring full 
customer service coverage

• Respond to customers in the right place and language, 
creating relevant and targeted customer experiences

• Gain intelligence on customer perceptions to feed into the 
overall marketing process

“We needed a comprehensive way to monitor what was 
being said about our brands but also to manage how we 
dealt with the customer issues and queries we discovered,” 
concluded Leunis. “SM2 is a solid solution to both these 
demands. It allows us to take customer service into a new 
era, where we fully embrace social media and engage with 
our customers in the channels where many of them are now 
most active.” – Bram Leunis, Product and Services Specialist 
at Belgacom.

SPECIALTYFASH ION | GROUP
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This is SDL’s third annual report in which, as part of 
our voluntary commitment to produce and publish 
our carbon footprint, we report on progress of our 
programme. In 2012 we have expanded the scope 
to include our activities in Ireland and using our ISO 
14001 processes worked towards improving our data 
giving us greater confidence in our trends. 

2013 sees the implementation of the Mandatory 
Greenhouse Gas Reporting Regulations in the UK 

requiring all listed companies to calculate and report 
their carbon footprint. We continue to prepare for 
this regulation and are working with Carbon Clear to 
expand our existing foot printing programme to cover 
all activities and locations over which SDL has control. 
Our objective is a robust data collection system which 
will deliver complete, consistent and comparable 
data across locations allowing for effective internal 
benchmarking and monitoring.

Emissions Tonnes 
CO2e

% of  
Emissions

Staff 
(FTE)

tCO2e/
FTE

Maidenhead 1,440.5 39% 226 6.4 

Superior 773.4 21% 182 4.2 

Amsterdam 723.8 20% 162 4.5 

Tokyo 546.0 15% 118 4.6 

Bray 188.1 5% 32 5.9 

TOTAL 3,671.8 100.0%   

The largest source of emissions was electricity consumption 
(37%), followed by business travel (31%) and staff 
commuting (26%). The Maidenhead office accounted for 
39% of the five offices’ total emissions. 

To allow comparison, the 2011 footprint has been recalculated using 
current emissions factors.

Staff numbers in Maidenhead have risen in line with total 
emissions and therefore carbon intensity has remained 
broadly the same.  

All environmental data externally compiled by Carbon Clear.
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A
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D

10%

28%

24% 38%

Head Office Footprints 2011/ 2012

ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENT

The analysis shows that SDL’s carbon emissions for the five 
offices during 2012 amounted to 3671.8 tonnes of CO2e. 

We have used staff numbers (FTE) against which to 
benchmark emissions.

A 38% Electricity
B 28% Travel

C 24% Commuting
D 10% Other
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In 2012, the SDL Foundation has continued its support of less fortunate communities around 
the world; retaining the key objective of supporting sustainable development.

All SDL employees are actively encouraged to nominate and sponsor deserving causes in their 
local communities. Further, SDL employees or groups of employees are assisted by SDL to 
actively participate in helping the recipients of SDL Foundation funding to achieve their goals; 
acting as a role model within the communities in which we operate is one of SDL’s key values.

When tasked with organising a team 
building event for their growing team, 
staff in the Seattle office opted to 
volunteer at a non-profit organization 
providing meals to the hungry living in 
the Seattle area.

For the SDL team event staff helped 
in the kitchen to make and serve 
lunch. Activities in the kitchen brought 
everyone to work together; and in doing 
so they were able to further help people 
in their local community. 

Examples

Wesley Budd, based in the Maidenhead 
office spent most of 2012 fundraising 
and training for his personal challenge, 
which was to cycle 440km in Nepal for 
The International Childcare Trust. 

The ICT provides underprivileged 
children who have lost their parents a 
chance to build a life for themselves by 
educating them and arming them with 
key vocational and practical skills in 
order to earn a living. Having seen their 
work first hand Wesley wanted to help 
this organization and raised over £3,000 
to take part in this challenge.

SDL FOUNDATION
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Performance overview

2012 was a year of significant strategic progress for SDL 
with the acquisition of Alterian, a transaction which brought 
integrated marketing capabilities to complement SDL’s 
Customer Experience Management proposition. A steady 
operating performance was maintained by the swift and 
effective integration of Alterian, which delivered stability to 
Alterian’s clients, partners and staff. The Alterian Campaign 
Management & Analytics and Social Intelligence businesses 
are combined in a new reporting segment, with the former 
Alterian Web Content business now being accounted for 
within SDL’s Content Management Technologies segment. 

SDL’s business is made up of a combination of
• Software as a Service licences, primarily from our 

Analytics, Social Media and Language technology platform.
• Perpetual software licences, primarily from enterprise web 

content management, enterprise translation management 
and desktop translation productivity software sales.

• Support and Maintenance from the enterprise products.
• Language and consulting services.

Software as a Service bookings across the business increased 
by 6%, making up 45% of total licence bookings.
 
Perpetual Software bookings for the business decreased by 
12%. 

Our recurring software revenues comprising Software as a 
Service and Support & Maintenance revenue streams account 
for 51% of technology revenues.
 
Services revenue increased organically by 12.4% in 2012; 
89% of services revenue in 2012 was from recurring 
customers  (2011: 92%). The reduction in the year reflects a 
high level of new customer acquisition, with the underlying 
rate of repeat business broadly unchanged.

We increased our Research and Development investment 
(none of which is capitalised) by 48% in 2012 to £21.8 million 
(2011: £14.8m), which included a 33% increase relating to the 
acquired Alterian business.

Fig 1. Operating Cash Flow Fig 2. Revenue

Strategic Performance Indicator Measure Performance

Revenue Change % +17.6%

Profit before tax and amortisation Change % -10.4%

Net cash flows from operating activities Change % -46%

Technology revenues % of group total 44% (2011: 41%)

Acquisitions Transactions Completed acquisition of 
Alterian on 27 January 2012

Innovation Number of product releases 41 (2011: 37)

Cross selling Number of cross sold enterprise 
customers

420 (2011: 380)

£17.5m
-£2.8m

-£8.3m

-£5.3m
-£3.2m+£12.2m

-£2.5m£27.4m

OFR Fig 1 Operating Cashflow

£269.3m

£229.0m

+£15.4m
(+6.7%)

+£28.4m
(+12.4%)

-£3.5m
(-1.5%)

OFR Fig 2
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The best performing segment in 2012 was Language 
Services, which grew at 12.4% at constant currency, 
offsetting weaker performance in Technology which declined 
1.6% organically.

Asia was the strongest revenue growth region in 2012. 
Demand in North America was strong but offset by weaker 
technology performance. Asia, where we continue to diversify 
the customer base in both Technology and Services, has 
recovered strongly from a flatter performance in 2011 with 
some important new wins. Organic growth in continental 
Europe shows a small increase where the demand 
environment is less strong. The Alterian acquisition increases 
our footprint in North America and Asia and already we see 
strong demand in line with our existing regional pattern. We 
continue to expand our global infrastructure, having invested 
in additional facilities in Asia and the Americas to match 
growing demand in these regions.

These factors saw headline revenue growth of 17.6% to 
£269.3 million, driven by underlying organic growth at 
constant currency of 6.7%, 12.4% growth from acquisitions 
and a 1.5% decrease from currency effects.

With the acquisition of Alterian, Technology revenue, as a 
percentage of total Group revenue, has increased from 41% 
in 2011 to 44% in 2012. We see the market opportunity in 
Technology as greater than ever with Alterian supplementing 
our core technologies and giving us and our clients the 
potential to seamlessly integrate Customer Experience 
Management solutions. We are fully committed to maintaining 
appropriate levels of investment to fully exploit these 
opportunities whilst continuing to deliver profitable growth.

Overall Group operating margin before amortisation was 
reduced at 13.2% (2011: 17.3%), reflecting continued 
investment into innovation, one-off administrative expenses 
associated with the Alterian acquisition and a more cautious 

view of percentage-of-completion and cost-to-complete of 
certain services contracts in the second half of the financial 
year. 

Excluding acquisition related one-off costs and Language 
Weaver, which has continued to attract strategic investment 
in 2012, Group operating margin was 14.9% (2011: 18.9%). 
Excluding Alterian and Language Weaver, Group operating 
margin was 15.7% (2011: 18.9%). 

Cash flows from operating activities (after income tax paid) 
were £17.5 million (2011: £32.6 million). Organic DSO 
was stable and DSO for the acquired Alterian business 
has improved since acquisition. Profit to cash conversion 
decreased, due to the expected reduction in acquired Alterian 
creditors as overdue trade balances were settled, deal 
transaction costs paid and deferred income associated with 
old non-renewing customer contracts was not replaced. Profit 
to cash conversion in the underlying business excluding the 
non-recurring effects of the Alterian acquisition remains strong 
– see OFR figure 1. Cash flow from operations in the second 
half was £18.8 million or a 125% conversion on PBTA. At the 
end of 2012 we had net cash of £6.3 million on the balance 
sheet (2011: £70.4 million), comprising positive cash balances 
of £28.5 million (2011: £70.4 million) and drawn credit facilities 
of £22.2 million (2011: £nil).

In SDL’s trading statement of 26 November 2012, the 
Group disclosed that it was taking a more cautious view of 
percentage-of-completion and cost-to-complete of certain 
services contracts in the second half of the financial year. 
Certain units of the business were reviewed independently of 
operational management. The adequacy and effectiveness 
of the internal control systems were scrutinised. The findings 
were reported to the Board and the Audit Committee. 
Following the review, certain finance reporting lines have been 
changed and controls implemented to reinforce and validate 
the existing process. These include staff training, monitoring, 
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measuring and reporting against the existing framework of 
formal documented policies.

Innovation

Innovation remains core to the SDL business. To ensure the 
delivery of our technology vision for the future, investment in 
research and development was maintained at £21.8  million or 
18% of combined Technology segment revenues. At the same 
time we continue to carefully manage our cost base to deliver 
profitable technologies and services. Five significant new 
products were released in 2012:

• SDL Campaign Manager and SDL Customer Analytics. 
This latest version enables our customers to manage and 
execute personalised cross channel communication to 
individually targeted customer Groups within a campaign 
audience of up to 100 million.

• SDL SM2. This new version of SDL’s Social Media 
business intelligence platform includes new reporting 
and sentiment analysis functionality. SM2 is also the first 
fully featured enterprise-class social media platform to 
provide convenient online provisioning for small-midsize 
businesses.

• SDL Fredhopper. This new version addresses arguably 
the biggest challenge associated with global eCommerce 
– presenting the right products to each individual customer 
based on what they want, while also complementing the 
retailer’s local merchandising strategy. 

• SDL Studio Groupshare. This collaboration hub for 
small and medium size localisation teams using SDL 
Trados Studio and SDL Multiterm enables Groups to work 
via a single platform sharing translation memories and 
terminology, and has been named the winner of a Silver 
People’s Choice Stevie® Award for favourite new products.

• SDL Live Content. This is a new family of software 
products, comprising editing, storage and delivery tools 
that enable companies to meet all their customers’ 
technical information needs through all the relevant touch 
points in the customer journey. 

In addition to the main product releases, SDL continues 
to deliver updates on existing product lines and closer 
integrations between the different SDL solutions.

Revenue

Headline revenue growth of 17.6% was driven by underlying 
organic growth at constant currency of 6.7%, acquisition 
effects of 12.4% and currency translation effects of -1.5% - 
see OFR figure 2.

Headline revenue growth was strongest in North America 
and Asia. Continental Europe was up 8% (4% organically) 
where continued economic uncertainty in Eurozone countries 
is affecting economic sentiment in the region. The Language 
Services segment saw strongest growth, where a 12.4% 
underlying increase at constant currency was achieved, a 
testament to the continued value our clients derive from these 
solutions. A diverse mix of regions, industry verticals and 

customers provided some degree of buffering for the Group 
from the declining performance of Technology as a whole and 
weaker European performance. Group revenues by reporting 
segment are shown on OFR Figure 3 and a geographic split 
by destination is shown on OFR figure 4.

With new business wins, the customer concentration 
profile continues to improve with the 20 largest customers 
contributing 27% (2011: 29%) of revenue in 2012. It remains 
that no single customer contributes more than 5% of Group 
revenues. 

We continue to expand our presence by vertical market 
sector. In 2012, there were 10 sectors contributing 
more than £10 million of revenue (2011: 8), including 
Information Technology, Consumer Electronics, Healthcare, 
Pharmaceuticals, Financial Services, Communications, 
Entertainment & Leisure, Construction & Machinery and 
Automotive.

Performance by Segment

For management purposes the Group is organised into 
business units based on products and services, and has four 
reportable segments. 

Content Management Technologies (contributing £57.8 
million or 21% of revenue to the Group and £10.4 million or 
29% of Group PBTA) (2011: contributing £52.7 million or 23% 
of revenue to the Group and £8.8 million or 22% of Group 
PBTA).

_______________________________________________________ 

Gartner observes that “SDL Tridion’s 
WCM capabilities are regarded highly 
by a broad spectrum of Gartner 
clients, in particular their usability and 
interoperability.”
_______________________________________________________

This segment comprises Web Content Management 
Solutions, eCommerce Technologies and Structured Content 
Technologies. Whilst total segment revenues grew by 9.6%, 
the acquisition of Alterian’s web content business contributed 
a 13.4% increase, with an underlying organic decline of 2.7% 
and a 1.1% negative foreign exchange effect. 

Flat performance in Web Content and reduced licence 
revenue in Structured Content was partially offset by strong 
growth in the eCommerce business, where sales order 
bookings for new SaaS licences increased by 41% in the 
year. At a headline level, the former Alterian Web business 
contributed good levels of support and maintenance and 
professional services revenues, having proved more resilient 
than expected when the acquisition was made in January 
2012. The segment PBTA margin was 18.0% (2011: 16.7%).

Strategically, we continue to make good progress in Web 
Content, with Gartner naming SDL Tridion for the fifth 
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consecutive time in the Leadership Quadrant for Web Content 
Management. In particular the usability and interoperability 
of SDL Tridion was cited, which we are particularly proud 
of, having launched a new user interface in the year 
and enhanced the integration of Tridion with other SDL 
products. We also launched our Global Multinational Alliance 
Programme (GMAP), which brings together a community of 
system integrators, strategic consultancies, creative agencies 
and technology alliances to jointly participate in certification, 
training and the sharing of best practices. Growth in Asia was 
a highlight, where revenue increased by 62%. Renewal rates 
in the installed base were also very strong at 95%.

In Structured Content, the strategic focus in 2012 has been 
the full launch of SDL LiveContent, a new family of software 
products that transforms how end users’ technical information 
needs are met by harnessing the power of XML. Replacing 
traditional ad hoc tools and processes, SDL LiveContent is 
an integrated end-to-end solution that delivers better quality 
content, faster time to delivery and improved searches. The 
solution comprises components for the simple creation of 
advanced content, storage that enables reuse, sharing and 
delivery to any channel and interactive output that enables a 
unique combination of collaboration and feedback with users 
of content.
_______________________________________________________ 

In a recent SDL survey 79% of 
respondents think that high quality 
product information makes it more likely 
they will purchase additional products 
from the same manufacturer and 87% 
think that high quality product information 
makes it easier for them to solve service 
problems on their own.
_______________________________________________________

We are also pleased that SDL has been awarded two 
distinctions from KM World for its best of breed content 
management technologies, “100 companies that matter in 
knowledge management” and induction into the KM World 
2012 Hall of Distinction. The KM World Hall of Distinction is a 
first time award for SDL and is given to companies that offer 
innovative technologies and contribute to outstanding thought 
leadership in knowledge management. 

New clients in 2012 include KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, US 
Government Printing Office, AGCO and Acme Packet.

Language Technologies (contributing £39.2 million or 15% of 
revenue to the Group and £2.5 million or 7% of Group PBTA) 
(2011: contributing £40.1 million or 18% of revenue to the 
Group and £5.2 million or 13% of Group PBTA).

This segment comprises Desktop translation technologies, 
Enterprise translation solutions and Machine Translation. 
Total segment revenue saw a small decline, with a headline 

reduction of 1.7%, due to foreign exchange with a negligible 
decline in the underlying business at constant currency. The 
business continued its significant investment in cloud machine 
translation technologies in 2012, to accelerate development 
and advance SDL’s leadership in this strategic space. 
Whilst gross margins grew to 84% (2011: 82%), additional 
investment together with selective territory expansion in 
growth markets resulted in a reduced PBTA margin for the 
year of 6.3%, down 6.8%. SDL remains committed to leading 
the industry in enterprise statistical machine translation and 
we plan to sustain continued high levels of investment in 
research and development, sales and marketing and capital 
expenditure into 2013.

Sales increased in all product areas with the exception of the 
US Government, where weakness in the first half continued 
through the remainder of 2012, due to continued uncertainty 
around the US Federal budget. Software as a Service (“SaaS”) 
sales continued to increase as a proportion of total licence 
sales, a positive trend that improves the revenue visibility of 
the business going forward.

In January 2012 we launched a new integration between the 
SDL Trados Studio desktop translation product and the SDL 
BeGlobal cloud platform for machine translation. This has 
enabled 23,000 translators to leverage secure cloud based 
automated translations, increasing their productivity and 
opening up new opportunities for post-editing business. 

_______________________________________________________ 

“Quality product content is the key to 
empowering customer self-service”
- Amber Swope, DITA Specialist
_______________________________________________________

We are proud to have won a People’s Choice Stevie® 
Award for SDL Studio Groupshare. This collaboration hub 
enables localisation teams using SDL Trados Studio and 
SDL Multiterm to work across a single platform, resulting in 
faster delivery with increased quality and control. The Society 
for New Communications Research Excellence (SNCR) has 
also honoured SDL with a Commendation of Merit for SDL 
BeGlobal, acknowledging the key role SDL’s leading machine 
translation technology plays in the Language industry space.

During the year we embarked on a programme to rationalise 
Language Technology research and development locations 
to two core centres of excellence in the US and Europe. 
This ensures future scalability by creating larger teams with 
improved access to critical talent. We are also pleased to have 
expanded our academic collaboration with a new machine 
translation research facility, working with the Department of 
Engineering at the University of Cambridge.

New clients in 2012 include Associated Press, ADP, Danish Oil 
and Natural Gas and KONE. We are particularly pleased that 
SDL Studio was selected by the European Union in December 
2012, for a 5 year translation productivity tooling contract. 
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Language Services (contributing £151 million or 56% of 
revenue to the Group and £23.2 million or 65% of Group 
PBTA) (2011: contributing £136.2 million or 59% of revenue to 
the Group and £25.5 million or 65% of Group PBTA).

2012 was another year of very strong headline revenue growth 
of 10.8% for the segment, comprising 12.4% underlying 
growth at constant currency and 1.6% loss on foreign 
exchange. This was driven by very strong performance in 
North America where revenue grew by 15%, and Asia where 
revenue grew by 28%. 40 new accounts were added in Asia 
during the period, which are expected to contribute to further 
growth in the region in 2013.

We have further invested in our global infrastructure in the 
Americas, Asia and our low cost sourcing hubs to meet 
growing demand. We also continue to grow our business in 
the Nordic region and Latin America, realising the benefits of 
investments made last year. 

The segment PBTA margin declined to 15.4%, a decrease of 
3.4%, which reflects scaling investments and a more cautious 
view of percentage-of-completion and cost-to-complete of 
certain services contracts in the second half of the financial 
year and some large US contracts with lower margins.

We have grown existing and new accounts during the year, 
with the Language Services business benefitting from our 
Global Account Management team that has worked closely 
with key clients, identifying opportunities where SDL can add 
value to their business. In particular, Consulting-led sales 
have enabled our teams to work with clients’ senior decision 
makers, to explore their globalisation needs in greater depth 
and add more value by packaging solutions to exactly meet 
their business needs. The Consulting team will be expanded 
in 2013 within an independent Customer Experience 

Management division that spans the whole range of SDL 
solutions, with an initial focus on established major accounts. 

SDL’s Intelligent Machine Translation (iMT) solution, which 
integrates SDL’s market-leading machine translation 
technology with specialist human post-editing skills has 
proven very successful in the year, with iMT penetration 
across the Language Services client base increasing from 
9% to 16%. By providing an even greater level of localization 
automation, this unique technology-enabled service allows 
our customers to increase their global communication for 
the same cost, reduce like for like translation spend by 
up to 40%, and accelerate time-to-market by decreasing 
production times by as much as 50%.

New clients in 2012 include Barnes & Noble, SAE, Yokogawa 
Electric and Husqvana.

Campaign Management, Analytics & Social Intelligence 
(contributing £21.3 million or 8% of revenue to the Group and 
a break even position at a PBTA level) (not present in 2011 
comparatives).

This segment comprises marketing analytics, campaign 
management and social intelligence technologies, the main 
components of the Alterian acquisition which completed on 
27 January 2012.

The segment has continued to perform ahead of expectations. 
We are pleased with the level of repeat business and new 
client wins in particular where the proportion of direct sales 
has increased to around one third. This approach brings 
correspondingly higher margins and a reduced dependency 
on channel sales compared to the operating model under 
former Alterian ownership. 

Fig 5. Operating Margins
Before amortisation of intangible assets

Fig 6. Development In Fully Adjusted EPS Year On Year
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Improved time to market for new product versions has 
reinforced the division’s reputation in the marketplace. A key 
element of the products delivered in 2012 was an investment 
in customer satisfaction which targeted service capability 
and technical infrastructure. Operating synergies were 
realised through the integration, funding this investment and a 
sustained increase in research and development into 2013. 

_______________________________________________________

“It is increasingly important for 
businesses of all types to be able to 
effectively and efficiently support their 
customers globally, across multiple 
languages and communication channels. 
Communicating with a customer in real 
time in their native language creates a 
more personal and meaningful brand 
experience” - Ido Hacohen, Head of 
partner ecosystem at LivePerson
_______________________________________________________

We are pleased to be acknowledged as a strong performer 
in the Enterprise Listening Platforms Forrester Wave, and to 
have won the Great Minds for Innovation Award given by the 
Advertising Research Foundation.

Looking forward, this segment is a truly integral component 
of SDL’s Customer Experience Management proposition. We 
are very pleased with the acquisition and its integration into 
SDL, in particular with the cultural fit of the people and the 
exceptional technology and see significant opportunity to both 
grow the business and maximise the strategic positioning 
in the marketplace. As we continue to invest in research 
and development and sales and marketing, we expect this 
segment to be marginally profitable in 2013 improving as we 
move forward into 2014. New customers in 2012 include Land 
Rover, Majestic Wines Warehouse Limited and Purina.

Gross Margin

The Group’s gross margin was 56%, a decrease from 58% in 
2011.

The reduction was caused by a 4% decrease in Language 
Services gross margin, that was partly offset by a greater 
proportion of higher gross margin technology revenue, 
following the Alterian acquisition. 

Technology revenue as a percentage of Group total revenue 
has increased to 44% from 41% in 2011.

Administrative Expenses

In 2012, administrative costs excluding amortisation increased 
to £115.8 million (2011: £94.2 million). Included in the increase 
is £17.1million of incremental cost for 11 months overheads 
of the acquired Alterian business, and £0.7 million of one-off 

professional fees associated with the Alterian acquisition.

Costs have increased organically by 4%, which compares to 
organic revenue growth of 7% in the year. Cost increases in 
the period relate to expansion in Asia, where revenue grew 
organically by 24%, investment in research and development 
including machine translation and content management 
technologies, and scaling up sales and delivery resources in 
growth businesses.

Included within administrative expenses is a credit of £1.1 
million (2011: cost of £2.9 million) relating to 2010, 2011 and 
2012 Long Term Incentive awards and Option Scheme grants 
which will not, or are not expected to, vest.

In addition we have added to the Trados shareholder litigation 
provision during the year which has resulted in a profit and 
loss charge of £1.5 million (2011: cost of £0.1 million).

Research and development expenditure of £21.8 million is 
included in administrative expenses, a headline increase 
of 48% from £14.8m in 2011. Of this increase, £4.9 million 
or 33% related to the acquired Alterian business, which 
launched SDL Campaign Manager 2012, SDL Customer 
Analytics 2012 and SDL SM2 2012. Excluding acquisition 
effects the business saw an organic increase of 15% in 
research and development when SDL Fredhopper 2012, SDL 
Studio Groupshare 2012 and SDL Live Content 2012 were 
launched. 

Development costs have been reviewed, and the Board 
remains of the opinion that capitalisation criteria under 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 38 are not met, and 
consequently no development costs are capitalised on the 
balance sheet.

Headcount was 2,985 at the end of 2012, compared to 
2,373 at the end of 2011. Included in the increase are 312 
employees who joined the Group with the acquisition of 
Alterian on 27 January 2012. Headcount growth was aligned 
with expanding areas of the business. Employee related 
costs remain the most significant component of Group costs, 
amounting to 68% of Group overheads (2011: 71%). 

Intangible assets ascribed to certain of the Group’s software 
and customer relationships arising from acquisitions are 
amortised between 5 and 15 years and the carrying value is 
formally reviewed on an annual basis to assess whether there 
are indicators of impairment. The intangible asset amortisation 
charge in 2012 was £8.1 million (2011: £5.9 million). The 
increase is caused by 11 months amortisation of the new 
Alterian intangible asset during the period. Intangible assets 
and goodwill were allocated to four existing Cash Generating 
Units (“CGU”) namely Language Services, Language 
Technologies, Web Content Management and Structured 
Content Management and a new fifth CGU, Campaign 
Management, Analytics & Social Intelligence, following the 
Alterian acquisition. The 2012 impairment review did not 
result in impairment to any of the CGUs. The full detail of the 
impairment review is explained in note 12 to the accounts.
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Operating Margin

The operating margin or PBTA margin (profit before tax and 
amortisation of intangibles divided by revenue, or PBTA %) 
was 13.2% (2011: 17.3%). 

At Group level, PBTA margin was diluted by the acquired 
Alterian business, which contributed 8% before acquisition 
and other one-off costs. This improved dilution position is due 
to a combination of cost savings, resilient web support and 
maintenance revenue, and professional services demands. 

Excluding Alterian, acquisition related one-off costs and 
Language Weaver, which has continued to attract strategic 
investment in 2012, Group operating margin was 15.7% 
(2011: 18.9%). The reduction is due to a more cautious view 
of percentage-of-completion and cost-to-complete of certain 
services contracts in the second half of the financial year, and 
a weaker performance in Technology.

Profit before tax and amortisation (PBTA), a primary measure 
used externally by the investment community, was £35.5 
million (2011: £39.7 million).

OFR figure 5 shows operating margin development year on 
year.

Earnings Per Share

Earnings Per Share when adjusted for amortisation of 
intangibles decreased by 9% to 33.77 pence. The deferred 
tax benefit associated with the amortisation of the intangible 
fixed assets of £1.9 million (2011: £1.6 million) has been 
adjusted in this calculation of EPS. Basic Earnings Per Share 
was 26.12 pence (2011: 32.72 pence). 

The development in fully adjusted EPS year on year is shown 
on OFR figure 6. 

Financing Costs 

Interest costs in 2012 amounted to £0.3 million (2011: income 
of £0.2 million). The increase was attributable to drawing 
the Group’s £20 million borrowing facility to partly fund 
the Alterian acquisition, and £2 million of a new £7 million 
overdraft facility that was put in place at the time of the 
acquisition to replace Alterian’s drawn overdraft facilities. 

In addition, there was a nominal finance lease interest 
expense associated with assets acquired with Language 
Weaver in 2010 and Alterian Inc in 2012.

Infrastructure and acquisition integration

SDL has strong core systems and processes which allow us 
to service our clients effectively and maintain standards of 
internal control. When opening new sites or integrating a new 
acquisition, core systems and processes are implemented as 
soon as practicable with appropriate training to promulgate 
best practice around the Group. 

During the period, Alterian was integrated according to 
established practice.

Capital Structure 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Net (cash) (note 21) (6,262) (70,408)

Capital employed 227,764 217,832

221,502 147,424

Cash flow

Cash flow from operations was £17.5 million (2011: £32.6 
million). Profit to cash conversion decreased, due to the 
expected reduction in acquired Alterian creditors as overdue 
trade balances were settled, deal transaction costs were 
paid and deferred income associated with old non-renewing 
customer contracts was not replaced. The underlying cash 
generation of the Group excluding non-recurring items 
remains strong. 

Borrowing Facilities

The Group has a committed £20 million facility to February 
2014, which was drawn down in January 2012 to partly 
fund the Alterian acquisition and remained outstanding at 
December 2012. 

Additionally, a £7 million overdraft facility to March 2013 was 
put in place at the time of the acquisition to replace Alterian’s 
drawn overdraft facility, of which £2 million was drawn down 
and remained outstanding at December 2012. This was repaid 
in full during January 2013.

Further facilities if required will be put in place in the future.

The Board remains of the opinion that operating with 
low levels of debt is appropriate in the current economic 
environment, whilst maintaining sufficient debt facility 
headroom to finance normal investment activities. The Board 
believes the strong underlying cash generation of the business 
will allow repayment of the facility prior to the end of the 
facility agreement.

Impact of Acquisitions

The Board continues to invest in Research and Development 
relating to recent acquisitions, with a strong emphasis 
towards new technologies including machine translation 
where the strategic opportunity is significant. 

Language Weaver continues to dilute earnings in 2012 
following planned investments in the period. 

The acquisition of Alterian in January 2012 is marginally 
earnings accretive in the period, ahead of baseline 
assumptions due to operational cost upsides and stronger 
demand for professional services in the Web business. This 
acquisition brings leading marketing analytics, campaign 
management and social intelligence technologies to 
SDL. The opportunity to position SDL technologies as a 
complete Customer Experience Management (CxM) solution 
is compelling, and the Board has decided to invest in a 
Consulting-led client engagement team in 2013 to accelerate 
the CxM opportunity. 
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The Board will continue to assess acquisition opportunities 
in the marketplace, which enable the business to accelerate 
its development of a compelling and uniquely differentiated 
Customer Experience Management proposition to best serve 
our global clients.

Derivatives and other Financial Instruments

The Group has cash and short-term deposits of varying 
durations to fund its working capital needs and other financial 
assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and trade creditors 
arising directly from its operations. The Group’s policy 
continued to be that no active trading in financial instruments 
will be undertaken within the operating units and all decisions 
on use of financial instruments will be taken at Group level 
under the direction of the Chief Financial Officer.

Pricing of the current £20 million borrowing facility is a 
0.85% to 1.40% margin on London (or equivalent) Interbank 
Market rates according to the advance date. Which rate 
applies between the 0.85% - 1.4% margin is dependent 
on the net borrowings to EBITDA ratio of the Group on the 
date of the advance. Under the credit facility agreement, 
SDL is subject to certain financial covenants which are 
required to be continually monitored. These covenants relate 
to EBITA:Borrowing Costs; Net Cash Flow: Debt Service 
Liability and Gross Debt: EBITDA. The Group is also required 
to maintain a percentage of its cash within a charging Group 
of relevant Group subsidiaries. Since entering into the facility 
agreement and during 2012 SDL has complied with all of 
these covenants. This facility was fully drawn in January 2012 
to partly fund the acquisition of Alterian, and remains fully 
drawn at December 2012.

At the start of 2012, a new £7 million overdraft facility was 
entered into to replace Alterian’s overdraft facility. Pricing of 
the new £7 million borrowing facility is a 1.00% margin on 
London (or equivalent) Interbank Market rates according to 
the advance date. £2.2 million was drawn on the acquisition 
date to replace equivalent drawings under Alterian’s old 
facility, and remains drawn at December 2012. This facility 
was fully repaid in January 2013.

Taxation

SDL is a global business and as such the principal 
determinant of the tax rate is primarily dependent on the 
territorial mix of where operating profits are earned. A detailed 
analysis of the taxation charge is included in note 6 to the 
accounts. 

The headline effective tax charge for the year as a percentage 
of profit before tax is 23.9% (2011: 23.8%). 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 38 the Group has 
recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of the non-
tax deductible amortisation of intangible assets acquired 
through recent acquisitions. This deferred tax position has 
been adjusted for the Alterian acquisition made in 2012. The 
movement of these liabilities in the period has been reflected 
in the Income Statement and the effect is to provide a tax 

benefit in future Income Statements associated with the 
amortisation of those intangible assets. 

Due to the adoption of IFRS and the requirements of IAS 
12 in conjunction with IFRS 2, the schedule 23 tax credits 
available for share options exercised, and deferred taxation 
on unexpired options, has primarily been recorded in 
equity rather than the Income Statement. The impact of 
this treatment in the current year is to increase the headline 
effective tax rate by 2.9% (2011: Decrease of 0.9%). 
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Framework
Board: 
• Sets strategic objectives and agrees 

acceptable risk profile 
• Delegates authority 
• Approves group policies and 

procedures
• Receives and reviews risk register

Audit Committee:
• Monitors risk management policies 

and procedures against strategic 
objectives

• Receives and reviews risk register

Executive Committee:
• Regular review of operational and 

strategic risk: Identification/Analysis/
Evaluation/Mitigation

• Reporting to Audit Committee and 
Board

RISK MANAGEMENT

THE
BOARD

EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

AUDIT
COMMITTEE
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How SDL manages risk and opportunities 

Effective risk management assists the SDL Group 
to deliver its strategy of sustainable and profitable 
growth and the SDL approach is geared towards early 
identification of key risks. The consequence, probability 
of occurrence and reputational and financial impact of 
each risk is considered and mapped according to its 
significance to the Group’s objectives.

By managing risk which is embedded into our operations 
in a dynamic way we can provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that risk is 
appropriately managed across the Group and discharges 
its risk management processes through its executive 
management structure.

Operational Risk 

The Group maintains a comprehensive risk management 
process. This process includes the maintenance of a risk 
register which is reviewed and signed off by the Board. The 
risk register assesses probability of risk occurrence, the 
potential financial impact of a risk should it crystallise and 
the potential reputational impact of the risk. This process 
results in a risk management plan that is clearly targeted 
and prioritised as a work program. It also ensures the risk 
management process is a dynamic one that can quickly 
adapt to market or competitive developments and rapidly 
embrace the impact of any acquisitions. The Group rolled 
out a new Code of Conduct in the prior year providing a 
top down behavioural framework for all employees. Any 

acquisition proposals include comprehensive integration 
planning and contingency planning. The implication of a 
much more significant shift towards technology revenues 
(increasing to 44% of revenues in 2012 from 41% of 
revenues in 2011) means that roadmap planning, pipeline 
development and targeting are given significant focus as is 
risk management around product release. The Board fully 
recognises that no risk management process can eliminate 
risk but by a comprehensive approach, that is effectively 
linked operationally, the Board believes that it has an 
effective framework for risk management that can seek to 
minimise and mitigate the effect of risk crystallisation should 
it occur.

There is a formal Executive Committee consisting of the 
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer and business segment CEOs which meets 
regularly to discuss strategic and operational matters and 
associated risks to delivery of strategy.

The principal tool used by the SDL Board and the 
Executive Committee to monitor and report risk is the risk 
register. This register is submitted to the SDL Board for 
review twice a year. In addition in-depth reviews of specific 
items of risk are conducted as required by the Board 
throughout the year. 

There are policies, decision processes and escalation 
procedures in place throughout the business units 
designed to mitigate the effects of any occurring risks 
and these controls, checks and balances provide strong 
operational linkage to risk management processes.
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The principal operational, strategic and financial risks facing the Group in 2012 are listed below: 

OPERATIONAL RISKS

Description Risk Mitigation 2012/2013 Activity

Management 
of succession 
and transition 
processes, and 
Group key talent 
management 
and succession 
planning

Inconsistent leadership, 
inadequately trained staff or 
employee attrition that 
prevents delivery of strategic 
business objectives. 

The Group endeavours to 
provide relevant experience 
for future senior or key roles, 
competitive remuneration 
structures, including long 
and short term incentives, 
and ensures that there 
are open and transparent 
assessments, development 
plans and promotion 
opportunities that encourage 
employees to want to 
build long term careers with 
SDL.  

Appointment of a director of Human 
Resources planned for 2013.
Review by the Board of short and long-
term incentives to align with business 
targets.
Succession planning reviewed – with the 
focus on leadership development at sub 
main Board level.

System interruption 
and business 
continuity planning 
and policies 
for dealing 
with business 
interruption

A significant unplanned 
outage that causes a major 
business continuity issue. 

The Group focuses on business 
continuity planning and security 
of its data centre and hosting 
facilities. Business continuity 
planning considers alternative 
and distributed locations in the 
event that a significant office 
is taken out of operation. Due 
diligence in this area gives 
confidence and demonstrates 
a duty of care to customers 
and suppliers. Planning helps 
to safeguard SDL’s reputation 
as well as ensuring the 
company meets regulatory and 
contractual obligations.

Third party suppliers’ contingency and 
back up processes reviewed.
Buildings maintained in line with local 
regulations for fire protection/security.
Maintenance of Property Damage & 
Business interruption insurance cover. 

Data protection, 
data loss and data 
security

Loss of data or leak of 
critical data

Solutions for specific situations 
are incorporated into a 
systematic process which: 
• Examines SDL’s information 

security risks, threats, 
vulnerabilities and impacts;

• Addresses unacceptable risks 
with a comprehensive policy 
on control or other form of 
risk treatment; and

• Adopts an overarching 
management process to 
ensure that the information 
security controls continue 
to meet the business’ 
information security needs on 
an ongoing basis.

SDL achieved certification to ISO/IEC 
27001 for the UK. SDL to continues to 
expand the scope of our certification 
across other products and regions.
Security related reviews are conducted 
according to our policies and security 
standards. 
Third party data centres/hosting facilities 
managed to international security 
standards.

Compliance Risk Changes made to 
laws, regulations or 
standards worldwide 
could adversely impact 
the group’s capability or 
the marketability of our 
products.

Regular reviews ensure 
compliance with group 
policies and applicable laws, 
regulations and standards. 
Changes in legislation are 
monitored with the help of the 
Group’s financial and legal 
advisors where necessary.

Setting appropriate standards of 
behaviour is essential to compliance. The 
Code of Conduct considers and responds 
to matters raised in the UK Bribery Act.   
Compliance risk review is incorporated 
into ongoing audit plans.
Compliance and ethics now part of the 
induction process for new employees and 
embedded into the ‘Knowledge Series’ 
program for existing employees.
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Contract 
Management and 
Litigation Control

Customer and supplier 
contractual risk exposure.

The Legal function ensures 
that customer contracts are 
carefully prepared, reviewed, 
negotiated and approved in 
line with internal policies that 
have an escalation framework 
in place for referral to senior 
management.

The Group has strengthened its Legal 
function in 2012 with appointments to the 
UK and USA teams.
Suite of contract templates subject to 
periodic external review.
Comprehensive E&O and product 
insurance policies maintained.
Quarterly litigation review sent to the 
Board.

Research & 
Development risk 
(See also Research 
and Development 
section below)

Failure to develop products 
in the specified timeline.

Systematic and continuous 
project monitoring. R&D 
is not contentrated in one 
geographical site.

Commitment to professional 
development/training of the technology 
teams.

STRATEGIC RISKS

Acquisitions Realising the benefits of 
an investment depends 
upon achieving the planned 
performance of the acquired 
businesses after acquisition 
and successful integration 
into the Group.

The Group has clearly defined 
criteria for suitable acquisition 
targets and substantial due 
diligence, including detailed 
review of business plans, 
is carried out before any 
acquisition is made. The Group 
has extensive experience of 
integrating acquisitions and 
captures this knowledge for 
re-use.

In January 2012 the Alterian group 
was acquired following thorough risk 
analysis and due diligence. Integration 
with the SDL Group is now complete 
and contributions from Alterian to the 
extended group are under regular review.

Maintaining Tech-
nology Leadership 
and Intellectual 
Property Matters

The Group fails to develop 
products to keep up with 
current market trends or 
is exposed to intellectual 
property dispute.

The Group invests in research 
and development and has 
well integrated and planned 
innovation roadmaps and 
stringent delivery checkpoints.  

Focus on the link between product 
strategy and product development. 
Continued investment into R&D for 
software and systems.
Commitment to professional 
development/training of the technology 
teams.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Liquidity Risk
(See also Liquidity 
Risk section below)

Cash reserves and working 
capital are not sufficient to 
repay debts as they fall due.

The Group is cash generative. 
The methodology for dealing 
with liquidity risk through 
strong generation of free cash 
flow is dealt with in note 24 in 
the Financial Review.

In depth review of order processing and 
effective billing and credit controls at 
specific business units. This review will 
be rolled out to other worldwide business 
units.

Interest Rate Risk
(See also Interest 
Rate Risk section 
below)

Profit and loss and cash 
effect of increased interest 
rates on group borrowing 
facilities. 

The mitigating strategy for this 
risk is covered in note 24.

Revolving loan facility with RBS in place 
and employed in 2012 for the acquisition 
of Alterian. There were no additional 
operational consequences for SDL.

Currency 
Movements
(See also Foreign 
Currency Risk 
section below)

Inter company trading 
exposes the Company to 
currency risk.
Adverse effect on future 
cash flows and/or reported 
results.

Specific strategy not to hedge 
currency.

Clear reporting to the Board that sets out 
currency impacts on performances.
Controlled program in place to review and 
settle inter company balances.

Counterparty Risk
(see also 
Counterparty Risk 
section below)

The risk that a counterparty 
does not meet their 
contractual obligations and 
that this leads to a loss 
for the SDL Group.  RBS 
and affiliates are principal 
counterparties.

Cash deposits are held in 
multiple currencies in a range 
of financial institutions.

During 2012 SDL has maintained its 
structured approach to the risk: careful 
selection/review of counterparty, 
documentation and management of cash 
deposits.
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Research and Development Risk 

The Board operate a policy of selective investment towards 
growth opportunities. Research and Development expenditure 
is considered to be critical to maintaining and enhancing 
the calibre of our end-to-end product offering. As described 
in note 2 to the accounts, our policy is only to capitalise 
development expenditure when all the criteria required under 
International Financial Reporting Standards are met. During 
the year there has been no capitalisation of development 
expenditures primarily due to the late achievement of 
technical and commercial feasibility in the development cycle. 
The development expenditures occur against a range of 
products, with some development occurring over a relatively 
short time cycle and some over a longer time cycle. There 
were 41 product releases in 2012, with the key product 
launches described in the Chairman & Chief Executive 
Officer’s statement. The Chief Technology Officer actively 
monitors the development roadmaps of all products, together 
with necessary product integrations and development 
progress is reported to the Board. The Board is comfortable 
that the development expenditures are properly accounted 
for, spread across a range of robustly monitored products and 
that this represents sound investment.

Liquidity Risk

Free cash flow continues to be a priority for the Board in 
order to maintain a high level of stability and opportunity 
for strategic investments. In order to achieve high free cash 
flow the Board focuses on management of working capital 
including maintenance of strong credit control on receivables, 
active tracking of work in progress, operational expenditure 
and capital investment controls. The Group uses an average 
metric on DSO to generate consistent improvement in 
receivables management over time.

The ratio of capital expenditure to revenue was 2% of revenue 
in 2012 (1.7% of revenue in 2011).

The significant capital expenditures were payments in 
accordance with the Microsoft enterprise agreement entered 
into in 2009, investments in IT hardware for cloud based 
technologies, office expansion and routine IT renewals.

Controlling credit exposure continues to be a major area of 
focus for the Board and executive management. Average DSO 
in 2012 was at 58.6 days, higher than the 51.5 days in 2011. 
On a like for like basis with 2011, excluding the acquired the 
Alterian business, average DSO was 50.9. Significant progress 
has been made improving free cash generation in the Alterian 
business. 

Interest Rate Risk

The draw-down against the committed facilities in 2012 
to fund the Alterian acquisition has exposed the Group to 
interest rate risk. The committed facilities that the Group holds 
with RBS link interest rate to the LIBOR (or equivalent) rate. 
The group is not required to maintain any interest rate hedge 
against this facility and therefore does not do so. Debt market 
conditions and competitive market offerings are continually 
tracked and monitored.

The Group maintains cash deposits denominated in key 
operating currencies, including GBP Pound, US Dollar, Euros 
and Yen, to ensure financial flexibility to finance working 
capital requirements, fund growth initiatives, projects and 
strategic development opportunities. These deposits are 
affected by movements in interest rates and the Group seeks 
to match cash surpluses to actual operational requirements 
where possible via a comprehensive process to effectively 
manage funding of local entities. The Group continues to 
value security of deposits over absolute commercial return, 
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avoiding institutional and territorial risk and placing emphasis 
on secure relationship banks. The group has placed its cash 
mainly in secure deposits of varying durations all less than 
one year (all of which are accessible on demand). The Group 
continues to avoid excessive cash retention in subsidiaries 
and cash balances in subsidiaries have been maintained as 
low as operationally practicable. The Group continues to 
selectively use dual currency deposits as a mechanism to 
arbitrage up applied interest rates whilst taking no deposit 
security risk. This has partially mitigated the significant decline 
in deposit rates on invested cash available in the global 
financial markets.

Foreign Currency Risk

The business is exposed to foreign currency movements with 
significant invoicing done in both the US Dollar and Euro. 
This gives rise to short-term debtors and cash balances in 
US Dollar and Euros with movements in exchange rates 
impacting the balance sheet. The sensitivity of the business 
to movements in key foreign currency rates is disclosed in 
note 24 to the accounts. The key sensitivity remains to the US 
Dollar where the Group has the greatest disparity between 
revenues and costs. Percentages of Euro derived revenues 
to Euro derived costs are better aligned. Where possible the 
Group attempts to match cost commitments to revenues in 
Euro and US Dollar zone economies. 

The Board is comfortable with its decision not to hedge and 
whilst it continues to review its position on this matter, this is 
unlikely to change in the short term. It consistently monitors 
balance sheet exposure and global economic data for 
discontinuities in exchange rates. 

Counterparty Risk

The Group holds cash deposits in multiple currencies, 
principally GB Pound, US Dollar and Euro in a range of 
financial institutions. The main counterparty risk from a bank 
deposit perspective is with RBS and its affiliates. The Group 
maintains an active dialogue at a senior level with RBS about 
the organisation’s strategic development since the changes 
in RBS’ shareholder structure through formal meetings which 
review every aspect of the business relationship. The Group 
has continued to monitor interest rate conditions in each 
territory in which it operates to seek to maximise return on 
invested cash whilst taking minimal risk on deposit security, 
which has been the primary driver of cash investment 
decisions, and will remain so as long as the global economy 
exhibits signs of fragility.
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Mark Lancaster, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, age 51  
(Appointed: 31 January 1992 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Mark Lancaster founded the company in 1992, having 
identified the need for a high-level technology and solutions 
provider managing business’ content in global markets. 
Mark is a graduate in electrical and electronic engineering. 
He started his career as an electronics and computer 
design engineer before moving into project management at 
Lotus Development Corporation and later as international 
development director with Ashton-Tate. He is responsible for 
the strategic direction of the Group.

Matthew Knight, Chief Financial Officer, age 41  
(Appointed: 14 April 2011 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Matthew Knight graduated from Imperial College in 1993 
with a BEng in Mechanical Engineering. He is a member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales 
and qualified with Deloitte in 1996. Matthew has extensive 
experience of the software and services industry and 
worked for Logica PLC where he held a variety of UK and 
international roles including Northern & Central Europe Chief 
Financial Officer.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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David Clayton, Senior Independant Director, age 56  
(Appointed: 16 December 2009 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Until 30 June 2012, David Clayton was Group Director of 
Strategy and Corporate Development for SAGE plc. After a 
career in senior executive roles at a number of international 
technology companies he joined BZW where, after its 
merger with CSFB in 1997, he was Managing Director 
and Head of European Technology Research until 2004. 
David Clayton joined the Sage Board in June 2004 as a 
non-executive director and took up an executive role from 
October 2007 to June 2012.

______________________________________________________

Chris Batterham, age 57 
(Appointed: 15 October 1999 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Chris Batterham is a Chartered Accountant with significant 
experience in the business services sector. He was Finance 
Director of Unipalm plc, the first internet company to float 
on the London Stock Exchange, and, latterly, Chief Financial 
Officer of Searchspace Group until 2005. He currently holds 
a number of non-executive directorships including Office 2 
Office plc, Toumaz Holdings Ltd, Iomart plc and is Chairman 
of Eckoh plc.

 

______________________________________________________

Joe Campbell, age 54  
(Appointed: 1 July 2005 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Joe Campbell joined SDL as a non-executive director on 
1 July 2005 following the acquisition of Trados Inc where 
he was CEO. Prior to Trados, he was COO of iManage, 
a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq. He adds a 
considerable level of expertise in enterprise software sales 
and experience of the US financial markets and M&A 
activity. 

______________________________________________________

Mandy Gradden, age 45 
(Appointed: 30 January 2012 - reappointed 17 April 2012)

Mandy Gradden is an experienced corporate CFO with 
more than 20 years financial and senior management 
experience. In January 2013 she was appointed Group 
CFO of the Top Right Group the private-equity owned B2B 
media and events business. Previous roles include: CFO of 
the private-equity owned Torex, the retail technology firm; 
CFO at the FTSE 250 business and technology consultancy, 
Detica; Director of Corporate Development at Telewest 
Communications; and Group Financial Controller at Dalgety. 
She began her career at Price Waterhouse, where she spent 
eight years and where, in 1992, she qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant.

______________________________________________________

None of the directors have been accused of, or been 
reported as, acting in breach of professional conduct by 
any Regulatory or Statutory Authority.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1 Introduction

The Board provides SDL with an excellent balance of 
governance and leadership and is made up of a diversity of 
talents and views from various sectors and skills including 
technology, accountancy, publishing and retail. Our annual 
evaluation which was externally facilitated in 2012, has 
suggested some minor adjustments but no major changes.

A number of Board changes have been made during the 
year.

At the start of 2012, Mandy Gradden was appointed as 
a non-executive director, strengthening the independent 
component of the Board and bringing financial as well as 
PLC experience to the Board. Although John Matthews did 
not seek re-election at the April 2012 AGM John remains 
as an independent advisor to the Board. In 2012 John has 
brought significant value in challenging Board structure and 
decisions.

Jane Thompson left the Board in April 2012 to focus on her 
own business interests.

In November 2012 Mark Lancaster assumed the combined 
role of Chairman & Chief Executive Officer following John 
Hunter’s resignation as CEO. Whilst non-compliant with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code 2010, the appointment 
of Mark Lancaster is seen by the Board and SDL’s major 
shareholders as the right solution to ensure strategic 
and operational continuity whilst maintaining appropriate 
standards of corporate governance, Mark Lancaster having 
chaired the SDL Board for a number of years efficiently and 
effectively.

The Board understands that corporate governance is about 
balancing the need to drive strategy and growth whilst 
maintaining safeguards and controls. It is not viewed as 
an annual exercise set apart from the work of managing 
the group. It is a framework of checks and balances that 
complements and permeates our decisions through which 
we, on behalf of the stakeholders, strive to improve upon 
the success of the group. The Board’s aim is to provide 
effective leadership and control within the framework of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code 2010. Where we do not 
comply with the Code we have sought the approval of our 
major shareholders to do so and these exceptions where 
we believe the Group’s best interests are served by not 
observing the letter of the Code are explained below. We 
are committed to transparent reporting of our compliance 
position. 

UK Code Compliance

The Board considers that during the year ended 31 
December 2012 the Company complied with all of the 
provisions of The UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 
(the Code) with the exception of A.2.1. In November 2012, 
following John Hunter’s resignation as Chief Executive 
Officer, Mark Lancaster assumed the role of Chief Executive 
Officer. Mark Lancaster’s exercise of both Chairman and 
Chief Executive roles is a non-compliance with A.2.1 of the 
Code which requires clear division of responsibilities. The 
appointment of Mark Lancaster was seen by the Board 
and SDL’s shareholders as a pragmatic solution to ensure 
strategic and operational continuity.

2 Governance

Leadership

The business environment is an evolving landscape and 
good governance is viewed by the Board as an essential 
tool to help focus on understanding the scope of its 
key responsibilities and discharge those responsibilities 
thoughtfully and thoroughly. The Board works hard to 
build and maintain an effective governance framework and 
provide effective leadership.

The Board is responsible for delivering value to shareholders 
and stakeholders. It sets the long-term direction and 
strategy and monitors the performance of the executives, 
to whom it delegates the management of the business, 
against these objectives. The Board has a formal schedule 
of matters which includes:

• Strategy, objectives and budgets
• Annual and interim reporting
• Material acquisitions and disposals of assets
• Investments, capital projects and risk management 

policies
• Changes in capital structure
• The appointment of directors and other senior 

appointments
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The Board consists of two executive directors and four 
non-executive directors. Biographical details are set out on 
pages 27 to 28.

Three of the six Board members are independent non-
executive directors: David Clayton, Joe Campbell and 
Mandy Gradden. Chris Batterham remains on the Board 
as a non-executive director. Mr Batterham is no longer 
considered to be independent under the Code having 
served on the Board for more than nine years. However, 
his objectivity and willingness to challenge management 
have not been compromised in any way by his tenure and 
so he is considered to have been independent throughout 
the year by the Company. Furthermore, his presence on the 
Board maintains continuity and retains his expertise and 
knowledge of the Company’s business. John Matthews 
who resigned from the Board as a non-executive director 
in April 2012 continues to work with the Company under 

a consultancy agreement in order to effect an orderly 
transition of his responsibilities and to assist the Board with 
various tasks.

The non-executive directors bring an external view and 
provide direction on current best practices. They all hold or 
have held senior positions in industry and are of sufficient 
calibre to constructively challenge proposals and scrutinise 
management performance. The non-executive directors 
meet during the year without executive directors or other 
executive management present.

The Board considers that effective communication between 
Board members is crucial to leadership and delivery. The 
Board meets regularly and usually with full participation of 
all Board members – see the Composition and Attendance 
table below. 

Length of tenure of Directors in years

A

B

C

D

31

1

1

Board Composition at 31 December 2012

Mandy Gradden

Joe Campbell

Chris Batterham

David Clayton

Matthew Knight

Mark Lancaster

1
Years

8

14

4

2

20

A 3 (50%) Independent non executive directors
B 1 Non-independant non-executive director
C 1 Executive director
D 1 Executive Chairman/CEO
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations on Board appointments and on 
maintaining a balance of skills and experience on the Board 
and its committees. Succession planning for the Board 
is a matter which is devolved primarily to the nomination 
committee, although the committee’s deliberations are 
reported to and debated by the full Board. Further details 
of the work undertaken by the nomination committee are 
given on page 33. Appointments to the Board are preceded 
by an evaluation of the balance of skills, experience and 
knowledge of the current Board members. 

The Board has agreed a succession planning framework 
to ensure that Board tenure is appropriate and encourages 
fresh thinking and new ideas, is sufficiently diverse with 
an appropriate mix of general and specialist skills and 
non-executive directors have the necessary level of 
independence from the executive and each other.

Without seeking to set a specific goal for female 
representation on the Board, it remains our commitment to 
maintain a high level of diversity, including gender diversity, 
within the Boardroom, appropriate to and reflecting the 
global nature of the Company and the strategic imperatives 
the Board has agreed upon. Out of a total of 6 Board 
members there is currently one female and one US national.

All directors offer themselves for re-election on an annual 
basis in line with the UK Corporate Governance Code. 

The Board is aware of the other commitments of its 
directors and is satisfied that these do not conflict with their 
duties as directors of the Company. The non-executive 
directors are expected to commit 12-24 days per annum 
and the Board is satisfied that each commits sufficient 
time to the business of the Company. Changes to the 
commitments of the directors are reported to the Board.

Board composition and attendance

Current Directors: Date Appointed Board Audit Committee Remuneration Committee

Mark Lancaster 31 January 1992 8/8 3* 1*

Matthew Knight 14 April 2011 8/8 4* 4*

David Clayton 16 December 2009 8/8 4/4 6/6

Chris Batterham 15 October 1999 8/8 4/4 1*

Joe Campbell 1 July 2005 7/8 - 6/6

Mandy Gradden 30 January 2012 8/8 4/4 6/6

Directors who stepped down in 2012

Date resigned from Board Board Audit Committee Remuneration Committee

Jane Thompson 17 April 2012 0/2 - 3/3

John Matthews 17 April 2012 2/2 - -

John Hunter 2 November 2012 6/6 3* -

*Attendance by invitation 

The composition of the Board during 2012 is set out in the table below.

During 2012:

30 January 2012 Mandy Gradden 
appointed as non-executive director.

17 April 2012 Jane Thompson and 
John Matthews, both non-executive 
directors, did not seek re-election 
at the AGM. David Clayton, senior 
non-executive director, succeeded 
Jane Thompson as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee.

2 November 2012 John Hunter 
resigned as Chief Executive Officer. 
Mark Lancaster, Executive Chairman, 
assumed the role of Chairman & 
Chief Executive Officer.
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Independence and Conflicts of interest

The Board considers that during 2012 all non-executive 
directors were independent of executive management. 

For any director of the Company to be considered 
independent, the Board must determine that the director 
has no material relationship (whether financial, business, 
personal or otherwise) with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries or affiliates, either directly or as a partner, 
shareholder or officer of an organisation which in turn has 
a relationship with them. The Board considers each of its 
independent non-executive directors to be independent in 
character and judgment and there are no relationships or 
circumstances which are likely to affect (or could appear 
to affect) the judgment of such non-executive directors, 
notwithstanding that in the case of Chris Batterham who 
has served on the Board for more than nine years.

No independent non-executive director has:
• been an employee of the Group within the last five years; 
• had within the last three years, a material business 

relationship with the Group; 
• received remuneration other than a director’s fee; 
• had close family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, 

directors or senior employees; 
• held cross-directorships or had significant links with 

other directors through involvement in other companies 
or bodies; or

• represented a significant shareholder

The non-executive directors meet formally at least 
once a year without executive management to enable 
free discussion on the performance of the executive 
management. 

The Board is committed to the transparent disclosure, 
management and monitoring of actual potential or 
perceived conflicts of interest. Section 175 of the 
Companies Act 2006 provides that directors have a 
statutory duty to avoid a situation in which they have, or 
can have, an interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, 
with the interests of the company. The Board considers 
that during 2012 the interests of the Directors, with the 
exception referred to below, did not present any conflicts or 
potential conflicts with the Company.

• The Board recognises and keeps under review Joe 
Campbell’s interest in the ongoing litigation involving 
Trados Inc. Mr Campbell was Chief Executive Officer of 
Trados until the group was acquired by SDL PLC in 2005. 
Furthermore Mr Campbell does not participate in any 
Board decisions concerning this issue where he has or 
may have a conflict of interest.

Effectiveness
Board calendar for 2012 and activities

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Board meetings x x x x x x x x

AGM x

Strategy/Planning meetings x x

Audit Committee x x x x

Nomination Committee x

Remuneration Committee x x x x x x

• Business strategy: Review main strategic issues 
(including two-day strategy off-site meeting). Appraisals 
of acquisitions. Approval of a £7m working capital facility. 

• Diversity & talent: Succession planning – new non-
executive director and CEO appointed. Worldwide 
talent review. Board performance – external evaluation 
undertaken.

• Business performance: Review and approval of final, 
half year and interim reports. Recommendation of the 
2011 final dividend. Performance monitoring - operations 
updates; CEO reports; business development reports.

• Financials: Long range forecasts. Management 
accounts. CFO’s reports.

• Governance and risks: Risk register reviews and 
updates. Reviewed Board committees’ terms of 
reference. Board review after external evaluation. Health 
& Safety compliance

• Social Responsibility: Funding of the SDL Foundation. 
Environmental policy - carbon footprint measurement 
extended to other sites worldwide.

• Investor relations: Teach-ins for analysts. Meetings with 
investors and potential investors.

In 2012 the Board met eight times. The main areas of focus were:
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Indemnification of directors

In accordance with our articles of association and to the extent permitted by 
the laws of England and Wales, directors are granted an indemnity from the 
Company in respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office. In respect of 
those matters for which the directors may not be indemnified, we maintained 
a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the financial year. 
Neither our indemnity nor the insurance provides cover in the event that a director 
is proven to have acted dishonestly or fraudulently.

The Committee memberships in 2012 were as follows:

Audit 
Committee

David Clayton 
Chairman

Chris Batterham Mandy Gradden Jane Thompson 
(resigned)

Remuneration 
Committee

David Clayton
Chairman

Joe Campbell Mandy Gradden Jane Thompson 
(resigned)

Nomination 
Committee

Mark Lancaster
Chairman

Joe Campbell David Clayton John Matthews 
(resigned)

Board Committees

Director re-election 

All the directors submit themselves for 
re-election at the AGM to be held on 30 
April 2013. 

The Board has delegated certain 
responsibilities to its committees 
whose terms of reference are regularly 
reviewed and are available on the 
Company’s website at 
www.sdl.com.

The Audit Committee (see the Audit Committee report on 
page 35) is led by David Clayton. The Board considers that 
the committee chairman has sufficient and relevant financial 
experience to discharge the committee’s duties. David 
Clayton, in his most recent executive role as Group Strategy 
and Mergers and Acquisitions Director for The Sage Group 
plc, has considerable relevant experience and a strong 
governance background. 
 
The other members are:
Mandy Gradden who is a Chartered Accountant and an 
experienced corporate CFO with more than 20 years 
financial and senior management experience; and Chris 
Batterham. Chris Batterham is a Chartered Accountant with 
significant experience in the business services sector. He 
currently holds a number of non-executive directorships 
including Office 2 Office plc, Toumaz Holdings Ltd, Iomart 
plc and is Chairman of Eckoh plc.

The Remuneration Committee is led by David Clayton 
with Joe Campbell and Mandy Gradden as members. 
Joe Campbell joined SDL as a non-executive director on 
1 July 2005 following the acquisition of Trados Inc where 
he was CEO. He adds a considerable level of expertise in 
enterprise software sales and experience of the US financial 
markets and M&A activity. Prior to Trados, he was COO of 
iManage, a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq. Mandy 
Gradden was appointed to the Committee on 30 January 
2012 and Jane Thompson stepped down as Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee in April 2012. Full details of the 
committee’s composition, role, authority and activities are 
set out in the report on directors’s remuneration on page 40 
which will be subject to an advisory vote by shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2013.

The Nomination Committee consists of Mark Lancaster 
(as Chairman), David Clayton and Joe Campbell. John 
Matthews stepped down from the Committee in February 
2012. 

The role of the Committee is to review the structure, size 
and composition of the Board, its ongoing relevance to the 
nature of the business, identify and nominate new Board 
appointment candidates, evaluate the balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience on the Board and consider any 
conflicts of interest that may be reported by directors of the 
Group.

Induction and professional development and advice
The Company has a director induction programme which 
was operated during 2012 for Mandy Gradden. It covers 
matters such as the operations and activities of the Group, 
the Group’s key financial and non-financial risks and the 
role of the Board and its Committees. The director receives 
information about the Company’s corporate governance 
practices and procedures and is advised of their legal duties 
and obligations as a director of a listed company.

Board knowledge and training needs forms part of the 
Board evaluation and the Chairman is responsible for 
the development needs of the Board ensuring that all 
directors receive continuing training in order that they can 
appropriately perform their duties. This is done through 
presentations at Board meetings on business matters 
and technical update sessions from internal and external 
advisers and regular updates on changes affecting the 
Company and the market in which it operates through 
briefings from senior executives and meetings with key 
advisers.
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We continue to be an equal opportunities employer and will maintain our merit 
based approach to recruitment and promotion. SDL has a good record of 
promoting and appointing women to senior positions with women currently 
holding 50% of our management/ senior executive positions. The aim of the 
Board is to ensure that SDL has the right balance of skills, diversity (in all forms), 
and experience throughout the Company.

Copies of the Terms of Reference 
are available, on request, from the 
Company Secretary and on the 
Group’s website in the Investor 
Relations section.

Independent advice
The Board recognises that there may be occasions when 
one or more of the directors feels it is necessary to take 
independent legal and/or financial advice at the Company’s 
expense. 

Directors are given access to independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense when the directors 
deem it necessary in order for them to carry out their 
responsibilities. The directors also have access to the 
advice and services of the Company Secretary who is 
responsible to the Board for ensuring that procedures 
are followed and that applicable rules and regulations 
are complied with and that Board discussions have 
effective minutes taken with formal records kept of Board 
discussions. The Company seeks to ensure that the 
directors receive appropriate training covering such things 
as their legal obligations as directors and compliance with 
Stock Exchange Rules. 

Board Evaluation
We have recently completed our first external Board 
evaluation which was led by Lintstock Limited.

The first stage of the review involved Lintstock engaging 
with the Chairman and the Company Secretary to set the 
context for the evaluation and to tailor the questionnaires 
used to the specific circumstances of SDL.

All respondents were then requested to complete an 
online questionnaire addressing the performance of the 
Board, Committees and the Chairman. The anonymity of all 
respondents was ensured in order to promote the open and 
frank exchange of views. 

The questionnaires addressed the following issues:

• Board Composition, Expertise and Dynamics

• Board Support, Time Management and Board 
Committees

• Strategic, Operational and Risk Oversight

• A recent M&A Case Study Transaction

The findings were presented at a Board meeting on 11 
December 2012 which was facilitated by a partner from 
Lintstock. The following areas were addressed in the report:

• The current composition of the Board was reviewed and 
the attributes which ought to be sought in future non-
executive director appointments were identified, as were 
their priority.

• The structure of Board meetings and the quality of the 
materials presented to the Board were considered. The 

exposure of management, who are not Board members, 
to the Board and their performance in presenting to the 
Board were also evaluated.

• The balance between the operational and strategic 
oversight role of the Board was considered and Board 
members’ views as to the strategic priorities of the 
company were also identified. 

• The approach of the Board to the nature and extent of 
the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its 
strategic objectives was evaluated and Board members’ 
views as to the key risks facing the company were also 
identified.

• The performance of the Board in a recent case study 
M&A transaction was considered, including the Board’s 
interaction with management.

• The priorities in a new CEO appointment were 
considered and the role of the Board in overseeing 
human resources and succession amongst top 
management was also discussed.

• The composition and performance of the Committees 
of the Board was considered in the review, as was the 
performance of the Chairman.

The review content for each subsequent annual evaluation 
is designed to build upon learning gained in the previous 
year to ensure that the recommendations agreed in the 
review are implemented and that year-on-year progress is 
measured. 

Lintstock was engaged on a 3 year Board Development 
Programme. It is envisaged that Lintstock will conduct 
interviews of Board members in the following year, which 
will also include an Upward Review of the Board by the 
Executive Management Team.
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Membership in 2012
David Clayton – Chairman
Chris Batterham
Mandy Gradden – appointed 30 January 2012
Jane Thompson – resigned 17 April 2012

Membership in 2013 
David Clayton - Chairman
Chris Batterham
Mandy Gradden

The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of non-executive 
directors: David Clayton (Chairman), Chris Batterham and 
Mandy Gradden. Each of the directors on the Committee 
has, through their other business activities and/or 
professional qualifications, significant recent and relevant 
experience in financial matters. 

Executive directors, advisors and the Group Financial 
Controller (who is independent of local financial functions 
and who heads up the worldwide Site Audit function) and 
senior representatives from the external auditors attend 
each meeting if requested by the Committee Chairman. At 
least once each year, the Committee meets with the external 
auditors without executive management present. From 
time to time, the Committee Chairman also meets in private 
session with the external auditors without any other member 
of management being present.

Role
The purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board to fulfil 
its responsibilities in respect of:
• overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process, 

including the internal control structure and procedures 
for financial reporting and monitoring the integrity and 
appropriateness of the Group’s financial statements;

• the manner in which the Group’s management ensures 
and monitors the adequacy of financial, operational 
and compliance internal controls and risk management 
processes designed to manage significant risk exposures;

• the selection, compensation, independence and 
performance of the Group’s external auditors; and

• the independence and performance of any internal audit.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed in 
November 2012. They include all relevant matters required 
by s7.1.3 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the 
UK Corporate Governance Code and are available at  
www.sdl.com/aboutus/investors/terms-of-reference.html or 
on request from the Company Secretary.

Non-audit services above £20,000 are sanctioned formally 
by the Audit Committee evaluating the nature of the work 
and fees involved and the materiality of the fees. Expertise 
being provided is very closely monitored as are any non-
audit relationships between the Group and the Auditors. 
Other accounting firms are also used for non-audit services, 
including taxation advice and compliance where it is cost 
effective and efficient to do so. The objective of maintaining 
a policy on non-audit services is to ensure the external 
auditor’s independence. The external auditor is not engaged 
to perform any service where the output is then subject to 
their review as external auditor. The total sum invoiced to the 
Group by its external auditor for non-audit services provided 
in 2012 was £211,000 representing 38% (2011: 47%). The 
total sum invoiced for audit services for the same period was 
£349,000. 

The Committee is satisfied with the auditor’s effectiveness 
and independence and has not considered it necessary 
to require an independent tender process since the last 
competitive audit tender in 2010.

3 AUDIT COMMITTEE

Composition
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Activities in 2012
The Audit Committee met four times during 2012. Matters 
considered by the Committee included: 
Financial reporting
• Review with both management and the external auditor of 

the appropriateness of the half-year and annual financial 
statements:
• the quality and acceptability of accounting policies 

and practices;
• the clarity of the disclosures and compliance with 

financial reporting standards and governance 
reporting requirements;

• material areas in which significant judgements have 
been applied or there has been discussion with the 
external auditor; and

• any correspondence from regulators in relation to 
financial reporting.

• The primary areas of judgement considered by the 
Committee in relation to the 2012 accounts were:
• in relation to taxation, both the provisioning for 

potential current tax liabilities and the appropriateness 
of deferred tax asset recognition in relation to 
accumulated tax losses;

• project cost accounting and the procedures around 
the cost to complete; and

• software license revenue recognition.

Internal control and risk management
• The Committee received regular updates from the Group 

Financial Controller on the outcomes of the Site Visit 
program. These audits of Group entities assess not 
only compliance risks and vulnerabilities, but also best 
practices that the Controller shares with the Group. If 
a particular entity’s audit report indicates a compliance 
issue, the Controller issues recommendations for 
corrective action to address the problem. A follow up visit 
is scheduled to ensure compliance with Company policy 
and protocols.

• The Committee considered the effectiveness of internal 
controls in preventing fraud or misstatement. 

Internal audit
• The Committee monitored the need for and potential 

scope of an Internal Audit department. The Committee 
has decided that the current procedures and 
escalations on risk, control and governance from the 
risk management framework – see above - together 
with the external auditors, are sufficient assurance 
and no internal audit function is required at this time. 
These arrangements, currently considered sufficient and 
appropriate for the Company, will be kept under review.

External audit
• The Committee received a detailed audit plan from KPMG 

at the start of the audit cycle, identifying their assessment 
of key risks. For 2012 the primary risks identified were in 
relation to acquisition accounting, goodwill and intangible 
asset impairment and technology licence revenue 
recognition due to the inherent management judgement 
required in these areas. These risks are tracked through 
the year when reported by KPMG.

• The Committee held private meetings with the external 
auditor at each Committee meeting. Matters typically 
discussed include the auditor’s assessment of business 
risks and management activity thereon, the transparency 
and openness of interactions with management, 
confirmation that there has been no restriction in scope 
placed on them by management, independence of 
their audit and how they have exercised professional 
scepticism. 

Appointment and independence 
• The Committee considers the reappointment of the 

external auditor, including the rotation of the audit partner, 
each year and also assesses their independence on 
an ongoing basis. In accordance with section 489 of 
the Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing the 
reappointment of KPMG Audit Plc as our auditor will be 
put to the shareholders at the 2013 AGM. There are no 
contractual obligations restricting the Committee’s choice 
of external auditor and we do not indemnify our external 
auditor.

As part of the formal annual Board evaluation the 
Committee’s effectiveness is reviewed. Following the review 
in 2012 it was concluded that its performance was effective. 
A number of changes have been agreed to be implemented 
for the forthcoming year. Details of the Board and 
Committee evaluation process can be found under “Board 
evaluation” on page 34.
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The Chairman & CEO is responsible for ensuring that there 
is continuing and effective communication with shareholders 
and that all the directors are made aware should any major 
shareholders have issues and concerns. Communication 
with the shareholders is principally via the executive 
directors although the Senior Independent Director is also 
available, when requested, for meetings with investors on 
issues relating to the group’s governance and strategy.

The Company has a proactive investor programme which 
aims to meet the differing information needs of the Group’s 
diverse shareholders. Members of the Board take time to 
discuss the business model with fund managers, longer term 

perspectives with pension funds and insurance companies 
and provide compliance data for governance departments. 

The Senior Independent Director met with major investors 
on corporate governance matters and regularly met with 
the Company’s broker to review their corporate broking 
arrangements.

During 2012 the members of the Board took part in a 
programme of events which included analyst meetings, 
roadshows and one:one meetings with investors. 

See below.

FY results Trading update HY results Trading update IMS Trading update

AGM

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Analyst 
presentation

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Investor day Investor day Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Analyst conference Shareholder 
meeting

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Roadshow Roadshow

1:1 meetings (London & Edinburgh) 1:1 meetings 
(London & 
Edinburgh)
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Investor Type Summary % Of ISC 
At 15/02/13

Fund Manager Type Summary % Of ISC 
At 15/02/13

A Mutual Funds
B Pensions
C Insurance
D Retail
E Investment Trusts
F Trading
G SWF
H Others (<1.6% individually)

A Asset Manager
B Pension
C Insurance
D Mutual
E Trading
F Inv Trust
G Others (<2% individually)

Company 
information 
releases

Analyst, 
broker and 
shareholder 
meetings
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AGM
www.sdl.com/investor
The principal communication with private investors is 
via the website, annual report and through the AGM, 
an occasion which is attended by all of our directors 
and at which all shareholders present are given the 
opportunity to question the Chairman, the Chairmen 
of the Committees and the rest of the Board. After the 
AGM shareholders can meet informally with directors. 
The proxy votes cast in relation to all resolutions, 
including details of votes withheld, are disclosed to 
those in attendance at the meeting and the results of 
the poll are published on our website and announced 
via the Regulatory News Service. Financial and other 
information is made available on our website which is 
regularly updated.

The topics on which the company engaged with investors 
during 2012 were:
• Financial results – formal presentations of full year and 

half-year results, including regular meetings between 
institutional investors and analysts, and the Chairman/
Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer to discuss 
business performance;

• Researching the institutional investor community with 
a view to increasing the geographic diversity of our 
shareholders;

• The strategy and objectives both pre and post the 
acquisition of Alterian plc;

• Implementation of the strategy;
• Organisational re-structure to incorporate a Customer 

Experience Management division;
• Succession planning.

In addition to the AGM the company communicates 
with its shareholders via the annual and interim reports. 
Significant matters relating to the trading or development 
of the business are disseminated to the market via Stock 
Exchange announcements which also appear on the 
company’s website (www.sdl.com).

FY results Trading update HY results Trading update IMS Trading update

AGM

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Analyst 
presentation

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Investor day Investor day Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Analyst conference Shareholder 
meeting

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Shareholder & 
Broker meetings

Roadshow Roadshow

1:1 meetings (London & Edinburgh) 1:1 meetings 
(London & 
Edinburgh)
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
Information not subject to audit

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Letter from the Remuneration Committee Chairman

Dear Shareholders,

I’m pleased to present the report on directors’ remuneration for 2012. 

In September 2012 the department of Business Skills and Innovation (‘BIS’) issued consultative papers on the subject of 
executive pay and we have taken this opportunity to review our remuneration report enhancing our disclosures in response 
to BIS recommendations and moving towards compliance with regulations which will apply to reports published in 2014 
and beyond.

Furthermore, the Remuneration Committee will review the executive incentive programme (including the Long Term 
Incentive Plan) with a view to putting any recommended changes to shareholders at our AGM in 2014, the same time as the 
binding vote on policy is introduced.

We have divided the report into the following discrete sections to make it clearer and easier to understand:

This letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is a summary of the highlights of 2012 and provides the 
context against which decisions have been made.

Page 40. The composition and activities of the Remuneration Committee.

Page 41. Details of our current reward packages, 

Pages 42 to 44. A summary of remuneration for the 2012 financial year including a table that shows total remuneration 
paid during the year.

Page 47. A forward-looking statement setting out our priorities for the next financial period.

Pages 47 to 48. All other disclosures currently required by statute or best practice guidelines.

Summary of key decisions on remuneration
Our remuneration policies and executive pay packages are designed to be competitive and drive behaviour in order to 
achieve long-term strategic goals. When making decisions we are mindful of the performance of the company, market 
economies and shareholder feedback as well as the need to adapt to our market and competitive environment. 

The key decisions made during the year are described in more detail on the following pages – see ‘Activities during 2012’.

The Remuneration Committee takes an active interest in investors’ views and were delighted that last year the remuneration 
report received a 98.4% vote in favour. We hope to receive your continued support at the AGM on 30 April 2013.

David Clayton

Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee
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The Remuneration Committee is comprised entirely of 
independent non-executive directors: David Clayton 
(Chairman), Joe Campbell and Mandy Gradden (who 
joined the Committee on 30 January 2012). The Executive 
Chairman & CEO, CFO, internal and external advisers may 
be invited to attend committee meetings as and when 
appropriate. No Committee members have a financial 
interest in the company other than in their capacity as 
shareholders and directors. No director is involved in 
deciding his or her own remuneration.

Role

The key objective of the committee is, on behalf of the 
Board, to assess and recommend the policy on executive 
remuneration and packages for the individual executive 
directors.

The committee’s responsibilities include:

• determining, on behalf of the Board, the policy on 
the remuneration of the Chairman and the executive 
directors;

• operating within recognised principles of good 
governance; and

• preparing an annual report on directors’ remuneration.

The Board itself determines the remuneration of the non-
executive directors, and also has responsibility for electing 
persons to the Board. The Remuneration Committee does 
not have authority to employ or dismiss directors. 

Activities during 2012

During 2012 the Committee met six times. The principal 
agenda items were: 

• review of the total compensation packages of the 
executive directors;

• approval of the payout of the executive bonus scheme for 
the 2011 performance period;

• review of the design and operation of the Long-Term 
Incentive plan ‘LTIP’;

• approval of the 2009 LTIP awards vesting levels;

• approval of the granting of share awards (LTIP, share 
option and Save AsYou Earn (“SAYE”)) to employees; 

• Invitations to participate in the SDL SAYE schemes 
were made to employees in the UK, the Netherlands, 
Canada and the USA. 

• review of the directors’ remuneration report; and

• review of the Chairman/CEO’s salary.

On an annual basis, the Committee’s effectiveness is 
reviewed as part of the evaluation of the Board.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed and 
approved by the Board in December 2012 and are available, 
on request, from the Company Secretary and are also on the 
Group’s website in the Investor Relations section.

Further details of the Group’s policies on remuneration, 
service contracts and compensation payments are given in 
the following pages.

Composition
Membership in 2012

David Clayton – Chairman
Joe Campbell
Mandy Gradden – appointed 30 January 2012
Jane Thompson – resigned 17 April 2012

Information not subject to Audit
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Remuneration Committee advisors

The Committee obtains advice from various sources 
as required to ensure it makes informed decisions. The 
Committee’s advisors in 2012 were:

• CJW Remuneration Consultants for advice on the 
use of share incentives within the group and on the 
extension of the SAYE plan to employees in Canada 
and the USA; and

• PricewaterhouseCoopers on Total Shareholder Return 
(“TSR”) and Earnings per Share (“EPS”) performance 
testing for LTIPs. 

Remuneration Policy

The Committee seeks to ensure that the remuneration 
packages of SDL’s Executive Directors and its senior 
executives are appropriate for the functions performed. It 
closely monitors market developments and takes external 
advice as appropriate. The company has a remuneration 
policy that balances the need to attract and retain high 
quality employees whilst taking into account current best 
practice and shareholder expectations.

The underlying policy for executive directors’ remuneration 
remained unchanged during 2012, the main tenets of which 
are:

• A significant proportion of remuneration is dependent 
upon the achievement of specific challenging financial 
targets. 

• Executives are rewarded for success and steps are taken 
to prevent rewards for failure.

• The focus is on sustainable shareholder value and aligning 
executive remuneration with shareholder interests.

Basic salary and benefits

The executive directors’ reward packages consist of fixed 
(e.g. base salary, pension, healthcare) and variable (e.g. 
Bonus and Long Term Incentive Plan) elements. The variable 
element emphasises the link between performance and pay.

The base salary of Mark Lancaster was considered by 
the Committee following the resignation of John Hunter 
as CEO and the assumption by Mark Lancaster of the 
combined Chairman/CEO role as from 2 November 2012. 
The base salary and bonus structure for Matthew Knight was 
considered and remained unchanged in 2012.

In April 2012 and in accordance with the LTIP rules approved 
by shareholders in 2011, Mark Lancaster and John Hunter 
were awarded LTIP shares equivalent to 150% of salary and 
Matthew Knight 100% of salary. Following his resignation, 
all of John Hunter’s unvested share plans including the 2012 
LTIP award have lapsed.

The Executive Directors do not, however, participate in the 
Share Option Scheme. Other benefits, over and above salary 
and bonus, principally comprise a car allowance and private 
healthcare. 
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The main components of executive directors’ reward packages are as follows:

Objective and 
practice

Performance 
period

Award size and performance conditions

Salary To attract and retain 
the best talent.

Reviewed 
annually

Salaries are reviewed against:
level of skill, experience and scope of responsibilities of the 
individual and business performance, economic climate and 
market conditions; and
peer group of comparably sized companies and
other software businesses.

Annual 
bonus

Motivate and reward 
achievement of 
challenging annual 
targets that support 
the company’s short 
and mid-term strategy.

One year Peformance over the year is measured against challenging 
targets.
Bonuses can range from 0% to 120% of base salary, with 50 
– 75% paid out for on-target performance. The maximum is 
only paid for exceptional performance.

Share-based 
incentives: 
Long Term 
Incentive 
Plan

Motivate and 
reward sustained 
performance.
Aligns the interests 
of executive directors 
with that of the 
shareholders.

Three years Vesting subject to challenging performance conditions:

2006 Plan (expired for new awards): final tranche under this 
plan is due to vest April 2013 subject to comparative TSR and 
EPS targets. If the TSR target is not met, the award lapses, 
irrespective of EPS growth.
TSR performance to be at least the median compared to the 

Comparator Group at the end of the three year period. 
EPS 100% release if the annual growth in EPS over the three 

years exceeds 25% compounded;
25% release if the annual growth in EPS over the three 
years exceeds 10% compounded.
Proporionate vesting between 25% EPS and 10% EPS 
per annum.

The directors’ LTIPs had, at point of award in April 2010, a 
value of 100% of base salary. 

2011 Plan (current): Vesting is subject to comparative TSR 
and EPS targets. No part of an award shall vest unless both 
the TSR and EPS conditions are met. 
TSR must at least match that of the FTSE 250 index over 

the performance period for a 25% vest. For maximum 
vesting the TSR must outperform the index by a 
multiple of two with proportionate vesting inbetween.

EPS  must increase by at least inflation + 3% per annum 
during the performance period by reference to the 
Consumer Prices Index

The directors’ LTIPs at point of award in May 2011 and April 
2012 had a value of 150% of base salary for the Chairman/
CEO and 100% of base salary for the CFO.

Pension To aid retention and 
provide competitive 
retirement benefits

n/a Participation in defined contribution pension arrangements.
The Chairman/CEO and CFO have personal pension 
arrangements to which the company makes contributions 
equivalent to 13.3% and 12% of salary respectively.

Additional 
benefits

Additional benefits such as life assurance cover of four 
times salary, health insurance, medical insurance and a car 
allowance are also provided.
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Information subject to audit

Directors’ Remuneration

The remuneration of the Directors is as follows:

Basic Salary
and Fees

£

Benefits
(*)
£

Bonuses

£

Contractual 
termination

£

Total 2012

£

Total 2011

£

Executive Directors

Mark Lancaster 316,667 31,610 112,294 - 460,571 624,334

Cristina Lancaster***** - - - - - 43,924

John Hunter** 266,731 16,396 - 352,266 635,393 546,605

Matthew Knight****** 185,000 12,364 30,000 - 227,364 214,554

Non-executive directors

Chris Batterham 40,000 - - - 40,000 40,000

John Matthews*** 11,667 - - - 11,667 40,000

Joe Campbell 44,793 - - - 44,793 37,328

David Clayton 45,000 - - - 45,000 45,000

Jane Thompson*** 13,125 - - - 13,125 45,000

Mandy Gradden**** 32,083 - - - 32,083 -

Total all Directors 955,066 60,370 142,294 352,266 1,509,996 1,636,743

* The benefits package of each Executive Director includes a car allowance and private health insurance. 
** John Hunter was a director for ten months in 2012.
*** John Matthews and Jane Thompson did not stand for re-election at the AGM in April 2012.
****Mandy Gradden was appointed as a director on 30 January 2012.
***** Cristina Lancaster was a director for 3 months in 2011.
******Matthew Knight was a director for 9 months in 2011.

Pension Entitlements

No pension contributions were made by SDL on behalf of Non-executive directors. The defined pension contributions 
made by SDL for each Executive Director are as follows:

Total 2012
£

Total 2011
£

Mark Lancaster 42,036 40,036

Cristina Lancaster - 4,800

John Hunter 43,777 35,000

Matthew Knight 22,200 9,250

Total all Directors 108,013 89,086
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2012 Performance related bonus
The 2012 scheme was based upon the achievement of 
Group revenue and profit before amortisation and taxation 
(“PBTA”) against the budget formally approved by the 
Board for the year. To achieve a maximum bonus award 
actual performance against both revenue and profit had 
to be outperformed by 10% on each measure with a 50% 
weighting applied to each. The par and maximum award was 
75% and 120% for the Executive Chairman and 75% and 
100% for the CEO respectively. 

The CFO’s bonus was determined by the multiplication of 
a company performance factor by his personal objective 
delivery. To attract a maximum bonus payment a company 
performance multiplier of two must be determined by the 
Committee with the CFO also delivering 100% of their 
personal objectives. To attract a par bonus payment a 
performance multiplier of one must be determined by the 
Committee with the CFO also delivering 100% of their 
personal objectives. The 2012 bonus award for Matthew 
Knight was determined by the Committee against this 
framework.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were rewarded 
purely on the company performance multiplier and were 
granted a bonus award on this basis. 

Par Award % Max Award %

Mark Lancaster 75 120

John Hunter 75 100

Matthew Knight 50 60

Mark Lancaster’s and John Hunter’s awards were 
determined purely on the basis of revenue and PBTA 
performance. These arrangements were designed to 
promote the Group’s strategic objectives and maximise 
shareholder value creation. 

As reported in the Annual Report 2010, the Committee 
after discussions with institutional shareholders, made an 
exceptional and one-off conditional award to Mark Lancaster 
on 17 January 2011 of 141,510 SDL shares. Two tranches of 
the award consisting of 47,170 shares each have vested and 
have yet to be exercised by Mark Lancaster.

Summary of Actual v Maximum 2012 Remuneration

0 100 200 300 400

0 100 200 300 400

Mark Lancaster

Matthew Knight
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Interests in Options

The interests of the directors in share options up to 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Exercise
Price

At 1 
January 

2011

Awarded 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Expired 
unexercised 

during the year
At 31 

December 
2012

No. No. No. No. No.

Mark Lancaster 119.33p 200,000 - - - 200,000

The options are exercisable between 
4 April 2006 and 4 April 2015

During the period 1 January 2012 through to 31 December 2012 the market price of ordinary shares has ranged between 
424.9p and 766.59p. The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2012 was 512.5p.

Interests in Long-Term Incentive Plan Shares:
The interests of the directors in long-term incentive plan shares up to 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Issue
Price

At 1 
January 

2012

Awarded 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year*

Achieved 
during the 

year

Expired 
unachieved 

during the 
year

At 31 
December 

2012

No. No. No No. No. No.

Mark Lancaster 290.5p(a) 103,270 - (73,838) - (29,432) -

Mark Lancaster 494.3p(b) 60,692 - - - - 60,692

Mark Lancaster 670p(c) 67,164 - - - - 67,164

Mark Lancaster 748p(d) - 60,160 - - - 60,160

John Hunter 494.3p(b) 40,461 - - - (40,461) -

John Hunter 670p(c) 67,164 60,160 - - (127,324) -

Matthew Knight 670p(c) 27,612 - - - - 27,612

Matthew Knight 748p(d) - 24,733 - - - 24,733

The awards have expiry dates as follows:
(a) Awarded 2 March 2009, expire 2 March 2019
(b) Awarded 12 April 2010, expire 12 April 2020
(c) Awarded 18 May 2011, expire 18 May 2021
(d) Awarded 10 April 2012, expire 10 April 2022

*During the period there were gains realised of £484,407 for Mark Lancaster on the exercise of LTIPs (657 pence per share before 
commission).

Awards under 2011 Plan rules:
On 10 April 2012, a total of 667,356 LTIP shares were 
granted to the executive directors and senior management 
with a performance period of three years from date of 
grant. Mark Lancaster and John Hunter were each awarded 
60,160 shares and Matthew Knight was awarded 24,733 
shares. All unvested awards held by John Hunter lapsed on 
2 November 2012 upon his resignation as a director, this 
includes the aforementioned 60,160 shares. 

Sharesave
All employees in the UK, Canada, Netherlands, and the 
USA, including the executive directors, are also eligible to 
participate in the Company’s UK or International Sharesave 
Plan as appropriate subject to meeting a service qualification 
of one year.



46SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012
SDL Statutory Inform

ation

Performance Graph

The graph below shows the total shareholder return for each of the years from 2008 of a holding of the company’s shares 
against the corresponding change in the FTSE All Share Software and Computer Services and FTSE 250 (excluding 
investment trusts) total return indices. The shares have outperformed these indices over this period. 

Rebased Data 2008 – 2012

SDL is a member of the FTSE 250 index. The FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) index has been selected by the 
Committee as the most appropriate equity market index relative to the sector in which the Group operates for the purposes 
of evaluating the Group’s management against external sources for the purpose of the new LTIP scheme. For the legacy 
LTIP scheme operating up to 2011 the All Share Software and Computer Services Index was applied.
 
All LTIP vesting is independently validated for the Committee, currently by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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Share Options
SDL operates two discretionary share option plans, the 
first of which was adopted by shareholders on 1 December 
1999 and which expired for the purposes of new grants on 
1 December 2009. The 1999 plan was replaced by a similar 
(but updated) plan at the AGM in 2010 and comprises both 
an HMRC approved option plan and an unapproved plan 
with a total annual limit of up to 100% of salary (measured 
by reference to the full market value of shares at the date 
of grant). Executive directors do not receive share options 
under the plan. Options can normally be exercised after 
three years subject to average annual growth in earnings 
per share of at least RPI + 5%. There is no re-testing of 
performance conditions if they are not met by the end of 
the relevant performance period. No options are offered at 
a discount. Subject to meeting the performance conditions, 
options are exercisable not earlier than the third anniversary 
of grant and then remain exercisable for a maximum period 
of seven years.

Dilution Limitation
All SDL employee share schemes contain provisions 
limiting the total number of new issue shares (including 
any re-issuing of Treasury Shares) that can be granted 
in any rolling 10-year period to not more than 10% of 
issued share capital (this dilution limit is in line with the 
current ABI guidelines). There is an additional inner limit of 
5% of issued share capital on discretionary share grants 
to senior employees including Executive Directors. The 
company has operated within these limits in 2012 utilising 
the Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”) approved at the AGM 
in April 2008. Under the 2008 AGM approval the EBT can 
acquire shares in the Company by market purchase and hold 
them for the purpose of satisfying the granting and award 
of options or LTIPs under the Group’s option and SAYE, 
and LTIP schemes. The Company may contribute money 
to the EBT by gift or loan to enable the Trustees to acquire 
the Company’s shares. As at December 2012 the EBT is 
established and has pledged to meet the company’s wishes 
that it satisfies some LTIP awards subject to them vesting 
but it has not yet acquired any shares. The EBT is able to 
hold shares totalling up to 5% of the issued share capital. 

The Company will use market purchase shares where 
necessary to satisfy any liabilities arising from outstanding 
share awards which would otherwise breach the 10% limit. 

2013 - Remuneration and performance 
In this section the Committee looks forward to 2013 and 
describes SDL’s reward principles along with a description of 
the elements of the reward package.

Principles of reward

The principles of reward, as well as the individual elements 
of the reward package, are reviewed each year to ensure 
that they continue to support the Company strategy. These 
principles are set out below.

Competitive reward assessed on a  
total compensation basis 

SDL wishes to provide a level of remuneration which 
attracts, retains and motivates executive directors of the 
highest calibre. Within the package there needs to be the 
opportunity for executive directors to achieve significant 
upside for truly exceptional performance. The package 
provided to the executive directors is reviewed on a total 
compensation basis i.e. single elements of the package are 
not reviewed in isolation. When the package is reviewed it is 
done in the context of individual and Company performance, 
the criticality of the individual to the business, their 
experience, and the scarcity or otherwise of talent with the 
relevant skill set.

Pay for performance

A significant proportion of total reward will be awarded 
through short-term and long-term performance related 
remuneration. Fixed pay comprises base salary and pension 
contributions, while variable pay comprises the annual 
bonus and the long-term incentive opportunity assuming no 
movement in current share price.

Fees
The fees for non-executive directors were not increased 
in 2012. See the table on page 43 for the fees paid to the 
non-executive directors. In deciding an appropriate level of 
fees for each non-executive director, the Board consider the 
responsibility and time commitments taking into account 
the number of Board meetings, provision of strategic and 
general advice plus the Chairmanship and membership of 
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. Non-executive directors are not 
involved in determining their own remuneration. The non-
executive director fees for Mr Campbell are denominated in 
US Dollars so any variance in addition to the increase in fee 
derives from the effect of currency movements only. 

Non-Group Directorships
No Executive Director currently holds any non-Group 
Directorships.

Service Contracts
The policy of the company is to have service contracts for 
all the Executive Directors that continue indefinitely unless 
determined by notice but to avoid long notice periods 
or excessive financial termination provisions. The non-
executive directors have contracts that run for three-year 
terms, commencing from their date of appointment, subject 
to three months notice from either side. There are no special 
provisions for Executive or non-executive directors with 
regard to compensation in the event of loss of office. No 
director had a notice period exceeding 12 months as noted 
in the following table. 
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Interests in Share Capital

The directors and their interests in the share capital of the Group as at 31 December 2012 according to the register of 
directors’ interests are as follows:

 
 

Class
 

2012
Number

2011
Number

Mark Lancaster Ordinary 672,119 618,651

Matthew Knight Ordinary - -

Chris Batterham Ordinary 86,895 86,895

Joe Campbell Ordinary - -

David Clayton Ordinary - -

Mandy Gradden Ordinary 7,500 n/a

There have been no further changes to any directors’ interests in shares (including options and long term incentive plan 
shares) since the end of the financial year up to a date that is not more than one month before the date of the notice of 
general meeting.

David Clayton
Remuneration Committee Chairman
12 March 2013

In compliance with B.7.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2010, as a FTSE 250 company all SDL directors 
seeking re-election will be subject to annual election by shareholders. 

Biographical details of all directors can be found on pages 27 and 28.

The service contracts and letters of appointment of the directors include the following terms:

Date of Contract Notice Period
(months)

Executive Directors

Mark Lancaster 1 February 2011 12

Matthew Knight 14 April 2011 6

Non-executive directors

Chris Batterham 15 October 2002 3

Mandy Gradden 30 January 2012 3

Joe Campbell 1 July 2005 3

David Clayton 16 December 2009 3
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Principal Activities and Business Review

SDL’s technology and services help our customers to predict 
what their customers want and engage with them across 
multiple languages, cultures, channels and devices. The SDL 
Group operates through branches and subsidiaries in the UK 
and overseas.

SDL PLC is a public limited company incorporated in 
England and Wales with a registered address of Globe 
House, Clivemont Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire SL6 7DY 
and registered number 2675207.

The Board are required to set out in this report a fair review 
of the business of the Group during the financial year ended 
31 December 2012 and of the position of the Group at the 
end of the financial year and a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the Group (known as the 
Business Review). The purpose of the Business Review 
is to enable shareholders to assess how the Board have 
performed their duties under section 172 of the Companies 
Act 2006 (to promote the success of the Company). The 
information that fulfils the requirements of the Business 
Review can be found in this report and the following sections 
of the Annual Report, which are incorporated into this report 
by reference:
• Chairman & Chief Executive Officer’s Statement
• Operational Performance Indicators 
• Operating and Financial Review
• Risk Management
• Corporate Governance Report
• Communications with Shareholders
• Directors’ Remuneration Report
• Statement of the Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors present their Annual Report and audited 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Going Concern

In line with UK Corporate Governance Code requirements 
the Directors have made enquiries concerning the potential 
of the business to continue as a going concern. Enquiries 
included a review of performance in 2012, 2013 annual plans, 
a review of working capital including the liquidity position and 
a review of current indebtedness levels. The Directors confirm 
that they perceive strong underlying cash generation and 
therefore they have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Given this expectation they have 
continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

Standards

ISO 27001 certification maintained in the UK and approved 
expansion plans for the US and Europe.

ISO 9001 (quality management system) expanded scope 
and EN 15038 (translation) in place for SDL Global Solutions 
facilities.

ISO 13485 (quality and risk management system) for the 
medical device industry to support business in UK, Ireland, 
US, Europe and approved a plan to implement in Asia
ISO 14001 (environmental) in UK & Ireland.

Branches 

The Company operates branches in Lebanon, Taiwan and 
Germany.

Corporate Social Responsibility 

Framework 

SDL works hard to be a good corporate citizen in the 
communities in which it operates, conducting business 
in a socially and ethically responsible manner. SDL 
recognises the value it gets from its continuing program of 
Corporate Social Responsibility, both from the employee’s 
perspective (improving staff engagement and morale and 
being an employer staff can feel good about) and from the 
perspective of clients who increasingly prefer suppliers 
who can demonstrate core ethical values. The SDL Code of 
Conduct, applicable to all employees and those who work 
for or on behalf of SDL, is a policy document that sets out 
the standards of behaviour expected in relation to areas 
such as insider dealing, bribery and raising concerns through 
the whistle blowing process. 

Our corporate social responsibility framework continues to 
target three primary areas of employment and employee 
engagement, the environment and community involvement. 

The Board has overall ownership of the Corporate Social 
Responsibility strategies and takes very seriously its broader 
responsibility to society and takes a progressive approach in 
ensuring it meets its broader social obligations. The Board 
continues to hold the opinion that given the nature of the 
Group’s business activities, which do not involve heavy 
manufacturing, material risks from social, environmental and 
ethical issues are limited. 

Employment and Employee Engagement 

Our employment policies are developed to reflect local legal, 
cultural and employment requirements. 

The Chief Financial Officer has ultimate responsibility for 
Health and Safety. Specific tasks are delegated to local 
office managers and suitably trained individuals in the 
organisation. 

The Group rejects all forms of discrimination and operates 
an equal opportunities policy. We expressly prohibit 
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discrimination on grounds such as sex, race, religion or 
belief, age or perceived age, sexual orientation or disability. 

Health and Safety policy

SDL recognises and accepts its responsibility as an 
employer to provide safe and healthy working conditions 
for all its employees. The Company commits to maintaining 
a safe working office environment complying with relevant 
local legislation and providing training where appropriate in 
matters of health and safety.

SDL’s policy on Health and Safety includes the following:
• To provide information, training and supervision as is 

necessary to ensure health and safety at work; 
• To provide and maintain safe equipment;
• To comply with statutory requirements for health, safety 

and welfare in each global office;
• To maintain safe and healthy working conditions; and
• To review and revise this policy as necessary at regular 

intervals.

An independent health and safety audit of the Maidenhead, 
Sheffield and Bristol offices was carried out in January 
2013 by Absolute Health & Safety Solutions Ltd. The scope 
was a compliance audit and gap analysis of SDL’s existing 
system, including a review of the Company’s policies 
and documentation. The auditors reviewed current health 
and safety practices against best practice and relevant 
standards. The objective is to adopt best practice where 
appropriate and deliver continual improvement of the safety 
management system.

There were no fatalities on Company business during 2012.

Culture and Communication 

SDL seeks to maintain high standards and good employee 
relations wherever we operate. Regular and open 
communication is fundamental to high levels of employee 
engagement. There are a number of mechanisms to connect 
and share expertise on a company-wide basis:
• Monthly company performance and strategy 

presentations by the Chairman and CEO;
• The Knowledge Series initiative continued through 2012 

- informing employees through webinars about SDL’s 
different businesses, strategy, products and processes;

• Works councils and similar bodies are maintained 
and consulted with in accordance with local statutory 
requirements;

• Relevant performance and change issues are also 
discussed with our employees through team meetings, 
round table discussions or through works councils or 
other elected representative bodies;

• The Code of Conduct is embedded into employee 
induction and for existing employees is reviewed regularly 

via the Knowledge Series. Our people have access to 
information about SDL’s policies through a global intranet, 
with local translations and content where appropriate;

• A “whistleblowing policy” is in place which enables 
employees to bring matters of concern to the attention 
of the Senior Independent Director in confidence. No 
matters were raised via this route in 2012. The Board 
are reviewing the current procedures and practices for 
dealing with whistleblowing claims to ensure that potential 
issues are captured and addressed as early as possible.

Talent and development

SDL places a lot of emphasis on its employees, on how 
they develop and the importance of the interface between 
them and customers. The Company is committed to helping 
employees perform at their best and achieve their full 
potential through ongoing training and personal development 
plans. 
• Employees review and agree development objectives 

during their annual performance dialogue with their 
manager.

• SDL supports overseas assignments or secondment to 
enable employees to benefit from a period overseas. We 
have also seen continued movement of employees across 
different operating segments in 2012, which is effective in 
transferring best practice and sustaining culture.

• The Management Development Training Plan was 
extended in 2012. A total of 150 employees from 12 
locations worldwide have taken part.

• Technical succession planning has focused on the sharing 
of knowledge between those who possess high level 
skills/knowledge gained from experience within SDL and 
those with experience of doing relevant research and 
development work.

• Employees participate via the SDL Foundation in activities 
outside of the work environment. SDL is supportive of 
broader community engagement allowing employees 
time off as appropriate. This policy underpins the SDL 
Foundation’s primary objective of giving employees 
the opportunity to get involved in working with and 
supporting charities close to their own communities. 
The Group continues to actively support translation as a 
profession and has developed progressive relationships 
with several language facilities of universities in the 
countries in which it operates. This serves as a way for 
the Group to develop the translation profession as well as 
providing a valuable potential career outlet for students 
and a source of potential future employees. 

SDL supports employee share ownership and employees 
have the opportunity to participate in share ownership plans 
where practicable. In 2012 eligible employees in Canada, 
The Netherlands, the UK and the USA were invited to 
participate in the share save plans.
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Disabled Employees

SDL values applications from disabled or handicapped 
persons and our policy is to always consider in full 
employment applications from disabled or handicapped 
persons where that person can perform the job 
requirements. 

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the 
Group’s policy wherever practicable to provide continuing 
employment under normal terms and conditions and 
disabled people are afforded the same training and 
development opportunities for personal growth as other 
employees within the organization.

Under no circumstance will discrimination due to disability 
either direct or implied be tolerated. 

The SDL Foundation 

The SDL Foundation, independently chaired by Alastair 
Gordon, was set up by the Board in 2008. The SDL 
Foundation seeks to provide investment to sustainable, 
micro income generation and infrastructure projects around 
the world. Some of the projects supported by the SDL 
Foundation in 2012 are highlighted on page 10 of this 

report. The SDL Board has pledged £260,000 to the SDL 
Foundation in respect of 2012 operations. 

Environment

The SDL Group has no manufacturing processes so the 
objective is focussed on facilities management and indirect 
impacts on the environment such as travel. We set out 
our carbon emission measures and our environmental 
program on page 9 of this Annual Report. SDL has raised 
consciousness about waste generation, recycling and 
resource conservation in its operations. Cycle to work 
initiatives aim to take employee related traffic off the road. 

Environmental efficiency is always given consideration when 
selecting new office premises and energy efficient systems 
are promoted and used where they provide shareholder 
return by reducing energy consumption. The Board 
considers that there is often a strong fit between energy use 
reduction and commercial return. 

The environmental impact of disposal of outmoded or 
obsolete equipment is minimized and provision of recycling 
facilities, reuse or donation schemes are actively considered. 

Share Capital and Control

Pursuant to section 992 of the Companies Act 2006 which implements the EU Takeovers Directive, the Company is 
required to disclose certain additional information. Such disclosures, to the extent not covered elsewhere in the annual 
report, include the information set out below.

The structure of the Company’s capital and the rights and obligations attached to those shares are given in note 19 to the 
accounts. 

There are no restrictions on the transfer of securities of the Company, including limits on holdings and requirements to 
obtain approval of the company or other holders for a transfer. 

All persons with a significant holding, along with the value of that holding are given in the table below (share price at 15 
February 2013; 541 pence). 

Holding at 15 
February 2013

% of issued 
share capital

Value of 
Holding (£m)

Blackrock 10,325,192 12.87 £55.90

Newton Investment Management 6,801,148 8.48 £36.80

Baillie Gifford 4,329,715 5.40 £23.40

Legal & General Investment Management 4,123,741 5.14 £22.30

AXA Investment Managers 3,919,556 4.89 £21.20

F&C Asset Management 3,110,260 3.88 £16.80

Herald Investment Management 2,951,269 3.68 £16.00

Franklin Templeton Fund Management 2,815,000 3.51 £15.20

Aviva Investors 2,525,382 3.15 £13.70

Schroder Investment Management 2,317,163 2.89 £12.50
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There is no person holding securities with special control 
rights.

All shares issued under employee share schemes have 
rights which are directly exercisable by the employees. 

There is no restriction on voting rights. The Company is not 
aware of any agreements between holders of securities that 
may result in restrictions on voting rights.

There are no agreements between shareholders that may 
result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting 
rights. 

Amended Articles, taking account of changes in English 
company law brought about by the Companies Act 
2006, were approved by shareholders at the Annual General 
meeting on 23 April 2010. 

The powers of the directors are given in the Articles of 
Association plus those granted by special resolution at the 
AGM dated 17 April 2012 governing shares issuance.

There are no significant agreements entered into by the 
Company that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change 
of control following a takeover bid and the effect of such 
agreements.

The agreements between the company and its directors for 
compensation for loss of office are given in the Directors 
Remuneration Report on page 47.

Contractual Relationships

There are no individual contracts which are considered to 
be significant or critical to the overall business of the Group. 

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are 
made in accordance with those terms and conditions 
agreed between the Group and its suppliers, provided that 
all trading terms and conditions have been complied with 
and that there are no disputes. This policy was applied 
consistently in 2012 and the ethical treatment of suppliers is 
of importance to the supply relationships with the extensive 
list of individual freelance translators that form an integral 
part of the translation supply chain and on whom SDL 
relies. Any changes in supplier terms and conditions are 
through negotiation. 

At 31 December 2012, the Company had an average of 32 
days purchases outstanding in trade creditors (2011: 36 
days).

Political and Charitable Donations

During the year no political donations were made. 
Charitable donations amounting to £6,054 were made to 
external charities and £260,000 was donated to The SDL 
Foundation as noted above. 

Auditors

A resolution to re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditor will be 
put to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Statement as to Disclosure of Information to 
Auditors

The directors who were members of the Board at the time 
of approving the directors’ report are listed on pages 27 to 
28. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of the 
company’s auditors, each of these directors confirms that:

• to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there 
is no information relevant to the preparation of their 
report of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and

• each director has taken all the steps a director might 
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware 
of relevant audit information and to establish that the 
company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Special Business at the Annual General Meeting

At the Annual General Meeting, items 1 to 12 inclusive 
are proposed as ordinary resolutions and items 13 and 
14 as special resolutions. These resolutions together with 
explanatory notes, as appropriate, are set out in the Notice 
of Annual General Meeting.  

Where Shareholders are in any doubt as to what action 
to take in this matter they should consult appropriate 
independent advisors. Where all securities have been 
sold or transferred by the person receiving this document, 
it should be passed to the person for whom the sale or 
transfer was affected for transmission to the purchaser or 
transferee.

By order of the Board

Matthew Knight
Director
12 March 2013
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 
GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report and the group and parent company financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and 
parent company financial statements for each financial 
year. Under that law they are required to prepare the group 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare 
the parent company financial statements in accordance with 
UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and 
parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 
preparing each of the group and parent company financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

• for the group financial statements, state whether they 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU;

• for the parent company financial statements, state 
whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the parent company 
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the group and the parent company will continue in 
business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the parent company’s transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the parent company and enable them to ensure that its 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets 
of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also 
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement 
that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Responsibility statement of the directors in respect of 
the annual financial report 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance with 
the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

• the directors’ report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the issuer and the undertakings included 
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face.

 
Matthew Knight
Director
12 March 2013



54SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012
SDL Statutory Inform

ation

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
We have audited the financial statements of SDL Plc 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 set out on pages 
55 to 110. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in the preparation of the group financial 
statements is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the parent company financial statements is 
applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 53, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
web-site at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2012 and of the group’s profit for the 
year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
EU;

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice;

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006; and, as regards the group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2006

In our opinion:
• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 

audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006; 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

• the information given in the Corporate Governance 
Statement set out on pages 29 to 36 with respect to 
internal control and risk management systems in relation 
to financial reporting processes and about share capital 
stuctures is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 

parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

• a Corporate Governance Statement has not been 
prepared by the company

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
• the directors’ statement, set out on page 49, in relation to 

going concern; and
• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on 

pages 29 to 36 relating to the company’s compliance 
with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code specified for our review.

• certain elements of the report to shareholders by the 
Board on directors’ remuneration.

Paul Gresham (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London 
E14 5GL
12 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Sale of goods 50,815 40,632

Rendering of services 218,508 188,369

 

REVENUE 4  269,323 229,001

 

Cost of sales  (117,712) (95,397)

 

GROSS PROFIT  151,611 133,604

 

Administration expenses – excluding amortisation of intangible assets 5  (115,814) (94,189)

 

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets 35,797 39,415

Administration expenses - amortisation of intangible assets 5  (8,120) (5,903)

Operating profit 5  27,677 33,512

Finance revenue 5  132 444

Finance costs 5  (412) (195)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  27,397 33,761

Tax expense 6  (6,542) (8,025)

 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 
OF THE PARENT

 20,855 25,736

Earnings per ordinary share – basic (pence) 8  26.12 32.72

Earnings per ordinary share – diluted (pence) 8  25.98 31.73

Adjusted earnings per ordinary share (basic and diluted) are shown in note 8.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Profit for the period  20,855 25,736

 

Currency translation differences on foreign operations  (6,615) (2,340)

 

Currency translation differences on foreign currency equity loans 
to foreign subsidiaries

 (346) (340)

 

Income tax benefit on currency translation differences on foreign 
currency equity loans to foreign subsidiaries

6  115 110

 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  (6,846) (2,570)

 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  14,009 23,166

All the Total Comprehensive income is attributable to equity shareholders of the parent.
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Notes 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment  9  8,837  6,415

Intangible assets  10  234,504  155,144

Available-for-sale - -

Deferred tax asset  6  4,395  4,976

Rent deposits   1,573  951

 249,309  167,486

CURRENT ASSETS   

Trade and other receivables  13  66,041 52,756

Cash and cash equivalents  14  28,452 70,408

  94,493 123,164

TOTAL ASSETS   343,802 290,650

  

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Trade and other payables  15  (72,719) (53,489)

Loans and overdraft  17  (22,190) -

Current tax liabilities   (8,268) (9,982)

Provisions  18  (1,605) (839)

  (104,782) (64,310)

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Other payables  16  (2,072) (1,102)

Deferred tax liability  6  (8,366) (6,847)

Provisions  18  (818) (559)

  (11,256) (8,508)

TOTAL LIABILITIES   (116,038) (72,818)

  

NET ASSETS   227,764 217,832

  

EQUITY   

Share capital  19  802 792

Share premium account  96,747 95,875

Retained earnings  114,920 99,024

Foreign exchange differences  15,295 22,141

TOTAL EQUITY  227,764 217,832

M Lancaster   M Knight
Director    Director

Approved by the Board of directors on 12 March 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2012
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Share
Capital

£’000

Share
Premium
Account

£’000

Retained 
Earnings

£’000

Foreign 
Exchange 

Differences
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2011  780  94,974  75,047  24,711  195,512

Profit for the period  -  -  25,736  -  25,736

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  (2,570)  (2,570)

Total comprehensive income  -  -  25,736  (2,570)  23,166

Deferred income taxation on share 
based payments (Note 6)

 -  -  (821)  -  (821)

Tax credit for share options (Note 6)  -  -  523  -  523

Arising on share issues  12  901  -  -  913

Dividend paid  -  -  (4,328)  -  (4,328)

Share based payments (Note 20)  -  -  2,867  -  2,867

At 31 December 2011  792  95,875  99,024  22,141  217,832

Share
Capital

£’000

Share
Premium
Account

£’000

Retained 
Earnings

£’000

Foreign 
Exchange 

Differences
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2012  792  95,875  99,024  22,141  217,832

Profit for the period  -  -  20,855  -  20,855

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  (6,846)  (6,846)

Total comprehensive income  -  -  20,855  (6,846)  14,009

Deferred income taxation on share 
based payments (Note 6)

 -  -  242  -  242

Tax credit for share options (Note 6)  -  -  549  -  549

Arising on share issues  10  872  -  -  882

Dividend paid  -  -  (4,638)  -  (4,638)

Share based payments (Note 20)  -  -  (1,112)  -  (1,112)

At 31 December 2012  802  96,747  114,920  15,295  227,764

The amounts above are attributable to equity holders of the parent company.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  27,397 33,761

 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  9  4,053 3,070

Amortisation of intangible assets 10  8,120 5,903

Finance revenue  (132) (444)

Finance costs  412 195

Share based payments  (1,112) 2,867

Gain on disposal of investment   (740)  -

Loss / (gain) on disposal of property, plant & equipment  6 (1)

Increase in trade and other receivables  (3,068) (1,099)

Decrease in trade and other payables  (4,989) (1,616)

Exchange differences  (1,672) (1,506)

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE ONE-OFF 
ALTERIAN RELATED OUTFLOWS

 28,275 41,130

Alterian acquisition related cash outflows  (2,480) -

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS  25,795 41,130

Income tax paid  (8,300) (8,517)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  17,495 32,613

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Payments to acquire property, plant & equipment  (5,404) (3,870)

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment  13 88

Payments to acquire subsidiaries  (69,747) (1,325)

Net cash acquired with subsidiaries  571 -

Receipts from sale of available for sale investment  740 -

Interest received  199 417

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (73,628) (4,690)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital  477 913

Proceeds from borrowings  22,190 -

Repayment of borrowings  (1,934) -

Dividends paid  (4,638) (4,328)

Repayment of capital leases  (747) (332)

Interest paid  (399) (195)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  14,949 (3,942)

 

(DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (41,184) 23,981

 

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of year  70,408 46,628

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  21  (41,184) 23,981

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  21  (772) (201)

NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 21  28,452 70,408
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated financial statements of SDL plc (the 
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2012 were 

authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 12 March 2013. SDL plc is a public limited 
company incorporated and domiciled in England whose 
shares are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange. 
The consolidated financial statements of SDL plc and 
its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (as adopted by 
the European Union).

The principal activities of the Group are described in Note 4.

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements of SDL plc and 
its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU as relevant to the financial statements of SDL plc. 
The Company has elected to prepare its parent company 
financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP and 
these are presented on pages 97 to 110. The consolidated 
financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for derivative financial instruments that have been 
measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in UK 
sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
except where otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policy

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of 
the previous financial year.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements include the results of 
the Company and all its subsidiaries for the full year or from 
the date of acquisition if later. Subsidiaries are all entities 
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively 
to business combinations that took place before the date 
of 1 January 2004. As a result, goodwill recognised as 
an asset at 31 December 2003 is recorded at its carrying 
amount under UK GAAP and is not amortised. The purchase 
method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition 
of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of 
exchange. Identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 

irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of 
the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 
is recognised directly in the income statement. If the 
business combination allows for a provision of contingent 
consideration, this will be provided in the accounts at the 
fair value to the extent it is considered probable that the 
liability will accrue. If the business combination allows for 
deferred compensation this will be recognised in the income 
statement over the service period.

Intangible assets: Goodwill 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 
cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. As at the acquisition date, 
any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash 
generating units expected to benefit from the combination’s 
synergies. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets. This is 
usually at business segment level or statutory company 
level as the case may be. Impairment is determined by 
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Goodwill arising 
on acquisitions pre 1 January 2004 was capitalised and 
amortised over its useful economic life, which was presumed 
to be 8 years. Any goodwill remaining on the balance sheet 
at 1 January 2004 is not amortised after 1 January 2004, but 
is also subject to annual impairment reviews.

Intangible assets: Other

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost 
and from a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value 
as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are held at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their useful economic lives, which are 
reassessed annually together with any assessment of 
residual value. The useful lives of these intangible assets are 
assessed over the expected period that benefits accrue to 
the Group. Amortisation is charged as a separate line item 
on the income statement.

Customer relationship intangible assets are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of between 
5 and 7 years. Other intangible assets are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of between 
5 and 15 years.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditure incurred on an individual project is carried 
forward when its future recoverability can reasonably be 
regarded as assured and technical feasibility and commercial 
viability can be demonstrated. Where these criteria are not 
met the expenditure is expensed to the income statement. 
Following the initial recognition of the development 
expenditure the cost model is applied, requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure carried 
forward is amortised over the period of expected future sales 
from the related project. The carrying value of development 
costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset 
is not yet in use or more frequently when an indicator of 
impairment arises during the reporting year indicating that 
the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Development costs that are subject to amortisation are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 

Intangible assets: Impairment of assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use, where value in use 
is calculated as the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash generating units).

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less depreciation and any impairment in value. Historical 
cost includes the expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the assets. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. Depreciation 
is provided to write off the cost less the estimated residual 
value based on prices at the balance sheet date of property, 
plant and equipment over their estimated useful economic 
lives as follows:

Leasehold 
improvements - The lower of ten years or the 

lease term straight line
Computer 
equipment - 4-5 years straight line

Fixtures & fittings - 20% reducing balance

Motor vehicles - 20% reducing balance

Useful economic lives and residual values are assessed 
annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognising the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income 
statement in the year the item is derecognised.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be measured reliably. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue on service contracts is recognised only when 
their outcomes can be foreseen with reasonable certainty 
and is based on the percentage stage of completion of the 
contracts, calculated on the basis of costs incurred. Accrued 
and deferred revenue arising on long-term contracts is 
included in trade receivables as accrued income and in trade 
and other payables as deferred income as appropriate. 

Support and maintenance contracts are invoiced in advance 
and normally run for periods of 12 months with automatic 
renewal on the anniversary date. Revenue in respect of 
support and maintenance contracts is recognised evenly 
over the 12 months commencing from the date of the 
contract period.

Managed services (hosting) fees are recognised over the 
term of the hosting contract on a straight-line basis.
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Professional services and consulting revenue, which is 
provided on a ‘time and expense’ basis, is recognised as the 
service is performed.

For multiple element arrangements revenue is allocated 
to each element on fair value regardless of any separate 
prices stated within the contract. The portion of the revenue 
allocated to an element is recognised when the revenue 
recognition criteria for that element have been met.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer, usually on despatch of the goods.

Revenue on software licenses and upgrades is recognised 
on despatch, when there are no significant vendor 
obligations remaining and the collection of the resulting 
receivable is considered probable. In circumstances where 
a considerable future vendor obligation exists as part of a 
software licence and related services contract, revenue is 
recognised over the period that the obligation exists per the 
contract. 

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the 
rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translation 
are included in the income statement with the exception 
of differences on foreign currency borrowing that provide 
a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These 
are taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income until the date of disposal of the net investment, 
at which time they are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement. The assets and liabilities of overseas 
subsidiaries and branches are translated at the closing 
exchange rate. Income statements of such undertakings are 
translated at the average rate of exchange during the year. 
Gains and losses arising on these translations are taken to 
reserves. As permitted by IFRS 1, SDL has elected to deem 
the cumulative amount of exchange differences arising 
on translation of the net investments in subsidiaries at 1 
January 2004 to be nil.

Intra-company loans for which settlement is neither planned 
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future are defined as 
quasi-equity loans and the currency translation differences 
on retranslation at the balance sheet date are recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as 
foreign currency and interest rate contracts to hedge its 
risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency 
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated 

at fair value. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is 
calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates 
for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of 
interest rate contracts is determined by reference to market 
values for similar instruments. The derivatives entered into 
do not qualify for hedge accounting and therefore any gains 
or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly 
to net profit or loss for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and 
deposits held at call with banks. For the purpose of the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred, unless they relate to capitalised 
research and development.

Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially 
all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at 
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of 
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged directly within the Income Statement.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Incentives received from landlord

In accordance with SIC 15, the aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a credit to the income statement. 
The benefits of the incentives are allocated over the life of 
the lease on a straight-line basis.

Pension cost

The company contributes to a group personal pension 
scheme for qualifying employees whereby it makes defined 
contributions to independently administered personal 
pension schemes. The company does not control any of 
the assets or have any ongoing liabilities with regard to the 
performance of and payments from these individual personal 
schemes. SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited operates a 
separate defined contribution scheme whose assets are held 
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separately from the company. The pension cost charge for 
both schemes represents contributions payable during the 
period. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as 
either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments, as 
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, 
they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial assets after initial recognition 
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
designation at each financial year-end.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included 
in the category ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated and effective hedging instruments. Gains 
or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in 
income. 

Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale. Available-
for-sale assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes 
therein, other than impairment losses are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. When an investment is 
derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is 
reclassified to profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial 
assets comprise equity securities.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in income when the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when 
the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or 
expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
as exchange or modification, it is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of the new liability, 
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in 
the profit or loss. 

Taxation

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for 
the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable 
or disallowed, based on tax rates that are enacted or 
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, 
on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except:
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit or loss 
nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the 

deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
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transaction, affects neither the accounting profit or loss 
nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.

In the United Kingdom, the Group is entitled to a tax 
deduction for amounts treated as remuneration on exercise 
of certain employee share options. As explained under 
‘Share based payments’ below, a remuneration expense 
is recorded in the consolidated income statement over the 
period from the grant date to the vesting date of the relevant 
options. As there is a temporary difference between the 
accounting and tax bases, a deferred tax asset may be 
recorded. The deferred tax asset arising on share option 
awards is calculated as the estimated amount of tax 
deduction to be obtained in the future (based on the Group’s 
share price at the balance sheet date) pro-rated to the extent 
that the services of the employee have been rendered over 
the vesting period. If this amount exceeds the cumulative 
amount of the remuneration expense at the statutory rate, 
the excess is recorded directly in equity, against retained 
earnings. Similarly, current tax relief in excess of the 
cumulative amount of the remuneration expense at the 
statutory rate is also recorded in retained earnings. 

When deferred tax assets are recognised post acquisition, 
goodwill is adjusted accordingly. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of VAT except:
• where the VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and 

services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and

• trade receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Share based payments

Employees (including directors) of the Group receive 
remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in 
exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘Equity-settled 
transactions’).

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the 
vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is 
determined by using an appropriate option pricing model. In 
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of 
any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the 
price of the shares of the company (market conditions). The 
volatility in the models is calculated by reference to historical 
share price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, 
together with a corresponding increase in equity, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become entitled 
to the award (‘vesting date’). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting 
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, 
in the opinion of the directors of the Group at that date, 
based on the best available estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense is 
recognised in the income statement over the vesting period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective 
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 
that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as 
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised over 
the remainder of the vesting period for any increase in the 
value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if 
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
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New standards and interpretations not applied
IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these 
financial statements:

International Accounting Standards (IASs / IFRSs)     Effective date*

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements     1 January 2014
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements      1 January 2014
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities    1 January 2014
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement      1 January 2013
IAS 19 (revised) Employee Benefits      1 January 2013
IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  1 January 2014
IAS 28 (revised) Investments in Associates     1 January 2014

*Effective date refers to accounting periods commencing on or after the dates above.

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application. 

Significant critical accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions

Judgements

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting 
period. However, uncertainty about these estimates and 
assumptions could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgements, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements:

Research and development costs

Management continually review research and development 
expenditure to assess whether any costs meet the criteria for 

capitalisation. There have been no costs capitalised in 2012 
(2011: £nil) with the primary criteria for non capitalisation 
being technical and commercial feasibility achieved late in 
the development cycle for new product releases.

Revenue - sale of goods

Management reviews the terms of all license contracts to 
ensure that the appropriate fair values are determined and 
that there are no future vendor obligations that would affect 
the license revenue recognised.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions and estimates concerning the future 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Revenue - rendering of services

Management makes estimates of the total costs that 
will be incurred by SDL on a contract by contract basis. 

not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated 
as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional 
provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and 

has applied IFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted 
after 7 November 2002 that had not vested at 1 January 
2005.

National Insurance on Share Option Grants: The anticipated 
National Insurance charge on gains made by employees 
over the period from date of grant of the option to the end 
of the performance period has been provided for.
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Management reviews the estimate of total costs on each 
contract on an ongoing basis to ensure that the revenue 
recognised accurately reflects the proportion of the work 
done at the balance sheet date.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions 
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating 
fair value for share-based payment transactions requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model, which 
is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This 
estimate also requires determining the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of 
the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making 
assumptions about them. The assumptions and models 
used for estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions are disclosed in Note 20.

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of 
complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of 
future taxable income. Given the wide range of international 
business relationships and the long-term nature and 
complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences 
arising between the actual results and the assumptions 
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could 
necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense 
already recorded. Differences of interpretation may arise on a 
wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing 
in the respective Group company’s domicile.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based 
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has tax losses carried forward amounting to 
£2,389,000 (2011: £2,323,000). These losses relate to 
subsidiaries that have a history of losses, do not expire 
and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere 
in the Group. The subsidiaries have no taxable temporary 
differences or any tax planning opportunities available that 
could partly support the recognition of these losses as 
deferred tax assets.

Further details on 
taxes are disclosed 
in Note 6.
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3BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of Alterian plc
On 27 January 2012 the Group acquired 100% of 

the share capital of Alterian plc, a listed company based in 
the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the Alterian 
plc group is the provision of marketing analytics, social 
media monitoring, campaign management and content 
management. 

The total cost of the combination comprises £73.2million. 
£20 million of the cost of the acquisition was funded by 
draw down of the Group loan facility and the remainder was 
funded from the Group’s existing cash resources.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
Alterian plc group as at the date of acquisition were:

Book value Fair value 
to Group

£’000 £’000

Intangible assets 27,002 19,694

Property, plant and 
Equipment

 1,697  1,658

Trade receivables  9,233  9,762

Other receivables  1,195  1,050

Cash and cash equivalents  571  571

Deferred tax asset  1,165  1,165

Trade payables  (2,982)  (3,022)

Overdraft  (1,934)  (1,934)

Other payables  (23,907)  (23,608)

Deferred tax liabilities  (1,184)  (4,530)

Net assets  10,856  806

Goodwill arising on 
acquisition   72,348

 73,154

Discharged by: £’000

Cash paid to shareholders 73,154

Exercise proceeds from 
employee share options

(3,407)

Total cash payable 69,747

Cash outflow on the 
acquisition:

Net cash and cash equivalents 
acquired with the subsidiary

571

Total cash paid (73,154)

Net cash outflow (72,583)

Alterian related acquisition costs included in administration 
costs in the income statement amounted to £677,000.

From the date of acquisition Alterian plc group has 
contributed £28.4 million of revenue and a profit of £2.3 
million to the net profit after tax of the Group. If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, 
the profit for the Group would have been £21.1 million 
and revenue from continuing operations would have been 
£271.7 million. Included in the £72.3 million of goodwill 
recognised above are certain intangible assets that cannot 
be individually separated and reliably measured from the 
acquiree due to their nature. These items include assembled 
workforce and buyer specific synergies.
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Acquisition of Calamares Holding B.V. in 2011

On 3 May 2011 the Group acquired 100% of the share 
capital of Calamares Holding B.V., an unlisted company 
based in the Netherlands. The principal activity of the 
Calamares Holding B.V. group is the provision of media asset 
management solutions. 

The total cost of the combination comprises €2.9 million 
(£2.6 million) and was funded from the Group’s existing cash 
resources.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
Calamares Holding B.V. group as at the date of acquisition 
were:

Book 
value

Fair value to 
Group

£’000 £’000

Intangible assets - 838

Cash and cash equivalents - -
Other payables (13) (13)

Deferred tax liabilities - (214)

Net (liabilities) / assets (13) 611

Provisional Goodwill arising 
on acquisition 1,968

2,579

Discharged by: £’000

Fair value of contingent 
consideration

1,254

Cash paid to shareholders 1,325

Total cash payable 2,579

Cash outflow on the 
acquisition:

Net cash and cash 
equivalents acquired with the 
subsidiary

-

Total cash paid (1,325)

Net cash outflow (1,325)

The maximum contingent consideration is £1.3 million. The 
fair value was calculated at £1.3 million and under IFRS 3 
(revised) any re-measurement has been recognised in the 
income statement.

From the date of acquisition Calamares Holding B.V. group 
did not materially affect the revenue or profitability of the 
Group in 2011. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of 2011, the profit for the Group would have been 
£25.7 million in 2011 and revenue from continuing operations 
would have been £229.1 million in 2011. Included in the £2.0 
million of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible 
assets that cannot be individually separated and reliably 
measured from the acquiree due to their nature. These items 
include assembled workforce. 

There have been no changes to the provisional fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of Calamares Group B.V. 
during the reporting period. The 12 month period for making 
changes to provisional fair values elapsed in May 2012.

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group operates in the Global Information 
Management industry. For management purposes 

the Group is organised into business units based on their 
products and services and has four reportable operating 
segments as follows: 

• The Language Services segment is the provision of a 
translation service to customers’ multilingual content in 
multiple languages.

• The Language Technologies segment is the sale of 
enterprise, desktop and statistical machine translation 
technology developed to help automate and manage 
multilingual assets together with associated consultancy 
and other services.

• The Content Management Technologies segment is the 
sale of content management technologies developed 
to help automate and manage content to deliver a 
consistent, interactive and personalised customer 
experience, in multiple languages, across websites, 
documentation, multiple media and channels.

• The Campaign Management, Analytics and Social 
Intelligence segment is the sale of campaign 
management, social media monitoring and marketing 
analytic technology together with associated 
consultancy and services.
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Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment prior to charges for tax, deferred compensation related to business 
combinations and amortisation.
 
Year ended 31 December 2012

External 
Revenue

Total Revenue Depreciation Segment profit 
before taxation and 

amortisation
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Language Services 151,047 151,047 1,076 23,222

Language Technologies 39,151 39,151 1,522 2,483

Content Management Technologies 57,790 57,790 624 10,431

Campaign Management, Analytics and 
Social Intelligence

21,335 21,335 831 58

Adjustments and Eliminations* - - - (677)

Total 269,323 269,323 4,053 35,517

Amortisation 8,120

Profit before taxation 27,397

*Acquisition related costs

Year ended 31 December 2011

External 
Revenue

Total Revenue Depreciation Segment profit 
before taxation and 

amortisation
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Language Services 136,178 136,178 1,152 25,540

Language Technologies 40,096 40,096 1,397 5,246

Content Management Technologies 52,727 52,727 521 8,780

Campaign Management, Analytics and 
Social Intelligence

- - - -

Adjustments and Eliminations* - - - 98

Total 229,001 229,001 3,070 39,664

Amortisation 5,903

Profit before taxation 33,761

*Deferred compensation and contingent consideration relating to acquisitions
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Segment assets:
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Language Services 55,693 54,227

Language Technologies 83,161 85,027

Content Management Technologies 113,832 75,503

Campaign Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence 57,063 -

Adjustments and Eliminations (1)34,053 (2)75,893

Total 343,802 290,650

(1) Segment assets do not include cash (£28,452,000), Corporation Tax (£1,206,000) and Deferred Tax (£4,395,000).
(2) Segment assets do not include cash (£70,408,000), Corporation Tax (£509,000) and Deferred Tax (£4,976,000).

Geographical analysis of external revenues by country of domicile is as follows:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

UK 66,676 49,585

USA 82,456 69,317

Republic of Ireland 24,229 23,487

Netherlands 17,887 17,354

Belgium 15,215 15,805

Germany 15,312 15,103

Canada 11,191 12,750

Rest of World 36,357 25,600

269,323 229,001

A Geographical analysis of external revenues by destination is provided in the Operating and Financial Review Section on 
page 12.

Geographical analysis of non-current assets excluding deferred tax is as follows:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

UK 199,192 119,246

USA 40,361 38,483

Rest of World 5,361 4,781

244,914 162,510

Goodwill and intangibles recognised on consolidation are included in the country which initially acquired the business 
giving rise to the recognition of goodwill and intangibles.
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5OTHER REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Group operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Included in administrative expenses:

Research and development expenditure  21,797 14,763

Bad debt charge  632 84

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets  2,943 2,536

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – leased assets  1,110 534

Amortisation of intangible assets  8,120 5,903

Operating lease rentals for plant and machinery  617 527

Operating lease rentals for land and buildings  6,580 5,884

Net foreign exchange gains  (1,050) (1,544)

Loss / (gain) on derivatives  35 (441)

Share based payment (credit) / charge (1,112) 2,867

Legal expenses in respect of Trados shareholder litigation 1,499 74

The net foreign exchange gains above arose due to movements in foreign currencies between the time of the original 
transaction and the realisation of the cash collection or spend, and the retranslation of US Dollar and Euro denominated 
intra-Group loans. 

Auditor’s remuneration

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Audit of the Group financial statements  290 232

Other fees to auditors:  

Local statutory audits for subsidiaries  59 43

Taxation compliance services  132 143

Other services  79 97

Staff costs
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Wages and salaries  112,495 94,954

Social security costs  13,651 11,570

Pension costs (included in administrative expenses)  3,479 2,727

(Income) / expense of share based payments  (1,112) 2,867

 128,513 112,118
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The Company operates a personal pension scheme for qualifying employees. Other companies acquired have similar 
schemes for their qualifying members, although SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited operates a defined contribution 
scheme with contributions made by the Company placed in a separately administered pension fund. The pension 
charge for the year represents contributions payable by the group to these schemes and amounted to £3,479,197 (2011: 
£2,726,670).

The average number of employees during the year, including executive directors, was made up as follows:

2012
Number

2011
Number

Administration and sales 1,022 817

Production 1,728 1,461

2,750 2,278

Finance costs
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Bank loans  303 -

Other interest paid  109 195

 412 195

Finance revenue
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Bank interest receivable 132 444
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6INCOME TAX

(a) Income tax on profit:

Consolidated income statement
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Current taxation

UK Income tax charge

Current tax on income for the period  1,360 1,411

Adjustments in respect of prior periods  (518) (16)

 842 1,395

Foreign tax  

Current tax on income for the period  6,263 8,563

Adjustments in respect of prior periods  137 (575)

 6,400 7,988

 

Total current taxation  7,242 9,383

 

Deferred income taxation  

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (700) (1,358)

Total deferred income tax  (700) (1,358)

 

Tax expense (see (b) below)  6,542 8,025

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Current taxation

UK Income tax credit

Income tax benefit on currency translation differences on foreign currency equity 
loans to foreign subsidiaries

 (115) (110)

Total current taxation  (115) (110)

A tax credit in respect of share based compensation for current taxation of £549,000 (2011: credit of £523,000) has been 
recognised in the statement of changes in equity in the year. A tax credit in respect of share based compensation for 
deferred taxation of £242,000 (2011: debit of £821,000) has been recognised in the statement of changes in equity in the 
year. 
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(b) Factors affecting tax charge:

The tax assessed on the profit on ordinary activities for the year is lower than the standard rate of income tax in the UK of 
24.5% (2011: 26.5%). The differences are reconciled below:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 27,397 33,761

Profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of tax in the UK 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) 6,712 8,947

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 247 468

Non deductible amortisation of intangibles 634 115

Adjustments in respect of previous years (381) (591)

Utilisation of tax losses brought forward previously not recognised (880) (1,912)

Current tax losses not available for offset 1,252 693

Effect of overseas tax rates (75) 3

Other (967) 302

Tax expense (see (a) above) 6,542 8,025

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges:

The Group may claim a Schedule 23 tax credit in respect of certain share based compensation benefits. Due to the 
requirements of IAS 12, in conjunction with IFRS 2, the amount of benefit that can be recognised in the income statement 
has been restricted in the current year and may also be restricted in future periods. Any surplus tax credit will be recorded 
in equity.

There are temporary differences which arise in relation to unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries. Since the Group 
is able to control dividend distributions from these companies it is unlikely that further UK tax on repatriation of these 
earnings will be payable in the foreseeable future. Consequently no deferred tax liability has been provided.
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(d) Deferred income tax:

The amounts recognised and unrecognised for deferred income tax are set out below:

Recognised
2012
£’000

Unrecognised
2012
£’000

Recognised
2011

£’000

Unrecognised
2011

£’000

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances  252 - 485 -

Other short-term temporary differences  (7,453) - (5,360) -

Tax losses  3,230 2,389 3,004 2,323

 

Net deferred income tax (liability) / asset  (3,971) 2,389 (1,871) 2,323

The Group has tax losses in net terms of £2,389,000 (2011: £2,323,000) that may be available for use by offset against 
future taxable profits in the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of these losses as the Group cannot foresee profitability in the companies where the losses arose with sufficient certainty. 
The Group has other tax losses amounting to £36,910,000 (2011: £20,984,000).

Included within other short term temporary differences are deferred tax assets in respect of potential Schedule 23 tax 
benefits of £708,000 (2011: £1,262,000) and a deferred tax liability in respect of the amortisation of certain intangible assets 
acquired, recognised in accordance with IAS 38, of £7,974,000 (2011: £6,375,000).

At 31 December 2012 the net deferred income tax position is represented by a deferred income tax asset of £4,395,000 
(2011: £4,976,000) and a deferred income tax liability of £8,366,000 (2011: £6,847,000).

(e) Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax liability: 

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

At 1 January  6,847 8,592

Retranslation of opening balances  (161) (98)

Deferred tax liability arising on intangible assets acquired  4,530 213

Reversal of temporary differences arising on the amortisation of intangibles  (1,868) (1,564)

Other temporary differences arising in the period  (115) (8)

Change in rate from 25.25% to 23%  (867) (288)

Deferred tax liability at 31 December  8,366 6,847
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(f) Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax asset:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

At 1 January  4,976 6,356

Retranslation of opening balances  (125) -

Deferred tax asset on acquisition  1,165  -

Temporary differences arising in the period  (454) (1,254)

Deferred income tax asset arising on share based payments recorded in income 
statement

 - 335

Deferred income tax asset arising on share based payments recorded in statement of 
changes in equity

 242 (821)

Other temporary differences arising in the period  (1,366) 429

Change in rate from 25.25% to 23%  (43) (69)

Deferred tax asset at 31 December  4,395 4,976

The 2012 Budget on 21 March 2012 announced that the UK corporation tax rate will reduce to 22% by 2014.  A reduction 
in the rate from 26% to 25% (effective from 1 April 2011) was substantively enacted on 5 July 2011, and further reductions 
to 24% (effective from 1 April 2012) and 23% (effective from 1 April 2013) were substantively enacted on 26 March 2012 
and 3 July 2012 respectively. Therefore the effect of these rate reductions creates a reduction in the deferred tax asset 
of £43,000 and a reduction in the deferred tax liability of £867,000 which has been included in the figures above. This 
reduction in rate has resulted in a net credit to deferred tax charge of £824,000.
 
The Chancellor proposed changes to further reduce the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per annum to 22% by 1 April 
2014, but these changes have not yet been substantively enacted and therefore are not included in the figures above. The 
overall effect of the further reductions from 23% to 22%, if these were applied to the deferred tax balance at 31 December 
2012, would be to further reduce the deferred tax asset by approximately £36,000.

7DIVIDENDS

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 of 5.8 pence per share (2011: 
Year ended 31 December 2010: 5.5 pence per share)

4,638 4,328

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 of 6.1 pence per share will be proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting and has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.
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8EARNINGS PER SHARE 
The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on a profit after tax of £20,855,000 (2011: £25,736,000) 
and 79,851,785 (2011: 78,666,436) ordinary shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 

during the period. 

The diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by including in the weighted average number of shares the dilutive 
effect of potential ordinary shares related to committed share options as described in note 20. For 2012 the diluted ordinary 
shares were based on 80,275,871 ordinary shares that included 424,086 potential ordinary shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculation of adjusted earnings per share computations:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Profit for the year  20,855 25,736

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets  8,120 5,903

Less: tax benefit associated with the amortisation of intangible fixed assets  (1,868) (1,564)

Adjusted profit for the year  27,107 30,075

Adjusted earnings per share is shown as the Directors believe that earnings before amortisation is reflective of the 
underlying performance of the business.

2012
No.

2011
No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share  79,851,785 78,666,436

Effect of dilution resulting from share options  424,086 2,449,551

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution  80,275,871 81,115,987

2012 2011

Adjusted earnings per ordinary share – basic (pence)  33.95 38.23

Adjusted earnings per ordinary share – diluted (pence)  33.77 37.08

There have been no material transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date 
and the date of completion of the financial statements.



79 SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

9PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
Improvements

Computer 
Equipment

Fixtures & 
Fittings

Motor Vehicles Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2011  1,410  14,035  2,606  107  18,158

Additions  231  2,707  323  -  3,261

Disposals  (34)  (4,563)  (27)  (17)  (4,641)

Currency adjustment  (1)  (75)  (32)  (2)  (110)

At 1 January 2012  1,606  12,104  2,870  88  16,668

Additions  257  4,526  350  -  5,133

Disposals  (10)  (47)  (14)  -  (71)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  35  1,444  179  -  1,658

 Reclassification  (14)  (1)  15  -  -

Currency adjustment  (70)  (613)  (84)  (2)  (769)

At 31 December 2012  1,804  17,413  3,316  86  22,619

 

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2011 (854) (9,229) (1,691) (61) (11,835)

Provided during the year (185) (2,492) (376) (17) (3,070)

Disposals 14 4,510 15 16 4,555

Currency adjustment 6 73 17 1 97

At 1 January 2012 (1,019) (7,138) (2,035) (61) (10,253)

Provided during the year (130) (3,442) (473) (8) (4,053)

Disposals 10 30 12 - 52

Currency adjustment 34 383 55 - 472

At 31 December 2012 (1,105) (10,167) (2,441) (69) (13,782)

Net book value:

At 31 December 2012 699 7,246 875 17 8,837

At 1 January 2012 587 4,966 835 27 6,415

Included in property, plant and equipment are assets held under finance lease of £466,000 at 31 December 2012 
(2011:  £607,000). 
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer 
Relationships

Intellectual 
Property

Goodwill Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2011 11,118 50,495 142,377 203,990

Acquisition of subsidiaries 22 816 1,968 2,806

Currency adjustment (52) (419) (850) (1,321)

At 1 January 2012  11,088  50,892  143,495  205,475

Acquisition of subsidiaries 8,912 10,782 72,348 92,042

Currency adjustment (406) (1,516) (3,805) (5,727)

At 31 December 2012  19,594  60,158  212,038  291,790

    

Amortisation:

At 1 January 2011 (5,688) (26,794) (12,203) (44,685)

Provided during the year (1,789) (4,114) - (5,903)

Currency adjustment 33 224 - 257

At 1 January 2012 (7,444) (30,684) (12,203) (50,331)

Provided during the year (2,698) (5,422) - (8,120)

Currency adjustment 285 880 - 1,165

At 31 December 2012 (9,857) (35,226) (12,203) (57,286)

Net book value:

At 31 December 2012 9,737 24,932 199,835 234,504

At 1 January 2012 3,644 20,208 131,292 155,144

Customer relationships and intellectual property are written off on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 
between 5 and 15 years. As from 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill is no longer amortised but is now 
subject to annual impairment testing (see note 12). 
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
Details of the investments (excluding dormant companies) in which the Group or Company holds more than 
20% of the nominal value of ordinary share capital are as follows:

Country of Proportion of
Name of Company Incorporation Holding Voting Rights Nature of Business

Held directly:

SDL Sheffield Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100% Language Services

Software & Documentation
Localisation France SARL

France Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Sweden AB Sweden Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Global Solutions (Ireland) Limited Ireland Ordinary 100% Language Services and 
Language Technologies

SDL International Belgium NV Belgium Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Software Technology (Shenzhen) Co 
Ltd

China Ordinary 100% Language Services and 
Language Technologies

SDL Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Poland Sp zoo Poland Ordinary 100% Language Services 

SDL International America Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Language Services 

SDL Japan KK Japan Ordinary 100% Language Services and 
Language Technologies 

SDL Holdings BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL do Brasil Servicos de Traduçao Ltda Brazil Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Trisoft NV Belgium Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Enterprise Technologies Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

SDL Multilingual Solutions
Private Ltd

India Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Hellas MEPE Greece Ordinary 100% Language Services

Automated Language Processing Services 
Ltd

England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Turkey Translation Services & 
Commerce Ltd

Turkey Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Chile SA Chile Ordinary 100% Language Services

Alterian Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company
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Held indirectly:

SDL Passolo GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

SDL Italia Srl Italy Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Spain SL Spain Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL International Nederland BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL International (Canada) Inc Canada Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Nederland Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Tridion Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding Company

SDL Multilingual Services GmbH & Co KG Germany Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Multi-Lingual Solutions (Singapore) 
PTE Ltd

Singapore Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Magyaror szág szolgáltató Kft Hungary Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL CZ sro Czech Republic Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Traduceri SRL Romania Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL Zagreb LLC Croatia Ordinary 100% Language Services

SDL doo Ljubljana Slovenia Ordinary 100% Language Services

Trados GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

SDL Tridion Corporate Services BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion Development Centre LLC Ukraine Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion Development Lab BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion AB Sweden Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion BVBA Belgium Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion Hispania SL Spain Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion SAS France Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies
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SDL Tridion Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Tridion KK Japan Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

Interlingua Group Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company

Alp Services Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Multilingual Services GmbH Germany Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Multilingual Services Verwaltung 
GmbH

Germany Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Quatron BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

ZAO SDL Rus Russia Ordinary 100% Language Services

XyEnterprise Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

XyEnterprise Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Fredhopper Group BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Fredhopper Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Fredhopper BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Fredhopper Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

Spring Technologies Ltd Bulgaria Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

SDL Xopus BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

Language Weaver Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

Language Weaver SRL Romania Ordinary 100% Language Technologies

SDL Media Manager Holding BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Holding company

SDL Media Manager BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies

Alterian Holdings Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Holding company

Alterian Technology Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence
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SDL Technologies India PVT Ltd (formerly 
Alterian Technologies India PVT Ltd)

India Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Intrepid Consultants Ltd England & Wales Ordinary 100% Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian do Brazil Software e Servicos 
Ltda

Brazil Ordinary 100% Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian BV Netherlands Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian Vietnam Co Ltd Vietnam Ordinary 100% Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Alterian Holdings Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Holding company

Alterian Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Content Management 
Technologies and 
Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

Intrepid Consultants Inc United States of 
America

Ordinary 100% Campaign Management, 
Analytics and Social 
Intelligence

The proportion of voting rights held as at 31 December 2012 is as shown above. There have been no changes during 2012, 
with the exception of the acquisition of Alterian Limited Group (formerly Alterian plc).
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12IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF 
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES WITH 
INDEFINITE LIVES

The Group has goodwill that has been acquired through 
business combinations but does not hold any intangible 
assets that have indefinite lives ascribed to them. 

The approach of the Group is to test impairment at the 
cash generating unit level. This is the lowest level of unit at 
which the Group is effectively able to manage and monitor 
performance, cash flow and goodwill. Five cash generating 
units have been determined for testing; Language Services, 
Language Technologies, Web Content Management, 
Structured Content Management and Campaign 
Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence. Where 
possible the goodwill has been allocated for impairment 
testing purposes to these cash generating units and full 
attribution of overheads and group costs has been made to 
each of the units in testing impairment. 

In order to evaluate the recoverable amounts relating to the 
cash-generating units the following key information should 
be noted.

The recoverable amount has been determined using the 
detailed projections from the 2013 annual plan projected 
for a five year period and subsequently into perpetuity, with 
a discount rate applied. Differential discount rates were 
used reflecting a different risk weighting based on relative 
maturity and size of the different cash generating units with 
10.0% applied to Language Services (2011: 10.2%), 11.4% 
to Language Technologies (2011: 11.9%), 10.7% to Web 
Content Management (2011: 11.1%), 11.0% to Structured 
Content Management (2011: 11.3%) and 10.9% to 

Campaign Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence. 
These reflect the relative maturity of the businesses and in 
aggregate approximate a group cost of capital of 10.6% 
for 2012 (2011: 10.8%). The budget has been prepared at 
the cash generating unit level based on historical trends 
adjusted for expected events. These individual budgets 
have been aggregated as the basis for the 2013 annual 
plan. The discount rate has been calculated as the weighted 
average cost of capital.

This methodology places strong emphasis on early year 
cash flows in evaluating impairment. The valuation is on a 
value in-use basis but has marginally increased average 
perpetual growth rates to 3.2% from the 3.1% used in 
2011. Differential perpetual growth rates have been used 
reflecting the relative maturity, penetration and profile of 
the cash generating units with 2% applied to the Language 
Services business and 4% applied to the Language 
Technologies business, Web Content Management 
business, Structured Content Management business and 
Campaign Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence 
business. Whilst the rates of growth vary across individual 
cash generating units, a long term average growth rate for 
the 5 years pre-perpetuity of 9% (2011: 8%) has been used 
for the tests, when considering SDL as a whole. Differential 
growth rates have been applied to the different cash-
generating units according to market growth projections 
of 5-7% for Language Services, 10-15% for Language 
Technologies, 8-12% for Web Content Management, 8-12% 
for Structured Content Management and 15-20% for 
Campaign Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence. 
It should be noted that whilst there is increasing linkage 
between the cash generating units in terms of cross selling 
and mutual exploitation of synergy no benefits have been 
assumed here.    

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash-generating units:
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Language Services  21,029 21,050

Language Technologies  61,904 64,327

Web Content Management  73,623 36,280

Structured Content Management  9,258 9,635

Campaign Management, Analytics and Social Intelligence  34,021 -

 199,835 131,292

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Having performed its impairment tests and having analysed 
the various sensitivities to these tests management believe 
that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key 
assumptions would cause the carrying value of the relevant 
units to exceed their recoverable amounts.

Next impairment test

The next impairment tests will be performed at the 2013 
year end. However, management continues to monitor 
the performance of its cash generating units closely and 
should it believe a significant event has occurred which 
deteriorates the forward operating prospects of the 
business it will move to bring forward these tests. 
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Trade receivables  50,444 40,858

Corporation tax  1,206 509

Prepayments and accrued income  14,391 11,389

 66,041 52,756

All amounts are due within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and on average have thirty to sixty day 
settlement terms. Accrued income is the value of unbilled work recognised on projects in accordance with the accounting 
policy outlined in Note 2.

As at 31 December 2012, trade receivables at nominal value of £1,750,000 (2011: £890,000) were impaired and provided 
for. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2011  869

Charge for the year  84

Utilised in the year  (23)

Currency adjustment  (40)

At 31 December 2011  890

Acquired companies provision at date of acquisition  998

Charge for the year  632

Utilised in the year  (725)

Charge against deferred income  40

Currency adjustment  (85)

At 31 December 2012  1,750

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

Total
Not past due 
nor impaired <30 days 30-60 days >60 days

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2012  50,444  43,057  5,336  1,032  1,019

2011 40,858 36,070 3,593 616 579
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14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 28,452 70,408

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash 
equivalents is £28,452,000 (2011: £70,408,000). 
At 31 December 2012, the Group had available £4,810,000 (2011: £20,000,000) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities 
in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the amounts shown above.

15TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT)

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Trade payables 6,817 5,964

Other taxes and social security costs 2,910 2,729

Other payables 5,620 2,327

Accruals and deferred income 57,372 42,469

 72,719 53,489

The terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities are as follows:
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 45 days.
Other taxes and social security costs are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 1 month.
Other payables, generally, are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 2 months.

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (NON-CURRENT)

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Other payables  37 1,102

Deferred Income  2,035 -

 2,072 1,102

Other payables include amounts payable under finance lease arrangements for purchase of property, plant and equipment.
The amounts payable under finance leases are set out below:

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

2012
£’000

2012
£’000

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

2011
£’000

2011
£’000

Within one year 217 4 213 460 29 431

After one year but not 
more than five years

37 1 36 140 - 140

254 5 249 600 29 571
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2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Current instalments due on bank loans  22,190 -

£20 million variable rate secured term loan  20,000 -

£7 million variable secured term loan  2,190 -

 22,190 -

The loans are secured on the net assets of the Group companies held in the certain subsidiaries. The £20 million loan is 
repayable within one month, under a revolving facility that expires on 7 February 2014. The loan bears interest at between 
LIBOR+0.85% and LIBOR+1.4%. The £7 million loan is repayable within one month under a revolving facility that expires in 
March 2013. The loan bears interest at LIBOR+1%. This loan was fully repaid in January 2013.

Property 
Leases

Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2012  451  947  1,398

Released during the year  -  (25)  (25)

Arising during the year  -  1,499  1,499

Acquisition  1,316  220  1,536

Utilised  (762)  (1,223)  (1,985)

At 31 December 2012  1,005  1,418  2,423

   

Current 2012  511  1,094  1,605

Non-current 2012  494  324  818

 1,005  1,418  2,423

Current 2011 51 788 839

Non-current 2011 400 159 559

451 947 1,398

Property Leases
The provision for property leases is in respect of closed leasehold premises, from which the Group no longer trades, but 
is liable to fulfil rent and other property commitments up to the lease expiry date. Obligations are payable within a range 
of one to 9 years. Amounts have been provided on current rentals and are management’s best estimate of the likely future 
cash outflows. The provision has been discounted using market interest rates. The undiscounted provision is £1,145,000 
(2011: £569,000).

Other
Other provisions include a number of employee, legal and product related amounts. Obligations are payable within 1-3 
years. 

Included in the above is a provision for £1,094,000 (2011: £500,000) for a minor ongoing litigation with a former Trados 
shareholder claiming breaches of fiduciary duty by the former Trados Directors on the sale of Trados to SDL in 2005. The 
SDL Board believes the case to be completely without merit. The case is currently being heard at a court hearing. The SDL 
Board estimates the potential exposure is between $1 and $3m.

18PROVISIONS

17 LOANS AND OVERDRAFT
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20SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS
On 23 April 2010, following shareholder 
approval, the “SDL Share Option Scheme 

(2010)” was adopted. This replaced the “SDL Share Option 
Scheme (1999’) for which options are still exercisable. The 
SDL Share Option Scheme (2010) permits the granting of 
both options approved by HM Revenue and Customs within 
the statutory £30,000 limit and unapproved options, subject 
to performance conditions. From 2010 onwards, all options 
have been granted in accordance with these rules. 

The SDL Long Term Share Incentive Plan, which was 
approved by shareholders in April 2006 (“the 2006 plan”), 
expired for the purposes of new awards in April 2011. No 
further awards could be made after the expiry date but 
existing awards will remain protected although they will only 
vest to the extent that the related performance conditions 
are met. 

The 2006 plan has been replaced with the SDL Long Term 
Share Incentive Plan (2011) (“the 2011 Plan”) which received 
approval from shareholders in April 2011. The 2011 Plan 
is broadly similar in construction. It has been updated to 
reflect current law and market practice and the proposed 
performance conditions are designed to be more closely 
aligned to the company’s current business strategy and 
objectives. 

On 10 April 2012, 145,053 shares were granted under the 
2011 Plan to the Executive Directors based on a market 
price of £7.48, with a performance period of three years 
from date of grant. Senior management employees received 
awards of 522,303 on 10 April 2012.

On 24 April 2008 a Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme 
was formally approved by the shareholders at the AGM. 
Following the success of the UK and Netherlands SAYE 
schemes, in 2012 an extension to the international version 
was rolled out to SDL plc’s subsidiary companies in the 
United States and Canada. The rules are based on those 
of the UK in that employees must be eligible and there is 
a monthly savings contract over a 3 year period. In 2012 
options were granted to UK, Netherlands, Canada and 
United States scheme participants at 80% of the prevailing 
market price. The market price is taken the day prior to 
the date of invitations to apply for an option. There are no 
performance conditions attached to the exercise of these 
options. These options may be exercised within a fixed six-
month period, three years from the date of grant or being 
made redundant.

Included within administration expenses is a credit of 
£1,112,000 (2011: charge of £2,867,000) relating to 2010, 
2011 and 2012 Long Term Incentive awards and option 
scheme grants which will not, or are not expected to vest.

19 SHARE CAPITAL
Allotted, called up and fully paid

2012
thousands

2011
thousands

2012
£

2011
£

Ordinary shares of 1p each

 At 1 January  79,213  78,008  792,131  780,089

 Issued on exercise of share options  193  325  1,935  3,246

 Issued on exercise of LTIPS  712  762  7,119  7,616

 Issued on exercise of SAYE scheme  32  118  319  1,180

Issued as payment of deferred consideration  61  -  608  -

 Issued on acquisition of subsidiaries  -  -  -  -

 At 31 December  80,211  79,213  802,112  792,131

The following movements in the ordinary share capital of the company occurred during the year:

1. 193,506 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under 
the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999), SDL Share Option 
Scheme (2010) and earlier Unapproved Option Schemes 
at a price range of 34 pence to 375 pence per share for 
an aggregate consideration of £383,897.

2. 711,918 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under 
the SDL LTIP Scheme at a price of 1 pence per share for 
an aggregate consideration of £7,119. 

3. 31,861 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted 
under the SDL Save As You Earn Scheme at a price 
range of 256 to 286 pence per share for an aggregate 
consideration of £86,123. 

4. In September 2012 60,804 ordinary shares of 1p 
each were allotted to six former shareholders of 
Intrepid Consultants Inc as payment of the contingent 
consideration due as a result of the acquisition of Intrepid 
Consultants Inc by the Alterian plc group in 2010.
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2012 2011

Weighted average share price (pence)  748  670

Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence)  144  199

Expected volatility  30%  43%

Expected option life  4 years  4 years

Expected dividends  1%  1%

Risk-free interest rate  0.5%  1.5%

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £1.17-£7.48 (2011: £0.34-£6.70).

Date of Grant Exercise Period 2012
Number

2011
Number

£0.01 - £0.50 23/02/03 10 years after grant date - 46,000

£1.01 - £1.50 02/04/04-04/04/05 10 years after grant date 305,118 344,334

£2.01 - £2.50 22/03/06-03/10/06 10 years after grant date 23,700 24,950

£2.51 - £3.00 28/02/08-02/03/09 10 years after grant date 244,975 359,191

£3.51 - £4.00 23/5/07 10 years after grant date 5,200 11,500

£4.51 - £5.00 12/04/10 10 years after grant date 119,115 153,490

£5.01 - £5.50 10/09/10 10 years after grant date 29,070 36,462

£6.51 - £7.00 18/05/11 10 years after grant date 151,296 180,230

£7.01 - £7.50 10/04/12 10 years after grant date 147,263 -

Total 1,025,737 1,156,157

SDL Share Option Scheme 

The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL Share 
Options Scheme during the year:

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  1,156,157  £3.15  1,375,987  £2.37

Granted during the year  166,545  £7.48  189,574  £6.70

Forfeited during the year  (103,459)  £5.45  (71,809)  £3.88

Exercised during the year  (193,506)  £1.99  (324,595)  £1.86

Expired during the year  -  -  (13,000)  £0.83

Outstanding at the end of the year  1,025,737  £3.84  1,156,157  £3.15

Exercisable at 31 December  578,993  £1.95  616,903  £1.72

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £6.63 (2011: £6.33).

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2012, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 5.64 years 
(2011: 5.95 years). 

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL Share Option Scheme is estimated as at the date of 
grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs and key output to the model:
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SDL Save As You Earn Scheme

The table below sets out the number and movements in, the SDL Save As You Earn Scheme during the year:

2012
No.

2011
No.

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  149,567 163,650

Granted during the year  214,131 109,457

Exercised during the year  (31,861) (118,030)

Forfeited during the year  (35,430) (5,510)

Outstanding at the end of the year  296,407 149,567

Exercisable at 31 December  Nil Nil

For the SAYE shares outstanding as at 31 December 2012, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.86 years 
(2011: 1.93 years). 

SDL Long Term Incentive Plan

The fair value of equity-settled shares granted under the SDL Long Term Incentive Plan is estimated as at the date of 
grant using a Monte-Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The 
following table lists the inputs and key output to the model used in the year of grant:

2012 2011

Expected volatility  30%  43%

Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence)  467 426

Expected life 3 years 3 years

Expected dividends 1% 1%

Risk-free interest rate 0.5% 1.5%

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  2,304,736  £0.01  2,576,916  £0.01

Granted during the year  667,356  £0.01  632,244  £0.01

Exercised during the year  (711,918)  £0.01  (761,617)  £0.01

Forfeited during the year  (550,066)  £0.01  (142,807)  £0.01

Outstanding at the end of the year  1,710,108  £0.01  2,304,736  £0.01

Exercisable at 31 December  Nil  -  Nil -

All LTIPs are exercisable at nil cost to the individual (with the exception of the 1p nominal value of each share awarded).



92SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012
SDL Statutory Inform

ation

21 ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Analysis of Group net debt:

 1 January 
2012

 Cash flow  Debt Acquired 
on acquisition

 Exchange 
differences

 31 December 
2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents  70,408  (41,755)  571  (772)  28,452

Loans  -  (20,256)  (1,934)  -  (22,190)

 70,408  (62,011)  (1,363)  (772)  6,262

 1 January 
2011

 Cash flow  Debt Acquired 
on acquisition

 Exchange 
differences

 31 December 
2011

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Cash and cash equivalents  46,628  23,981  -  (201)  70,408

Loans  -  -  -  -  -

 46,628  23,981  -  (201)  70,408

22 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties used as offices. The future minimum 
rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Land and buildings Other Total
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Within one year  5,191  4,819  1,659  884  6,850  5,703

After one year but not more than five 
years

 17,558  10,442  670  649  18,228  11,091

More than five years  4,451  4,538  3  -  4,454  4,538

 27,200  19,799  2,332  1,533 29,532  21,332

The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2012 were £350,000 
(2011: £481,000). 

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL SAYE Scheme is estimated as at the date of grant 
using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs and key output to the model in the year of grant:

2012 2011

Weighted average share price (pence)  599 520

Expected volatility  29% 41%

Expected option life  3.5 years 3.5 years

Expected dividends  1% 1%

Risk-free interest rate  0.2% 1.1%

For all Share Based payment models, the volatility is calculated from compounded daily logs of normal returns of the 
company share price over a historic period commensurate with the expected life of the incentive.
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23 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group 

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Short term employee benefits 1,718 1,863

Post employment benefits  108 89

Gains on disposal of LTIPS  484 1,129

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,310 3,081

Transactions between group companies, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and have not 
been included in this note.

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
An explanation of the Group’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies are set 
out in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 11 to 18.

Interest Rate Risk: Net debt has decreased from £70.4 million cash in 2011 to £6.3 million net cash in 2012. Whilst interest 
rate risk has increased in 2012 from 2011, as the Group drew down against borrowing facilities to fund the acquisition of 
Alterian, the risk is not considered significant. Borrowings amounted to £22.2 million at 31 December 2012 (see note 17) 
which bear interest between LIBOR +0.85% and LIBOR +1.4%.  

To ensure adequate working capital the Group maintains cash deposits and these deposits are affected by any movements 
in rates of interest generally. These cash deposits are generally receiving interest income at LIBOR (or USD, EURO 
equivalent) plus a margin. The Group seeks to place all cash surplus to operational requirements in secure money market 
funds. To enhance the interest earning capacity of the Group, processes have been put in place to ensure that cash 
balances held by subsidiary companies are kept as low as operationally possible. With regard to relative interest rates, 
adequate cash is retained in key operating currencies to fund the operational needs of the Group. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the UK £ interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss) 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

+ 1 %  (214) 286

- 1 %  214 (286)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the Euro interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss) 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

+ 1 %  45 164

- 1 %  (45) (164)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 1 percent change in the US$ interest rate:

Profit before tax gain/(loss) 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

+ 1 %  137 127

- 1 %  (137) (127)
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Liquidity Risk: The Group’s objective is to optimise the 
funds currently available to it in order to maintain the lowest 
operational borrowing profile necessary. At the end of 2012 
the Group had net cash of £6.3 million which comprised of 
cash balances of £28.5 million and loans of £22.2 million. 
Underpinning this philosophy are processes to manage 
operating cash flow, with a focus on approvals policy for 
significant cash outlays and credit control.

Foreign Currency Risk: A significant amount of business 
is done with customers in both the USA and Continental 
Europe with approximately 46% of total invoicing done in 
US Dollar and 30% in Euro. The most significant sensitivity 
is to the US Dollar as illustrated below. This overseas client 
base gives rise to short-term debtors and cash balances in 
both US Dollars and Euros. Consequently, the movements 
in the US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/Sterling exchange rates 
affect the Group Balance Sheet, as well as the Consolidated 
Income Statement. The Group seeks to manage this risk in 
the first instance by looking to a natural hedge and ensuring 
where possible currency needs in the USA are funded from 
the settlement of US Dollar denominated debtors. After a 

review of effectiveness the Group has not entered into any 
new US Dollar hedges since 2008. At the end of 2012 the 
Group has no hedges outstanding. 

In addition, the Group has exposure on the Balance Sheet 
to the movements in US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/Sterling 
exchange rates as a result of intangible assets held in non 
functional currency, the retranslation of US and continental 
European overseas subsidiaries net assets into UK Sterling 
for consolidation purposes and finally intercompany loan and 
trading relationships held in non functional currency. In the 
case of the latter, this can have an impact on net profitability 
where the intercompany relationships are not treated for 
accounting purposes as equity loans. 

The Consolidated Income Statement is also affected by 
movements in the US Dollar/Sterling and Euro/Sterling 
exchange rates when sales to customers are converted to 
Sterling at the date of the sales transaction, as this will vary 
from month to month. This is partially offset by the effect of 
retranslating US Dollar and Euro denominated costs into UK 
Sterling from month to month.

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Sensitivity to a 1 cent change in the US Dollar exchange rate

Profit before tax gain/(loss)

+ 1 cent  (441) (289)

- 1 cent  446 293

Statement of Financial Position* increase/(decrease) in net assets  

+ 1 cent  (462) (492)

- 1 cent  468 498

Sensitivity to a 1 cent change in the Euro exchange rate

Profit before tax gain/(loss)

+ 1 cent  (111) (59)

- 1 cent  113 60

Statement of Financial Position* increase/(decrease) in net assets  

+ 1 cent  (1,073) (1,031)

- 1 cent  1,090 1,048
*Based on the Statement of Financial Position at 31 December

Economic Conditions - Credit Control Risk: Given the 
economic conditions at the end of 2012, SDL continues to 
benefit from a diverse list of major clients of which no client 
contributes more than 5% of sales. The Group is however 
continuing to place emphasis on sound application of credit 
control processes given the recent deterioration in macro-
economic conditions. The Group has made provision against 
trade receivables to reflect specific collection risks identified. 

Capital Management: The Board monitors the total equity 

and the cash and cash equivalents balance in considering 
its retained capital and when and how a return of capital to 
shareholders is appropriate. The Group maintains a strong 
capital base so as to maintain employee, customer, market, 
investor and creditor confidence in the business and to 
ensure that it continues to operate as a going concern. The 
annual dividends have increased by 5.2%. The strategy 
of the Board is to pursue strong profitable growth by 
reinvesting operating cash flows into the business whilst 
offering a nominal return to those investors who value a yield 
in addition to growth.
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25 DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2012
Floating rate Within 

1 year
£’000

1 - 2 years
£’000

2 - 3 years
£’000

3 - 4 years
£’000

4 - 5 years
£’000

More than 
5 years

£’000
Total
£’000

 Cash  28,452 - - - - -  28,452

 Borrowings  (22,190)  -  -  -  -  -  (22,190)

 Net cash  6,262  -  -  -  -  -  6,262

Year ended 31 December 2011
Floating rate Within 

1 year
£’000

1 - 2 years
£’000

2 - 3 years
£’000

3 - 4 years
£’000

4 - 5 years
£’000

More than 
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Cash 70,408 - - - - - 70,408

Maturity of financial liabilities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2012:

Less than 12 
months

£’000

Over 12 
months

£’000
Total
£’000

Other liabilities 1,605 2,890 4,495

Trade and other payables 15,347 - 15,347

16,952 2,890 19,842

The above table excludes accruals and deferred income. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2011:

Less than 12 
months

£’000

Over 12 
months

£’000
Total

£’000

Other liabilities 839 1,661 2,500

Trade and other payables 11,120 - 11,120

11,959 1,661 13,620

The fair value of the contingent consideration included in other payables is estimated by reviewing purchase documentation 
and forecast information. This represents a level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy under IFRS 7. Contingent 
consideration is cash, therefore has been recorded as a liability. Any subsequent remeasurement to this liability will be 
recorded in the income statement.



96SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012
SDL Statutory Inform

ation

Borrowing facilities

At 31 December 2012, the Group has two borrowing 
facilities available to it amounting to £27 million against 
which £22.2 million has been drawn. At 31 December 2011 
the Group had one unutilised facility available of £20 million. 
The facility of £7 million expires in March 2013 and was fully 
repaid (see note 17) and the facility of £20 million expires in 
February 2014.

Credit risk

Under the RBS facility agreement the SDL Group is required 
to retain at least 60% of its cash held by the Group within 
a Charging Group defined as a list of Charging Subsidiaries 
and the borrower (SDL Plc). This exposes the Group to 
counterparty risk based on the banks with whom the 
Charging Group holds cash deposits. The most significant 
counterparty risk is with RBS. The maximum credit risk 
exposure related to financial assets is represented by the 
carrying value as at the balance sheet date. 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities 
approximate their fair value. Fair values of assets and 
liabilities are based on their carrying values. The directors 
consider that there were no material differences between 
the book values and fair values of all the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities at each year-end. The fair values have 
been calculated using the market interest rates where 
applicable. 

There are no hedging arrangements in place as at 31 
December 2012 (2011: None). 

The Group had no outstanding borrowings on loan facilities 
held with RBS at 31 December 2011 and therefore had 
no sensitivity to interest rate risk on these facilities at the 
balance sheet date. The interest rate risk on the borrowings 
at 31 December 2012 is directly linked to the 3 month 
LIBOR and is set out in note 17. The interest rates that the 
Group would pay under the facilities are linked directly to 
the 3-month LIBOR rate. 

26 EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
On 8 February 2013, the Group acquired 100% 

of Bemoko Consulting Limited (an unlisted company based 
in England) for £1.9 million, of which £1.1 million is payable 
immediately and was funded from the Group’s existing 
cash reserves. The principal activity of Bemoko Limited is 
a provider of mobile web solutions. Additional disclosures 
required under IFRS3 (Revised) will be included in the 30 
June 2013 Interim Report once the initial accounting for the 
business combination has been completed.

There are no other known events occurring after the 
statement of financial position date that require disclosure.
 
The Directors are recommending that a final dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2012 of 6.1 pence per ordinary 
share be paid to the shareholders whose names appear 
on the register at the close of business on 17 May 2013 
with payment on 14 June 2013. The Ex-dividend date will 
be 15 May 2013. This recommendation will be put to the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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Notes:
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 2  816 753

Investments in subsidiaries 3  216,120 143,903

Rent deposits  34 35
 216,970 144,691

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 4  46,336 44,961

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 4  14,795 -

Cash at bank and in hand  4,149 31,184
 65,280 76,145

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5  (95,012)  (72,747)

Interest bearing Loans and Borrowings 6  (20,000)  -
 (115,012)  (72,747)

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS  (49,732) 3,398

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  167,238 148,089
 

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year 7  (20,993) (6,397)
 

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 8  (1,450) (1,110)
144,795 140,582

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 9,10 802 792

Share premium account 10 96,747 95,875

Profit and loss account 10  47,246 43,915

TOTAL EQUITY 144,795 140,582

Approved by the Board of directors on 12 March 2013

M Lancaster  
Director 

M Knight
Director 

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
At 31 December 2012
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NOTES TO THE ACOUNTS

1 Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies that have been 
consistently applied in arriving at the financial 

information set out in this report are:

Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical 
cost convention as modified for certain items which have 
been measured at fair value, namely financial instruments. 
The financial statements are presented in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

Basis of preparation of financial statements

No profit and loss account is presented for the Company as 
permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The 
Company’s result for the year is shown in note 13.

Fixed assets and depreciation

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the 
estimated residual value of tangible fixed assets over their 
estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Leasehold 
improvements 

- The lower of ten years 
or the lease term 

straight line

Computer 
equipment 

- 4-5 years straight line

Fixtures & fittings - 20% reducing balance

Motor vehicles - 20% reducing balance

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the 
rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translation 
are included in the profit and loss account.

The currency translation differences on retranslation of the 
foreign branches at the balance sheet date are recognised 
directly in equity.

Financial instruments

The Company uses forward foreign currency contracts and 
options to reduce exposure to foreign exchange rates. The 
Company also uses interest rate swaps to adjust interest 
rate exposures. Such instruments are stated at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken 
to the profit and loss account in the period. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements contain 
financial instrument disclosures which comply with FRS 

29 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. Consequently, the 
Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 29 
not to present separate financial instrument disclosures for 
the Company.

Leases

Assets acquired under finance leases and hire purchase 
contracts are capitalised and the outstanding future 
obligations are shown in creditors. Operating lease rentals 
are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease. Operating lease income 
is credited to the profit and loss account on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

Incentives received from landlord

In accordance with UITF 28, the aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a credit to the profit and loss 
account. The benefits of the incentives are allocated over the 
life of the lease on a straight line basis.

Pension cost

The Company contributes to a group personal pension 
scheme for qualifying employees whereby it makes defined 
contributions to independently administered personal 
pension schemes. The company does not control any of 
the assets or have any ongoing liabilities with regard to the 
performance of and payments from these individual personal 
schemes. 

Research and development

Research and development costs are written off as incurred 
in the year of expenditure. 

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be measured reliably. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue on service contracts is recognised only when 
their outcomes can be foreseen with reasonable certainty 
and is based on the percentage stage of completion of the 
contracts, calculated on the basis of costs incurred. Accrued 
and deferred revenue arising on long-term contracts is 
included in debtors as accrued income and creditors as 
deferred income as appropriate.

 
Support and maintenance contracts are invoiced in advance 
and normally run for periods of 12 months with automatic 
renewal on the anniversary date. Revenue in respect of 
support and maintenance contracts is recognised evenly 



99 SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012 COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

over the 12 months commencing from the date of the 
contract period. 
 
Managed services (hosting) fees are recognised over the 
term of the hosting contract on a straight-line basis. 
Professional services and consulting revenue, which is 
provided on a ‘time and expense’ basis, is recognised as the 
service is performed. 
 
For multiple element arrangements revenue is allocated 
to each element on fair value regardless of any separate 
prices stated within the contract. The portion of the revenue 
allocated to an element is recognised when the revenue 
recognition criteria for that element have been met.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer, usually on despatch of the goods.

 
Revenue on software licenses and upgrades is recognised 
on despatch, when there are no significant vendor 
obligations remaining and the collection of the resulting 
receivable is considered probable. In circumstances where 
a considerable future vendor obligation exists as part of a 
software licence and related services contract, revenue is 
recognised over the period that the obligation exists per the 
contract. 

Taxation

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year 
and takes into account deferred taxation arising from timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for 
taxation and accounting purposes. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences 
that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet 
date where transactions or events have occurred at that date 
that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay 
less or to receive more, tax, with the following exceptions: 
• provision is made for tax on gains arising from fair value 

adjustments of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of 
fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement 
assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, 
there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets 
concerned. However no provision is made where, on the 
basis of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, 
it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled 
over into replacement assets and charged to tax only 
where the replacement assets are sold;

• provision is made for deferred tax that would arise 
on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet 

date, dividends have been accrued as receivable;
• deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 

that the directors consider that it is more likely than not 
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the 
future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be 
deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which 
timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

National Insurance Contributions on Share Option Gains

Following the issuance of UITF abstract 25 “National 
Insurance contributions on Share Option Gains” the 
Company makes provision for the National Insurance 
contributions on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
of the options and as remeasured each period thereafter 
until the options are exercised. The remeasurement is based 
upon the share price at the year-end.

Cash flow statement

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
granted by Financial Reporting Standard 1 to not present a 
cash flow statement.

Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
granted by Financial Reporting Standard 8 from disclosing 
related party transactions with entities that are 100% owned 
by the SDL plc group.

Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. Investments denominated 
in foreign currency are recorded using the rate of exchange 
at the date of acquisition and reviewed annually for evidence 
of impairment.

Financial Assets

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost 
less any provision for impairment in value.

Investments in unquoted equity investments which do not 
have a reliable market value are stated at cost less provision 
for any impairment in value. For investments where there 
is an actively traded market the investment is stated at fair 
value, determined by reference to a quoted market bid price 
at the close of business on the balance sheet date.
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Cash

Cash in bank represents cash in hand and deposits 
repayable with any qualifying institution.

Debtors

Debtors are recorded at initial measurement and are 
provided for where management consider an element of the 
balance to be irrecoverable. 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company 
becomes party to the contracts which give rise to them and 
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through the 
profit and loss or loans and payables as appropriate. When 
financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured 
at fair value, plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair 
value through profit and loss, directly attributable transaction 
costs. The Company determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at each financial year end.

A financial liability is generally de-recognised when the 
contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or 
expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability 
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
constitute financial guarantee contracts. The fair value is 
calculated based on an assessment of both the likelihood 
that the financial guarantee would be called upon and 
expected cash flows which could arise. Liabilities are carried 
in the balance sheet at fair value and re-evaluated at each 
financial year end, with gains or losses recognised in the 
profit and loss account.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present 
obligation as a result of a past event and management 
believe it to be probable that the Company will be required 
to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are 
discounted to net present value where this is deemed to be 
material.

Bank borrowings

Interest bearing bank loans are recorded at the proceeds 
received net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement and direct issue costs, are 
accounted for on an accruals basis in the profit and loss 
account using the effective rate of interest method.

Share based payments

Employees (including directors) of the company receive 
remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in 
exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled 
transactions’).

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the 
vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award.  Fair value is 
determined by using an appropriate option pricing model. In 
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of 
any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the 
price of the shares of the company (market conditions). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, 
together with a corresponding increase in equity, ending on 
the date on which the relevant employees become entitled 
to the award (‘vesting date’). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting 
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, 
in the opinion of the directors of the Company at that date, 
based on the best available estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective 
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 
that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, 
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for 
any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the 
modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if 
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as 
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if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The company has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of FRS 20 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied 
FRS 20 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested at 1 January 2005.
In accordance with UITF 25, National Insurance on Share Option Grants, the anticipated National Insurance charge on 
gains made by employees over the period from date of grant of the option to the end of the performance period has been 
provided for. 

Group and Treasury share transactions

Where a parent entity grants rights to its equity instruments to its employees of a subsidiary, and such share-based 
compensation is accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated financial statements of the parent, FRS 20 requires 
the subsidiary to record an expense for such compensation, with a corresponding increase recognised in equity as a 
contribution from the parent. Consequently, in the financial statements of the Company, the Company recognises an 
increase in fixed asset investments or amounts owed by group companies for the aggregate amount of these contributions, 
with a credit to equity for the same amount.

2 Tangible Fixed Assets

Leasehold 
Improvements

Computer 
Equipment

Fixtures & 
Fittings

Motor Vehicles Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2012 567 918 849 26 2,360

Currency adjustment  (2)  (9)  (2)  -  (13)

Additions  -  425  6  -  431

At 31 December 2012  565  1,334  853  26  2,778
 

Depreciation

At 1 January 2012 (442) (381) (758) (26) (1,607)

Currency adjustment 1 7 2 - 10

Provided during the year (20) (281) (64) - (365)

At 31 December 2012 (461) (655) (820) (26) (1,962)

Net book value

At 31 December 2012  104  679  33  -  816

At 31 December 2011 125 537 91 - 753

The net book value of assets held under finance leases is £nil as at 31 December 2012 (2011: £nil).
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3 Investments In Subsidiaries
Details of the investments in which the Company holds more than 20% of the nominal value of ordinary share capital 
are given in Note 11 of the Group financial statements.

£’000

 Cost and Net Book Value as at 1 January 2012  143,903

 Addition during the year: Alterian Limited Group  73,154

 Adjustment re share option credit  (937)

 Cost and Net Book Value as at 31 December 2012  216,120

4 Debtors 

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors  3,953 4,815

Amounts owed by Group undertakings  38,743 36,038

Corporation Tax  21 6

Deferred income tax asset  813 1,265

Prepayments and accrued income  2,806 2,837

 46,336 44,961

Accrued income is the value of unbilled work recognised on projects per the accounting policy outlined in Note 1.

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Amounts owed by Group undertakings  14,795 -

 14,795 -

Amounts owed by Group undertakings comprise intra-group loans which fall due after more than 5 years and bear interest 
at rates of LIBOR+2%.

The amounts recognised and unrecognised for deferred income tax are set out below:

Recognised Unrecognised Recognised Unrecognised

2012
£’000

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

2011
£’000

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 139 - 349 -

Other short-term temporary differences 174 - 192 -

Share based payments 500 - 724 -

Tax losses - 147 - 186

Net deferred income tax asset  813 147 1,265 186
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Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax asset:
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

At 1 January  1,265 1,687

Temporary differences arising in the period  (452) (422)

Deferred tax asset at 31 December  813 1,265

The company has tax losses in net terms of £147,000 (2011: £186,000) that may be available for use by offset against 
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as the Company cannot 
foresee profitability with sufficient certainty.

5 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Trade creditors 1,401 1,200

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 86,612 62,922

Corporation tax 875 1,454

Other taxes and social security costs 349 1,132

Other creditors 254 249

Accruals and deferred income 5,521 5,715

Deferred tax liability  - 75

 95,012 72,747

Reconciliation of movement on deferred tax liability: 
2012
£’000

2011
£’000

At 1 January 75 75

Temporary differences arising in the period  (75) -

Deferred tax liability at 31 December  - 75

6Interest Bearing Loans And Borrowings

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Current instalments due on bank loans  20,000  -

  

£20 million variable rate secured term loan  20,000  -

The loan is secured on the net assets of the Group companies held in the obligor group and repayable within one 
month, under a revolving facility that expires on 7 February 2014. The loan bears interest at between LIBOR+0.85% and 
LIBOR+1.4%.
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7 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings  20,920 6,320

Other creditors  73 77

 20,993 6,397

Amounts owed to Group undertakings comprise intra-group loans which fall due after more than 5 years and bear interest 
at rates of LIBOR+1.5% to LIBOR+3%. 

8Provisions For Liabilities And Charges

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Property leases  397 451

Other  1,053 659

 1,450 1,110

Movement in provisions:
Provision 1 

January 2012
Arising during 

the year
Released 

during the year
Utilised during 

the year
Provision 31 

December 
2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Property leases 451  -  -  (54)  397

Other 659  1,354  (25)  (935)  1,053

1,110  1,354  (25)  (989)  1,450

Property Leases

The provision for Property Leases is in respect of closed leasehold premises, from which the Company no longer trades, 
but is liable to fulfil rent and other property commitments up to the lease expiry dates. Obligations are payable within 
a range of one to 9 years. Amounts have been provided on current rentals and are management’s best estimate of the 
likely future cash outflows. The provision has been discounted using market interest rates. The undiscounted provision is 
£446,000 (2011: £569,000).

Other provisions

Other provisions include a number of employee and legal amounts. 
 
Included in the above is a provision for £949,000 (2011: £500,000) for a minor ongoing litigation with a former Trados 
shareholder claiming breaches of fiduciary duty by the former Trados Directors on the sale of Trados to SDL in 2005. The 
SDL Board believes the case to be completely without merit. The case is currently being heard at a court hearing. The SDL 
Board estimates the potential exposure is between $1 million and $3 million.
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9 Share Capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid

2012
thousands

2011
thousands

2012
£

2011
£

Ordinary shares of 1p each

At 1 January 79,213 78,008 792,131 780,089

Issued on exercise of share options  193  325  1,935 3,246

Issued on exercise of LTIPS  712  762  7,119 7,616

Issued on exercise of SAYE scheme  32  118  319 1,180

Issued as payment of deferred consideration  61  -  608 -

At 31 December  80,211  79,213  802,112 792,131

The following movements in the ordinary share capital of the company occurred during the year:

1. 193,506 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL Share Option Scheme (1999), SDL Share Option 
Scheme (2010) and earlier Unapproved Option Schemes at a price range of 34 pence to 375 pence per share for an 
aggregate consideration of £383,897.

2. 711,918 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL LTIP Scheme at a price of 1 pence per share for an 
aggregate consideration of £7,119.

3. 31,861 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted under the SDL Save As You Earn Schemes at a price range of 256 to 
286 pence per share for an aggregate consideration of £86,123. 

4. In September 2012 60,804 ordinary shares of 1p each were allotted to six former shareholders of Intrepid Consultants 
Inc as payment of the contingent consideration due as a result of the acquisition of Intrepid Consultants Inc by the 
Alterian plc group in 2010.
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10 Share Premium And Reserves

Share
Capital

£’000

Share
Premium
Account

£’000

Profit &
Loss

Account
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2011 780 94,974 35,046 130,800

Profit for the period - -  81  81

Dividend received - - 10,299 10,299

Dividend paid - - (4,328) (4,328)

Currency translation differences on net 
investments

- - (50) (50)

Arising on share issues 12 901 - 913

Share based payments - - 2,867 2,867

At 1 January 2012  792  95,875  43,915  140,582

Profit for the period  -  -  1,251  1,251

Dividend received  -  -  7,391  7,391

Dividend paid  -  -  (4,638)  (4,638)

Currency translation differences on net 
investments

 -  -  (44)  (44)

Deferred income taxation on share based 
payments

 -  -  483  483

Arising on share issues  10  872  -  882

Share based payments  -  -  (1,112)  (1,112)

At 31 December 2012  802  96,747  47,246  144,795

All amounts are attributable to equity holders of the parent.

11 Commitments And Contingencies 
The Company had annual commitments under operating leases as set out below:

Land and 
Buildings

Other Total Land and 
Buildings

Other Total

Leases expiring:
2012
£’000

2012
£’000

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

2011
£’000

2011
£’000

Within one year  42  3  45 104 - 104

After one year but not more than 
five years

 -  -  - - 10 10

More than five years  932  -  932 932 - 932

 974  3  977 1,036 10 1,046
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12 Share Based Payment Plans
On 23 April 2010, following shareholder approval, 
the “SDL Share Option Scheme (2010)” was 

adopted. This replaced the “SDL Share Option Scheme 
(1999’) for which options are still exercisable. The SDL 
Share Option Scheme (2010) permits the granting of both 
options approved by HM Revenue and Customs within the 
statutory £30,000 limit and unapproved options, subject to 
performance conditions. From 2010 onwards, all options 
have been granted in accordance with these rules. 

The SDL Long Term Share Incentive Plan, which was 
approved by shareholders in April 2006 (“the 2006 plan”), 
expired for the purposes of new awards in April 2011. No 
further awards could be made after the expiry date but 
existing awards will remain protected although they will only 
vest to the extent that the related performance conditions 
are met.

The 2006 plan has been replaced with the SDL Long Term 
Share Incentive Plan (2011) (“the 2011 Plan”) which received 
approval from shareholders in April 2011. The 2011 Plan 
is broadly similar in construction. It has been updated to 
reflect current law and market practice and the proposed 
performance conditions are designed to be more closely 
aligned to the company’s current business strategy and 
objectives.

On 10 April 2012, 145,053 shares were granted under the 
2011 Plan to the Executive Directors based on a market 
price of £7.48, with a performance period of three years 
from date of grant. Senior management employees received 
awards of 522,303 on 10 April 2012.

On 24 April 2008 a Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme 
was formally approved by the shareholders at the AGM. 
Following the success of the UK and Netherlands SAYE 
schemes, in 2012 an extension to the international version 
was rolled out to SDL plc’s subsidiary companies in the 
United States and Canada. The rules are based on those 
of the UK in that employees must be eligible and there is 
a monthly savings contract over a 3 year period. In 2012 
options were granted to UK, Netherlands, Canada and 
United States scheme participants at 80% of the prevailing 
market price. The market price is taken the day prior to 
the date of invitations to apply for an option. There are no 
performance conditions attached to the exercise of these 
options. These options may be exercised within a fixed six-
month period, three years from the date of grant or being 
made redundant.

Included within administration expenses is a credit of 
£175,000 (2011: charge of £1,388,000) relating to 2010, 2011 
and 2012 Long Term Incentive awards and option scheme 
grants which will not, or are not expected to vest. 

SDL Share Option Scheme

The table below sets out the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, the SDL Share 
Options Scheme during the year:

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,156,157 £3.15 1,375,987 £2.37

Granted during the year 166,545 £7.48 189,574 £6.70

Forfeited during the year (103,459) £5.45 (71,809) £3.88

Exercised during the year (193,506) £1.99 (324,595) £1.86

Expired during the year - - (13,000) £0.83

Outstanding at the end of the year 1,025,737 £3.84 1,156,157 £3.15

Exercisable at 31 December 578,993 £1.95 616,903 £1.72

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £6.63 (2011: £6.33).

For the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2012, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 5.64 years 
(2011: 5.95 years). 
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The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL Share Option Scheme is estimated as at the date of 
grant using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs and key output to the model:

2012 2011

Weighted average share price (pence) 748 670

Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence) 144 199

Expected volatility 30% 43%

Expected option life 4 years 4 years

Expected dividends 1% 1%

Risk-free interest rate 0.5% 1.5%

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £1.17-£7.48 (2011: £0.34-£6.70).
 

Date of Grant Exercise Period
2012

Number
2011

Number

£0.01 - £0.50 23/02/03 10 years after grant date - 46,000

£1.01 - £1.50 02/04/04-04/04/05 10 years after grant date 305,118 344,334

£2.01 - £2.50 22/03/06-03/10/06 10 years after grant date 23,700 24,950

£2.51 - £3.00 28/02/08-02/03/09 10 years after grant date 244,975 359,191

£3.51 - £4.00 23/5/07 10 years after grant date 5,200 11,500

£4.51 - £5.00 12/04/10 10 years after grant date 119,115 153,490

£5.01 - £5.50 10/09/10 10 years after grant date 29,070 36,462

£6.51 - £7.00 18/05/11 10 years after grant date 151,296 180,230

£7.01 - £7.50 10/04/12 10 years after grant date 147,263 -

Total 1,025,737 1,156,157
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SDL Long Term Incentive Plan

The fair value of equity-settled shares granted under the SDL Long Term Incentive Plan is estimated as at the date of 
grant using a Monte-Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The 
following table lists the inputs and key output to the model used in the year of grant:

2012 2011

Expected volatility 30% 43%

Weighted average fair value at grant date (pence) 467 426

Expected life 3 years 3 years

Expected dividends 1% 1%

Risk-free interest rate 0.5% 1.5%

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,304,736 £0.01 2,576,916 £0.01

Granted during the year 667,356 £0.01 632,244 £0.01

Exercised during the year (711,918) £0.01 (761,617) £0.01

Forfeited during the year (550,066) £0.01 (142,807) £0.01

Outstanding at the end of the year 1,710,108 £0.01 2,304,736 £0.01

Exercisable at 31 December Nil - Nil -

All LTIPs are exercisable at nil cost to the individual (with the exception of the 1p nominal value of each share awarded).

SDL Save As You Earn Scheme

The table below sets out the number and movements in, the SDL Save As You Earn Scheme during the year:
2012

No.
2011

No.

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 149,567 163,650

Granted during the year 214,131 109,457

Exercised during the year (31,861) (118,030)

Forfeited during the year (35,430) (5,510)

Outstanding at the end of the year 296,407 149,567

Exercisable at 31 December Nil Nil

For the SAYE shares outstanding as at 31 December 2012, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.86 years 
(2011: 1.93 years). 



110SDL ANNUAL REPORT 2012
SDL Statutory Inform

ation

The fair value of equity settled share options granted under the SDL SAYE Scheme is estimated as at the date of grant 
using the Black Scholes model. The following table lists the inputs and key output to the model in the year of grant:

2012 2011
Weighted average share price (pence) 599 520
Expected volatility 29% 41%
Expected option life 3.5 years 3.5 years
Expected dividends 1% 1%
Risk-free interest rate 0.2% 1.1%

For all Share Based payment models, the volatility is calculated from compounded daily logs of normal returns of the 
company share price over a historic period commensurate with the expected life of the incentive.

13 Profit Attributable To Members Of The Parent Company
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the parent Company is £1,251,000 (2011: £81,000). No profit 
and loss account is presented for the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

14 Post Balance Sheet Events
On 8 February 2013, the Group acquired 100% of Bemoko Limited (an unlisted company based in England) 
for £1.9 million, of which £1.1 million is payable immediately and was funded from the Group’s existing cash 

reserves. The principal activity of Bemoko Consulting Limited is a provider of mobile web solutions.

There are no other known events occurring after the statement of financial position date that require disclosure. 

The Directors are recommending that a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 of 6.1 pence per ordinary share 
be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the register at the close of business on 17 May 2013 with payment 
on 14 June 2013. The Ex-dividend date will be 15 May 2013. This recommendation will be put to the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.
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Year Ended 31 December:

IFRS
2012
£’000

IFRS
2011

£’000

IFRS
2010
£’000

IFRS
2009
£’000

IFRS
2008
£’000

Turnover (notes 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) 269,323 229,001 203,549 171,878 158,775

Growth in turnover 18% 13% 18% 8% 35%

Operating profit before depreciation and 
amortisation

39,850 42,485 37,746 31,375 27,223

Operating Profit 27,677 33,512 28,598 23,587 19,850

Profit before tax 27,397 33,761 28,808 24,013 19,850

Profit after tax 20,855 25,736 22,044 17,953 14,540

Fixed assets 243,341 161,559 165,628 142,629 142,749

Cash and cash equivalents 28,452 70,408 46,628 46,160 31,227

Net current (liabilities) / assets (10,289) 58,854 32,587 33,216 22,492

Total assets less current liabilities 239,020 226,340 205,474 182,285 172,337

Equity interests 227,764 217,832 195,512 173,105 163,029

Average number of employees 2,750 2,278 2,070 1,950 1,932

Earnings per share – basic 
(adjusted for movements in capital) (notes 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5)

26.12p 32.72p 28.39p 23.55p 19.21p

Notes:
1. 2008 – Acquisition of Trisoft NV and Idiom Technologies Inc
2. 2009 – Acquisition of XyEnterprise Inc and Fredhopper Group BV
3. 2010 – Acquisition of Xopus BV and Language Weaver Inc

4. 2011- Acquisition of Calamares Holding BV Group
5. 2012- Acquisition of Alterian plc Group

FIVE YEAR GROUP SUMMARY
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